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PART I
SPECIAL NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this report, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to our business plans, objectives
and expected operating results, and the assumptions upon which those statements are based, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forwardlooking statements generally are identified by the words “believes,” “project,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,”
“would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions
that are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. A detailed discussion of these
and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from such forward-looking statements is included in the section
entitled “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report. We undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our expectations will be realized.
As used in this report, “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refer to Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries except where the
context otherwise requires.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Company
Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation, was formed on October 22, 2004 for the purpose of engaging in the business of investing in and
owning commercial real estate. We have qualified, and intend to continue to qualify, as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal tax purposes. We are
structured as an umbrella partnership REIT, referred to as an “UPREIT,” under which substantially all of our current and future business is, and will be,
conducted through a majority owned subsidiary, Cornerstone Operating Partnership, L.P. (“the Operating Partnership”), a Delaware limited partnership, formed
on November 30, 2004. We are the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and have control over its affairs.
Our advisor is Cornerstone Realty Advisors, LLC (the “Advisor”), a Delaware limited liability company. Our Advisor has contractual and fiduciary
responsibilities to us and our stockholders. Under the terms of our advisory agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”), our Advisor will use commercially
reasonable efforts to present to us investment opportunities and to provide a continuing and suitable investment program consistent with the investment policies
and objectives adopted by our board of directors. Our Advisor is responsible for managing our affairs on a day-to-day basis and for identifying and making
property acquisitions on our behalf. Currently, there are no employees of Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All management and
administrative personnel responsible for conducting our business are currently employed by affiliates of our Advisor.
From our formation through the end of the year ended December 31, 2005, our activities consisted solely of organizational activities including preparing for and
launching our initial public offering. On January 6, 2006, we commenced an initial public offering of up to 55,400,000 shares of our common stock, consisting of
44,400,000 shares for sale pursuant to a primary offering and 11,000,000 shares for sale pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. On November 25, 2008,
we filed a registration statement on Form S-11 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) to register a follow-on public offering. Pursuant
to the registration statement, as amended, we registered up to 56,250,000 shares of common stock in a primary offering for $8.00 per share, with discounts
available to certain categories of purchasers. As of December 31, 2012, approximately 20.9 million shares of our common stock had been sold in our initial and
follow-on public offerings for aggregate gross proceeds of $167.1 million. This excludes shares issued under our distribution reinvestment plan.
We also registered approximately 21,100,000 shares pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan at a purchase price equal to $7.60 per share. We stopped
soliciting and accepting offers under our initial public offering on June 1, 2009 upon raising gross offering proceeds of $172.7 million from the sale of
approximately 21.7 million shares, including shares sold under the distribution reinvestment plan. On June 10, 2009, the SEC declared our follow-on offering
effective and we commenced our follow-on offering. The initial public offering and follow-on offering are collectively referred to as the “offerings”. We retained
Pacific Cornerstone Capital, Inc. (“PCC”), an affiliate of our Advisor, to serve as the dealer manager for the offerings. PCC was responsible for marketing our
shares being offered pursuant to the offerings.
Effective November 23, 2010, we stopped soliciting and accepting offers to purchase shares of our stock under our Follow-on Offering. On June 10, 2012, that
offering expired.
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As of the third quarter of 2012, we operate our business in two reportable segments; industrial and healthcare (see Note 17 to the accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements).
Suspension of Distribution Reinvestment Plan - Our Offerings included a distribution reinvestment plan under which our stockholders could elect to have all or
a portion of their distributions reinvested in additional shares of our common stock. We suspended our distribution reinvestment plan effective December 14,
2010 and distributions paid subsequent to December 14, 2010 have been all cash.
Distributions - Effective December 1, 2010, our board of directors reduced distributions on our common stock to an annualized rate of $0.08 per share (1% based
on a share price of $8.00) from the prior annualized rate of $0.48 per share (6% based on a share price of $8.00), in order to preserve cash for capital
improvements, debt repayment(s) and/or operations. Distributions at the annualized $0.08 per share rate were declared for the first and second quarters of 2011.
However, in June 2011, the board of directors decided, based on the financial position of the Company, to suspend the declaration of further cash distributions
and deferred payment of the second quarter 2011 distribution until December 2011 which is when we received of the net proceeds from the sale of the Arizona
properties. No distributions have been declared or paid for periods subsequent to June 30, 2011. The rate and frequency of distributions is subject to the discretion
of our board of directors and may change from time to time based on our operating results and cash flow. We can make no assurance when and if distributions
will recommence.
Stock Repurchase Program - After careful consideration of the proceeds that will be available from our distribution reinvestment plan in 2010, an assessment of
our expected capital expenditures, tenant improvement and other costs, and obligations related to our investments, our board of directors concluded that we did
not have sufficient funds available to us to prudently fund any redemptions during 2011 and 2012. Accordingly, our board of directors approved an amendment to
our stock repurchase program to suspend redemptions under the program, effective December 31, 2010. We can make no assurances as to when and on what
terms redemptions will resume. The share redemption program may be amended, resumed, suspended again, or terminated at any time based in part on our cash
and debt position.
Strategic Repositioning – Our initial strategy consisted of acquiring and operating industrial real estate assets with similar economic characteristics.
Commencing in June 2011, together with our Advisor, we began evaluating strategic alternatives to reposition of our assets so that we could, potentially, enhance
shareholder value.
The “repositioning strategy” commenced with the sale of certain industrial properties (Goldenwest, Mack Deer Valley, Pinnacle Park and 2111 South Industrial
Park) in 2011. The net proceeds from these property sales were used to “de-lever” the Company’s balance sheet by paying down certain short term and other
higher interest-rate debt, renegotiating lower interest rates on other loan obligations, extending debt maturities and acquiring healthcare properties.
On June 11, 2012, we formed Cornerstone Healthcare Partners LLC (“CHP LLC”), a Delaware limited liability company to purchase healthcare related
properties. At December 31, 2012, we owned approximately 95% interest in CHP LLC while Cornerstone Healthcare Real Estate Fund, Inc. (“CHREF”), an
affiliate of the Advisor, owned approximately 5%. During the second half of 2012, CHP LLC acquired, through various wholly-owned subsidiaries, five seniorliving properties (see Note 5 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Consequently, for the period ended December 31, 2012, we
present our financial results with two reportable business segments: our Industrial and our Healthcare segments (see Note 17 to the accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements).
Diversification into healthcare real estate assets is expected to be accretive to the earnings and shareholder value of the combined portfolio. The Company intends
to refinance the healthcare interim borrowings with long term financing. To further diversify and/or lower risk and to attract new capital partners, the Company
may, in the future, reduce its ownership interest in the healthcare joint venture.
The Advisor believes the Company’s outlook for raising new property level joint venture equity capital to support its growth and further diversify both operator
and healthcare property sector risk is currently favorable. Based in part on this advice, the board of directors continues to evaluate the repositioning strategy while
pursuing other growth initiatives that lower capital costs and enable us to reduce or improve our ability to cover our general and administrative costs over a
broader base of assets.
For the remainder of 2013, the board of directors has requested that the Advisor raise new property level joint venture equity capital while management continues
to evaluate opportunities for repositioning and growth and secures long term debt for recent and any future acquisitions.
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Investment Strategy
Our board of directors periodically reviews our investment policies to determine whether these policies continue to be in the best interest of our stockholders. We
may change our investment policies without stockholder approval. Our Advisor recommends property acquisitions to our investment committee, which approves
or rejects proposed acquisitions.
Historically our investments focused on industrial real estate, but with the recent decline in industrial real estate values, we have sold several industrial properties
to de-lever our balance sheet and re-invested the remaining proceeds into healthcare real estate. Healthcare real estate includes senior housing facilities, which
include skilled-nursing, assisted living, memory care, continuing-care retirement communities, and independent-living facilities, medical office buildings and
hospital facilities. Each type of senior-housing facility caters to different segments of the elderly population. According to The National Coalition on Healthcare,
by 2016 nearly 20% in every dollar in the United States (“U.S.”) will be spent on healthcare, and the aging U.S. population is expected to continue to fuel the
need for healthcare services. The over age 65 population of the U.S. is projected to grow 36% between 2010 and 2020, compared with 9% for the general
population, according to the U.S. Census Bureau. Presently, the healthcare real estate market is fragmented, with a local or regional focus, offering opportunities
for consolidation and market dominance.
Services provided by senior-housing operators in assisted living and skilled nursing facilities are primarily paid for by the residents directly or through private
insurance and are less reliant on government reimbursement programs such as Medicaid and Medicare. Skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”) offer nursing care for
people not requiring the more extensive and sophisticated treatment available at hospitals. Sub-acute care services are provided to residents beyond room and
board. Certain SNF’s provide some services on an outpatient basis. Skilled nursing services provided in these facilities are primarily paid for either by private
sources or through the Medicare and Medicaid programs. SNFs not owned by the operator are typically leased to single-tenant operators under net lease
structures.
Our Advisor believes that investment opportunities in healthcare properties are ordinarily not readily available to investors other than large institutional investors
and experienced real estate operators with specialized knowledge, experience in specific geographic areas, industry expertise and established relationships with
operators of these property types.
Although we intend to focus on acquiring and developing a portfolio of healthcare real estate investments, we may also invest in other real estate-related assets
that we believe may assist us in meeting our investment objectives. Our charter does not allow investments in or mortgage loans on unimproved real property, but
we are not otherwise restricted in the proportion of net proceeds from this offering that we must allocate to investment in any specific type of property.
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Acquisition Policies
Primary Investment Focus
We have historically focused on acquiring investment-grade real estate including multi-tenant industrial properties that are:
•

owned and operated on an all-cash basis with no permanent financing;

•

high-quality, existing, and currently producing income;

•

leased to a diversified tenant base; and

•

leased with overall shorter-term operating type leases, allowing for annual rental increases and greater potential for capital growth.

As a result of our strategic repositioning, we are currently seeking to acquire healthcare-related assets that are:
•

operated by high-quality and experienced operators;

•

stabilized based on past twelve trailing months operations;

•

operated by high-quality and experienced operators;

•

high-quality, existing, and currently producing income; and

•

acquired on a fee simple basis.

Among the most important criteria we expect to use in evaluating the markets in which we purchase properties are:
•

population that can support the facility;

•

stabilized operations with a positive trend;

•

free of deferred maintenance;

•

Certificate of Need requirement (providing a barrier to new market entrants);

The markets in which we invest may not meet all of these criteria and the relative importance that we assign to any one or more of these criteria may differ from
market to market or change as general economic and real estate market conditions evolve. We may also consider additional important criteria in the future.
Joint Ventures and Other Potential Investments
As we reposition ourselves into healthcare properties, we have the ability to invest in any type of real estate investment that we believe to be in the best interests
of our stockholders, including other real estate funds or REITs, mortgage funds, mortgage loans and sale leasebacks. Furthermore, there are no restrictions on the
number or size of properties we may purchase or on the amount that we may invest in a single property. Although we can invest in any type of real estate
investment, our charter restricts certain types of investments. We do not intend to underwrite securities of other issuers or to engage in the purchase and sale of
any types of investments other than real estate investments.
At December 31, 2012, we owned five healthcare properties through a joint venture and may acquire additional properties through joint venture investments in
the future, including ventures with affiliates of our Advisor. See “Conflicts of Interest.” We anticipate acquiring properties through joint ventures in order to
diversify our portfolio of properties in terms of geographic region, property type and tenant industry group, among other reasons. Joint ventures may also allow us
to acquire an interest in a property without requiring that we fund the entire purchase price. In addition, certain properties may be available to us only through
joint ventures. In determining whether to recommend a particular joint venture, the Advisor will evaluate the structure of the joint venture, the real property that
such joint venture owns or is being formed to own under the same criteria. These entities may employ debt financing consistent with our borrowing policies. See
“Borrowing Policies” below. Our joint ventures may take the form of equity joint ventures with one or more large institutional partners. They may also include
ventures with developers who contribute land, development services and expertise rather than cash.
We may enter into joint ventures with affiliates of our Advisor for the acquisition of properties, but only if the independent directors committee (by majority vote)
approves the transaction as being fair and reasonable to us and on substantially the same terms and conditions as those received by the affiliated equity joint
venturers. If such a joint venture also involves a third party that negotiated the terms of its participation on an arms-length basis, then our investment must be
either on terms and conditions no worse than those received by the affiliate or on terms and conditions no worse than those received by a third-party equity joint
venturer that negotiated the terms of its participation on an arms-length basis.
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Investment Policies and Decisions
Our Advisor makes recommendations to our board of directors, which approves or rejects all proposed property acquisitions. Our independent directors review
our investment policies at least annually to determine whether these policies continue to be in the best interests of our stockholders.
We purchase properties based on the decision of our board of directors after an examination and evaluation by our Advisor of many factors, including but not
limited to the functionality of the property, the historical financial performance of the property, current market conditions, proposed purchase price, terms and
conditions, potential cash flows and potential profitability of the property. The number of properties that we will purchase will depend on the availability of funds,
the ability to secure an appropriate amount of debt and the price of the properties we intend to purchase. To identify properties that best fit our investment criteria,
our Advisor will study regional demographics and market conditions and work through local commercial real estate brokers.
Leases and Tenant Improvements
The properties we have historically acquired generally have operating-type leases. Operating-type leases generally have either gross or modified gross payment
terms. Under gross leases, the landlord pays all operating expenses of the property. Under modified gross leases, the tenant reimburses the landlord for certain
operating expenses. A “net” lease provides that the tenant pays or reimburses the owner for all or substantially all property operating expenses.
When a tenant at one of our industrial properties vacates its space, it is likely that we will be required to expend funds for tenant improvements and
refurbishments to the vacated space in order to attract new tenants. If we do not have adequate cash on hand to fund tenant improvements and refurbishments, we
may use interim debt financing in order to fulfill our obligations under lease agreements with new tenants.
Healthcare-related properties include a wide variety of lease structures. Our focus is on senior housing facilities leased to an operator on a net lease basis.
Joint Ventures and Other Arrangements
We may acquire some of our properties in joint ventures, some of which may be entered into with affiliates of our Advisor. We may also enter into general
partnerships, co-tenancies and other participations with real estate developers, owners and others for the purpose of owning and leasing real properties. Among
other reasons, we may want to acquire properties through a joint venture with third parties or affiliates in order to diversify our portfolio of properties in terms of
geographic region, property type and tenant industry group. Joint ventures may also allow us to acquire an interest in a property without requiring that we fund
the entire purchase price. In addition, certain properties may be available to us only through joint ventures. In determining whether to recommend a particular
joint venture, the Advisor will evaluate the real property for which such joint venture owns or is being formed to own under the same criteria described elsewhere
in this annual report. These entities may employ debt financing. (See “Borrowing Policies” below.)
Borrowing Policies
As we transition into healthcare properties, we may acquire properties initially with temporary financing or permanent long-term debt financing with the objective
of increasing income and increasing the amount of capital available to us so that we achieve greater property diversification than is currently possible with an allcash strategy.
We may incur indebtedness for working capital requirements, tenant improvements, capital improvements, and leasing commissions and to make distributions,
including but not limited to those necessary in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We will endeavor to borrow funds
on an unsecured basis but we may secure indebtedness with some or all of our properties if a majority of our independent directors determine that it is in the best
interests of us and our stockholders.
We may also acquire properties encumbered with existing financing which cannot be immediately repaid.
We may invest in joint venture entities that borrow funds or issue senior equity securities to acquire properties, in which case our equity interest in the joint
venture would be junior to the rights of the lender or preferred stockholders. In some cases, our Advisor may control the joint venture.
Our charter limits our borrowings to the equivalent of 75% of our cost, before deducting depreciation or other non-cash reserves, of all our assets unless any
excess borrowing is approved by a majority of our independent directors and is disclosed to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from
our independent directors of the justification for the excess borrowing.
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Competition
We compete with a considerable number of other real estate companies, most of which may have greater marketing and financial resources than we do. Principal
factors of competition in our business are the quality of properties (including the design and condition of improvements), leasing terms (including rent and other
charges and allowances for tenant improvements), attractiveness and convenience of location, the quality and breadth of tenant services provided and reputation
as an owner and operator of quality properties in the relevant market. Our ability to compete also depends on, among other factors, trends in the national and local
economies, financial condition and operating results of current and prospective tenants, availability and cost of capital, construction and renovation costs, taxes,
governmental regulations, legislation and population trends.
We may hold interests in properties located in the same geographic locations as other entities managed by our Advisor or our Advisor’s affiliates. Our properties
may face competition in these geographic regions from such other properties owned, operated or managed by other entities managed by our Advisor or our
Advisor’s affiliates. Our Advisor or its affiliates have interests that may vary from those we may have in such geographic markets.
Government Regulations
Our company and the properties we own are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and
safety. Federal laws such as the National Environmental Policy Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Federal Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Emergency Planning
and Community Right to Know Act and the Hazard Communication Act govern such matters as wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and removal
of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous materials and the remediation of
contamination associated with disposals. Some of these laws and regulations impose joint and several liabilities on tenants, owners or operators for the costs to
investigate or remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal. Compliance with these laws and
any new or more stringent laws or regulations may require us to incur material expenditures. Future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose material
environmental liability. In addition, there are various federal, state and local fire, health, life-safety and similar regulations with which we may be required to
comply, and which may subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance.
Our properties may be affected by our tenants’ operations, the existing condition of land when we buy it, operations in the vicinity of our properties, such as the
presence of underground and above-ground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties. The presence of hazardous substances, or the failure to properly
remediate these substances, may make it difficult or impossible to sell or rent such property.
Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous real property owner or operator may be liable for the
cost to remove or remediate hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in such property. These costs could be substantial. Such laws often impose liability
whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. Environmental laws also may impose
restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures or prevent us
from entering into leases with prospective tenants that may be impacted by such laws. Environmental laws provide for sanctions for noncompliance and may be
enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private parties. Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be used to
impose liability for release of and exposure to hazardous substances, including asbestos-containing materials into the air. Third parties may seek recovery from
real property owners or operators for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure to released hazardous substances. The cost of defending
against claims of liability, of complying with environmental regulatory requirements, of remediating any contaminated property, or of paying personal injury
claims could be substantial.
We obtain satisfactory Phase I environmental assessments on each property we purchase. A Phase I assessment is an inspection and review of the property, its
existing and prior uses, aerial maps and records of government agencies for the purpose of determining the likelihood of environmental contamination. A Phase I
assessment includes only non-invasive testing. It is possible that all environmental liabilities were not identified in the Phase I assessments we obtained or that a
prior owner, operator or current occupant has created an environmental condition which we do not know about. There can be no assurance that future law,
ordinances or regulations will not impose material environmental liability on us or that the current environmental condition of our properties will not be affected
by our tenants, or by the condition of land or operations in the vicinity of our properties such as the presence of underground and above-ground storage tanks or
groundwater contamination.
Healthcare properties are subject to a wide range of healthcare-related rules and regulations depending upon the sub-sector(s) we ultimately invest in. We will
mitigate the risks by ensuring that the highly-regulated property types are operated by experienced and high-quality operators experienced in healthcare
regulatory compliance.
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Acquisition Activity
At December 31, 2012, we owned fourteen properties. These properties were acquired from June 2006 through December 2012. All of these properties are
consolidated into our accompanying consolidated financial statements and included in the properties summary as provided under “Item 2 Properties” referenced
below.
We have acquired our properties to date with a combination of the proceeds from our ongoing public offerings, debt incurred upon acquisition of the property,
proceeds from dispositions of property and refinancing of debt.
Employees
We have no employees and our executive officers are all employees of our Advisor’s affiliates. Substantially all of our work is performed by employees of our
Advisor’s affiliates. We are dependent on our Advisor and PCC for certain services that are essential to us, including the sale of shares in our ongoing public
follow-on offering; the identification, evaluation, negotiation, purchase and disposition of properties; the management of the daily operations of our real estate
portfolio; and other general and administrative responsibilities. In the event that these companies are unable to provide the respective services, we will be required
to obtain such services from other sources.
Available Information
Information about us is available on our website (http://www.crefunds.com). We make available, free of charge, on our Internet website, our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with the SEC. These materials are also available at no cost in print to
any person who requests it by contacting our Investor Services Department at 1920 Main Street, Suite 400, Irvine, California 92614; telephone (877) 805-3333.
Our filings with the SEC are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may read and copy any filed document at
the SEC’s public reference room in Washington, D.C. at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580 Washington, D.C. Please call the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for further
information about the public reference rooms.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
The risks and uncertainties described below can adversely affect our business, operating results, prospects and financial condition. These risks and uncertainties
could cause our actual results to differ materially from those presented in our forward-looking statements.
General
We have paid, and may in the future, pay distributions from sources other than cash provided from operations which may reduce cash flow available for
investments.
Until our investments in real estate generate operating cash flow sufficient to make distributions to stockholders, we may pay a substantial portion of our
distributions from the proceeds of future offerings or from borrowings in anticipation of future cash flow. To the extent that we use offering proceeds or proceeds
from property sales to fund distributions to stockholders, the amount of cash available for investment in properties will be reduced. Additionally, if we are unable
to raise additional capital at acceptable terms, our ability to invest in real estate and to pay distributions will be negatively impacted. We have not paid any
distributions since December 31, 2011 and may not pay any for the foreseeable future. For the four quarters ended December 31, 2012 net cash used in operating
activities and funds used in operations (“FFO”) applicable to common shares were approximately $6.4 million and a loss of $3.4 million, respectively.
Any adverse changes in the financial health of our Advisor or its affiliates or our relationship with them could hinder our operating performance and the
return on your investment. We may have difficulty finding a qualified successor advisor, and any successor advisor may not be as well suited to manage us.
These potential changes could result in a significant disruption of our business and may adversely affect the value of your investment in us.
We are dependent on our Advisor to manage our operations and our portfolio of real estate assets. Our Advisor depends upon the fees and other compensation
that it receives from us in connection with the purchase, financing, leasing and management and sale of our properties to conduct its operations. To date, the fees
we pay to our Advisor have been inadequate to cover its operating expenses. To cover its operational shortfalls, our Advisor has relied on cash raised in private
securities offerings of its sole member. If our Advisor is unable to secure additional capital, it may become unable to meet its obligations and we might be
required to find alternative service providers, which could result in a significant disruption of our business and may adversely affect the value of your investment
in us. Also, as our Advisor struggles to meet its obligations, these distractions may adversely impact our operations.
Our stockholders have limited control over changes in our policies and operations, which increases the uncertainty and risks our stockholders face.
Our board of directors determines our major policies, including our policies regarding investment, financing, growth, debt capitalization, REIT qualification and
distributions. Our board of directors has recently undertaken a process of evaluating strategic alternatives, concluding that a repositioning of our assets into health
care will likely maximize value for our stockholders. As a result of this process, or otherwise, our board of directors may determine that it is in our best interest to
amend or revise certain of our major policies. Our board of directors may amend or revise these policies without a vote of the stockholders. Under Maryland
General Corporation Law and our charter, our stockholders have a right to vote only on limited matters. Our board’s broad discretion in setting policies and our
stockholders’ inability to exert control over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks our stockholders face.
We may not be able to execute on our repositioning strategy.
In connection with the implementation of our repositioning strategy, we face a number of risks and uncertainties, including:
x
x
x
x

Ability to raise additional debt and equity capital on favorable terms to us;
Ability to sell certain existing industrial properties on terms favorable to us;
Availability to acquire sufficient health care properties on favorable terms to us;
Completion of sufficient due diligence in connection with the additional proposed healthcare investments and negotiation of favorable lease and/or
operating arrangements with the operators of such facilities;
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x
x
x

Availability of financing on satisfactory terms and conditions to replace our maturing loan obligations and to partially fund new real estate investments;
Regulatory environment uncertainty due to the phased implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and its impact upon healthcare
facility operator reimbursement, including the impact of such regulations on reimbursement rates, or any other regulatory action, including on a state
level, that serves to reduce reimbursement rates for services provided by our tenants and;
Success of the operators of the facilities we may acquire as we are dependent on their performance

Should the execution of the repositioning strategy not be successful or take longer or be more expensive to execute than anticipated, then our results of operations
will be harmed and our Advisor may not be able to reimburse us for any excess operating and organization costs and expenses incurred on our behalf and our
organizational costs and to otherwise provide sponsor services to us. Also, any such failure or delays in implementation or disruption to our business will further
delay or prevent the restoration of distributions to common stockholders and the stock repurchase program. If we are not successful with our repositioning
strategy, we may be forced to pursue an alternative strategy including liquidating our real estate portfolio or merging with another company.
Continued disruptions in the financial markets and uncertain economic conditions could adversely affect the values of the investments we make.
The capital and credit markets continue to be affected by the extreme volatility and disruption. The health of the global capital markets remains a concern. The
relatively low growth economic environment has caused the financial and capital markets to question whether financial institutions are truly appropriately
capitalized. The downgrade of the U.S. government debt has increased these concerns, especially for the larger, money center banks. Smaller financial institutions
have continued to work with borrowers to amend and extend existing loans; however, as these loans reach maturity, there is the potential for future credit
losses. The FDIC’s list of troubled financial institutions is still quite large and the threat of more bank closings will weigh heavily on the financial markets.
Liquidity in the global credit market has been significantly contracted by market disruptions, making it costly to finance acquisitions, obtain new lines of credit or
refinance existing debt, when debt financing is available at all.
Further disruptions in the financial markets and uncertain economic conditions could adversely affect the values of our investments. Turmoil in the capital
markets has constrained equity and debt capital available for investment in real estate, resulting in fewer buyers seeking to acquire properties and possible
increases in capitalization rates and lower property values. Furthermore, declining economic conditions could negatively impact real estate fundamentals and
result in lower occupancy, lower rental rates and declining values in real estate that we may acquire. These could have the following negative effects on us:
•

the values of our investments in commercial properties could further decrease below the amounts we paid for
the investments;

•

revenues from our properties could decrease due to lower occupancy rates, reduced rental rates and potential increases in uncollectible receivables;

•

our capital expenditures may increase due to re-leasing costs and commissions; and

•

we may not be able to refinance our existing indebtedness or to obtain additional debt financing on attractive terms.

These factors could further impair our ability to raise additional capital and make distributions to stockholders and decrease the value of investments in us.
Our limited operating history makes it difficult for you to evaluate us. In addition we have incurred losses in the past and may continue to incur losses.
We have a limited operating history. We cannot assure our stockholders that we will be able to operate our business successfully or implement our operating
policies and strategies. Our stockholders should not assume that our performance will be similar to the past performance of other real estate investment programs
sponsored by affiliates of our sponsor. As a consequence, our past performance and the past performance of other real estate investment programs sponsored by
affiliates of our Advisor may not be indicative of the performance we will achieve. We have acquired thirteen industrial properties and five healthcare properties
as of the date of this report, four industrial properties were sold during 2011, and generated limited income, cash flow, funds from operations or funds from which
to make distributions to our shareholders. In addition, we have incurred substantial losses since our inception and we may continue to incur losses.
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Because there is no public trading market for our stock, it will be difficult for stockholders to sell their stock. Further, we do not expect to have funds
available for redemptions during 2013 and are uncertain when and on what terms we will be able to resume ordinary redemptions. If stockholders are able to
sell their stock, they will likely sell it at a substantial discount.
There is no current public market for our stock and there is no assurance that a public market will ever develop for our stock. Our charter contains restrictions on
the ownership and transfer of our stock, and these restrictions may inhibit our stockholders’ ability to sell their stock. Our charter prevents any one person from
owning more than 9.8% in number of shares or value, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our stock unless exempted
by our board of directors. Our charter also limits our stockholders’ ability to transfer their stock to prospective stockholders unless (i) they meet suitability
standards regarding income or net worth, and (ii) the transfer complies with minimum purchase requirements. Our stock repurchase program has recently
suspended redemptions effective December 31, 2010. If and when redemptions resume under our stock repurchase program, it is limited in terms of the number of
shares of stock which may be redeemed annually and may also be limited, suspended or terminated at any time. We have no obligations to purchase our
stockholders’ stock if redemption would violate restrictions on cash distributions under Maryland law.
We believe the value of our stock owned by our shareholders has declined substantially from the issue price. It may be difficult for our stockholders to sell their
stock promptly or at all. If our stockholders are able to sell shares of stock, they may only be able to sell them at a substantial discount from the price they paid.
This may be the result, in part, because the amount of funds available for investment was reduced by sales commissions, dealer manager fees, organization and
offering expenses, and acquisition fees and expenses. Our investments may decrease in value and we believe that the bulk of our industrial assets have already
done so. As of December 31, 2012, our estimated per-share value of our common stock was $2.10 per share. Unless our aggregate investments increase in value
to compensate for these upfront fees and expenses and prior declines in value, it is unlikely that our stockholders will be able to sell their stock, whether pursuant
to our stock repurchase program or otherwise, without incurring a substantial loss. We cannot assure our stockholders that their stock will ever appreciate in value
to equal the price they paid for their stock. It is also likely that their stock would not be accepted as the primary collateral for a loan. Stockholders should consider
their stock as an illiquid investment, and they must be prepared to hold their stock for an indefinite period of time.
Stockholders cannot currently, and may not in the future be able to sell their stock under our stock repurchase program.
Our stock repurchase program suspended redemptions effective December 31, 2010. Our board of directors may amend our stock repurchase program to resume
or suspend repurchases or amend other terms without stockholder approval. Our board is also free to terminate the program at any time upon 30 days written
notice to our stockholders. In addition, the stock repurchase program includes numerous restrictions that would limit our stockholders’ ability to sell stock.
We have limited liquidity and we may be required to pursue certain measures in order to maintain or enhance our liquidity.
Liquidity is essential to our business and our ability to operate and to fund our existing obligations. A primary source of liquidity for us has been the issuance of
common stock in our public offerings. However, our follow-on public offering has been suspended since November 23, 2010 while our board of directors
evaluates strategic alternatives to maximize value for our stockholders. As a result, we are dependent on external debt financing to fund our ongoing operations.
Our access to debt financing depends on the willingness of third parties to provide us with corporate- or asset-level debt. It also depends on conditions in the
capital markets generally. Companies in the real estate industry have at times historically experienced limited availability of capital, and new capital sources may
not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. We cannot be certain that sufficient funding will be available to us in the future on terms that are acceptable to us, if
at all. If we cannot obtain sufficient funding on acceptable terms, or at all, we will not be able to operate and/or grow our business, which would likely have a
negative impact on the value of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. In such an instance, a lack of sufficient liquidity
would have a material adverse impact on our operations, cash flow, financial condition and our ability to continue as a going concern. We may be required to
pursue certain measures in order to maintain or enhance our liquidity, including seeking the extension or replacement of our debt facilities, potentially selling
assets at unfavorable prices and/or reducing our operating expenses. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in managing our liquidity.
The inability of our Advisor to retain or obtain key personnel and senior housing operators could delay or hinder implementation of our investment
strategies, which could impair our ability to make distributions.
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of our Advisor. If key personnel were to cease their affiliation with our Advisor, our Advisor
may be unable to find suitable replacements, and our operating results could suffer. We believe that our future success depends, in large part, upon our Advisor’s
ability to hire and retain highly-skilled managerial, operational and marketing personnel. Competition for highly-skilled personnel is intense, and our Advisor and
our senior housing operators may be unsuccessful in attracting and retaining such skilled personnel. If we lose or are unable to obtain the services of highlyskilled personnel and operators, our ability to implement our investment strategies could be delayed or hindered and the value of our stockholders’ investments in
us may decline.
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If we are unable to find or experience delays in finding suitable investments, funds available for distributions to our stockholders will be reduced.
Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to make distributions depends upon the performance of our Advisor in the acquisition and operation of our
investments. We may be delayed in making investments in properties due to delays in the sale of our stock, delays in negotiating or obtaining the necessary
purchase documentation for properties, delays in locating suitable investments or other factors. We cannot be sure that our Advisor will be successful in obtaining
suitable investments on financially attractive terms or that our investment objectives will be achieved. We may also make other real estate investments such as
investments in publicly traded REITs, mortgage funds and other entities which make real estate investments. Until we make real estate investments, we will hold
cash proceeds from sales of assets and other sources in an interest-bearing account or invest the proceeds in short-term, investment-grade securities. We expect
the rates of return on these short-term investments to be substantially less than the returns we make on real estate investments. If we are unable to invest available
cash in properties or other real estate investments for an extended period of time, distributions to our stockholders may continue to be suspended and may be
lower and the value of their investment could be reduced.
We have not generated sufficient cash for distributions and have ceased distributions. Cash distributions to our stockholders may not resume.
If the rental revenues from the properties we own do not exceed our operational expenses, we may be unable to pay distributions to our stockholders. On
November 23, 2010, our board of directors resolved to lower our distributions to an annualized rate of $0.08 per share (1% based on a share price of $8.00). No
distributions have been declared for periods after June 30, 2011. All expenses we incur in our operations, including payment of interest to finance property
acquisitions, are deducted from cash funds generated by operations prior to computing the amount of cash available to be paid as distributions to our stockholders.
Our directors will determine the amount and timing of distributions. Our directors will consider all relevant factors, including the amount of cash available for
distribution, capital expenditure and reserve requirements and general operational requirements. We cannot determine with certainty how long it may take to
generate sufficient available cash flow to support distributions to our stockholders. We may borrow funds, return capital or sell assets to make distributions. In the
past, we have paid distributions from the proceeds of our offerings.
If we are unable to resume sales of shares under a new offering, otherwise raise capital or resume the reinvestment of distributions under the distribution
reinvestment plan, we will have less funds available to make distributions to our stockholders, which will continue until we generate operating cash flow
sufficient to support distributions to stockholders. As a result, we may not resume cash distributions to stockholders. With limited prior operations, we cannot
predict the amount of distributions our stockholders may receive, if any. We may be unable to resume cash distributions or increase distributions over time and
may need to cease cash distributions again.
Because our distribution reinvestment plan is currently suspended, we will use a greater proportion of our cash flow from operations to meet our general
cash requirements, which will reduce cash available for distributions.
Historically, we have used a portion of the proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan to offset the cash required to fund distributions to our stockholders,
which has left more cash flow from operations available for general corporate purposes, including capital expenditures on our real estate investments, tenant
improvement costs and leasing costs related to our real estate investments; reserves required by financings of our real estate investments; and the repayment of
debt. Because our distribution reinvestment plan was suspended on December 14, 2010 and currently remains suspended, we may have to use a greater proportion
of our cash flow from operations to meet our general cash requirements, which would reduce cash available for distributions. As a consequence, we may not have
sufficient cash available to declare distributions.
To the extent proceeds from our offerings have been used to pay fees to our Advisor, or to fund distributions, our investors have realized dilution and future
investors, if any, may also realize a lower rate of return than investors who invested earlier in one of our offerings.
Our Advisor and its affiliates provide services for us in connection with, among other things, the selection and acquisition of our investments, the management
and leasing of our properties, and the disposition of our assets. We pay them substantial upfront fees for some of these services, which reduce the amount of cash
available for investment in real estate or distribution to you. In addition, we have used offering proceeds to fund distributions, and investors who did not receive
those distributions have therefore experienced additional immediate dilution of their investment. Also, to the extent we incurred debt to fund distributions earlier
in our public offerings, the amount of cash available for distributions in future periods will be decreased by the repayment of such debt.
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The use of offering proceeds to pay fees to our Advisor and its affiliates or to fund distributions increases the risk that the amount available for distribution to
stockholders upon a liquidation of our portfolio would be less than the purchase price of the shares in our offering. As of December 31, 2012, our estimated pershare value of our common stock was $2.10 per share.
A limit on the percentage of our securities a person may own may discourage a takeover or business combination, which could prevent our stockholders from
realizing a premium price for their stock.
In order for us to qualify as a REIT, no more than 50% of our outstanding stock may be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals
(including certain types of entities) at any time during the last half of each taxable year. To assure that we do not fail to qualify as a REIT under this test, our
charter restricts direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no more than 9.8% in number of shares or value, whichever is more restrictive, of the
outstanding shares of any class or series of our stock unless exempted by our board of directors. This restriction may have the effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that
might provide a premium price to our stockholders.
Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock with terms that may subordinate the rights of our common stockholders or discourage a third party
from acquiring us in a manner that could result in a premium price to
our stockholders.
Our board of directors may increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we have
authority to issue and classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred stock and establish the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption of any such stock. Our board of directors could authorize the
issuance of preferred stock with terms and conditions that could have priority as to distributions and amounts payable upon liquidation over the rights of the
holders of our common stock. Such preferred stock could also have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an
extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium price to holders of our
common stock.
We may change our targeted investments without stockholder consent.
We have made adjustments to our target portfolio based on real estate market conditions and investment opportunities, and we may change our targeted
investments and investment guidelines at any time without the consent of our stockholders, which could result in our making investments that are different from,
and possibly riskier than, the investments described in our prospectus. A change in our targeted investments or investment guidelines may increase our exposure
to interest rate risk, default risk and real estate market fluctuations, all of which could adversely affect the value of our common stock and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.
A stockholder’s interest in us may be diluted if we issue additional stock.
Our stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any stock we issue in the future. Therefore, in the event that we (1) sell stock in the future, including stock
issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, (2) sell securities that are convertible into stock, (3) issue stock in a private offering, (4) issue stock upon the
exercise of the options granted to our independent directors, employees of our Advisor or others, or (5) issue stock to sellers of properties acquired by us in
connection with an exchange of limited partnership interests in our Operating Partnership, investors purchasing stock in our offerings will experience dilution of
their percentage ownership in us. Depending on the terms of such transactions, most notably the price per share, which may be less than the price paid per share in
our offerings, and the value of our properties, investors in our offerings might also experience a dilution in the book value per share of their stock.
A stockholder’s interest in us may be diluted if we acquire properties for units in our Operating Partnership.
Holders of units of our Operating Partnership will receive distributions per unit in the same amount as the distributions we pay per share to our stockholders and
will generally have the right to exchange their units of our Operating Partnership for cash or shares of our stock (at our option). In the event we issue units in our
Operating Partnership in exchange for properties, investors purchasing stock in our offerings will experience potential dilution in their percentage ownership
interest in us. Depending on the terms of such transactions, most notably the price per unit, which may be less than the price paid per share in our offerings, the
value of our properties and the value of the properties we acquire through the issuance of units of limited partnership interests in our Operating Partnership,
investors in our offerings might also experience a dilution in the book value per share of their stock.
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The payment of the subordinated performance fee due upon termination, and the purchase of interests in our Operating Partnership held by our Advisor and
its affiliates as required in our Advisory Agreement, may discourage a takeover attempt that could have resulted in a premium price to our stockholders.
In the event of a merger in which we are not the surviving entity, and pursuant to which our Advisory Agreement is terminated, our Advisor and its affiliates may
require that we pay the subordinated performance fee due upon termination, and that we purchase all or a portion of the Operating Partnership units they hold at
any time thereafter for cash, or our stock, as determined by the seller. The subordinated performance fee due upon termination ranges from a low of 5% if the sum
of the appraised value of our assets minus our liabilities on the date the Advisory Agreement is terminated plus total distributions (other than stock distributions)
paid prior to termination of the Advisory Agreement exceeds the amount of invested capital plus annualized returns of 6%, to a high of 15% if the sum of the
appraised value of our assets minus our liabilities plus all prior distributions (other than stock distributions) exceeds the amount of invested capital plus
annualized returns of 10% or more. This deterrence may limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their stock that might otherwise exist if
an investor attempted to acquire us through a merger.
Although we are not currently afforded the protection of the Maryland General Corporation Law relating to business combinations, our board of directors
could opt into these provisions of Maryland law in the future, which may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and may prevent our
stockholders from receiving a premium price for their stock in connection with a business combination.
Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and certain interested stockholders or affiliates of interested stockholders are
prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include a
merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. Also under
Maryland law, control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares owned by the acquirer, by officers or by directors who are employees of the corporation are not
entitled to vote on the matter. Should our board opt into these provisions of Maryland law, it may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and
increase the difficulty of consummating any offer. Similarly, provisions of the Maryland Unsolicited Takeover Statute could provide similar anti-takeover
protection.
Our stockholders’ and our rights to recover claims against our independent directors are limited, which could reduce our stockholders’ and our recovery
against our independent directors if they negligently cause us to incur losses.
Our charter provides that no independent director shall be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages and that we will generally indemnify them for
losses unless they are grossly negligent or engage in willful misconduct. As a result, our stockholders and we may have more limited rights against our
independent directors than might otherwise exist under common law, which could reduce our stockholders’ and our recovery from these persons if they act in a
negligent manner. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our independent directors (as well as by our other directors, officers,
employees and agents) in some cases, which would decrease the cash otherwise available for distributions to our stockholders.
If we are unable to obtain funding for future capital needs, cash distributions to our stockholders could be reduced and the value of our investments could
decline.
If we need additional capital in the future to improve or maintain our properties or for any other reason, we will have to obtain financing from other sources, such
as cash flow from operations, borrowings, property sales, future equity offerings or from syndicated sales of existing investments. These sources of funding may
not be available on attractive terms or at all. If we cannot procure additional funding for capital improvements, our investments may generate lower cash flows or
decline in value, or both.
Our Advisor does not have as strong an economic incentive to avoid losses as do sponsors who have made significant equity investments in the companies
they sponsor.
Our Advisor and its affiliates have only invested $200,000 in Cornerstone Operating Partnership, L.P. Without significant equity exposure for our Advisor, our
investors may be at a greater risk of loss because our Advisor and its affiliates do not have as much to lose from a decrease in the value of our stock as do those
sponsors who make more significant equity investments in the companies they sponsor.
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If we do not successfully implement our long-term liquidity strategy, our stockholders may have to hold their investment for an indefinite period.
Although we initially intended to complete a transaction providing liquidity to stockholders by September 21, 2012, our charter does not require our board of
directors to pursue such a liquidity event. Market conditions and other factors caused us to delay the listing of our shares on a national securities exchange or
delay the commencement of our liquidation beyond 2012 from the termination of our offering stage. If our board of directors does determine to pursue another
liquidity transaction in the future, we would be under no obligation to conclude the process within a set time. The timing of the sale of assets will depend on real
estate and financial markets, economic conditions in the areas in which properties are located, and federal income tax effects on stockholders, that may prevail in
the future. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to liquidate all assets. After we adopt a plan of liquidation, we would remain in existence until all properties
and assets are liquidated. If we do not pursue a liquidity event, or delay such an event due to market conditions, our stockholders’ shares may continue to be
illiquid and they may, for an indefinite period of time, be unable to convert their investment to cash easily and could suffer losses on their investment.
If we internalize our management functions, your interest in us could be diluted, and we could incur other significant costs associated with being selfmanaged.
As currently organized, we do not directly employ any employees. We may decide to bring our management functions in house rather than relying on our Advisor
and, should we do so, may elect to negotiate to acquire our Advisor’s assets and personnel. At this time, we cannot be sure of the form or amount of consideration
or other terms relating to any such acquisition. Such consideration could take many forms, including cash payments, promissory notes and shares of our stock.
The payment of such consideration could result in dilution of your interests as a stockholder and could reduce the net income per share and funds from operations
per share attributable to your investment. In addition, we may incur costs defending against stockholder lawsuits initiated against us in response to our decision to
internalize our management functions. Such lawsuits could result in awards of damages, payment of attorneys’ fees and substantial litigation costs, which would
reduce the amount of cash available for investments and stockholder distributions.
In addition, while we would no longer bear the costs of the various fees and expenses we expect to pay to our Advisor under the Advisory Agreement if we
internalize, our direct expenses would include general and administrative costs, including legal, accounting and other expenses related to corporate governance
and SEC reporting and compliance. We would also incur the compensation and benefits costs of our officers and other employees and consultants that we now
expect will be paid by our Advisor or its affiliates. In addition, we may issue equity awards to officers, employees and consultants, which awards would decrease
net income and funds from operations and may further dilute your investment. We cannot reasonably estimate the amount of fees to our Advisor we would save
and the costs we would incur if we became self-managed. If the expenses we assume as a result of an internalization are higher than the expenses we avoid paying
to our Advisor, our net income per share and funds from operations per share would be lower as a result of the internalization than it otherwise would have been,
decreasing the amount of funds available to distribute to our stockholders and the value of
our shares.
If we internalize our management functions, we could have difficulty integrating these functions as a stand-alone entity. Certain personnel of our Advisor and its
affiliates perform asset management and general and administrative functions, including accounting and financial reporting, for multiple entities. We could fail to
properly identify the appropriate mix of personnel and capital needs to operate as a stand-alone entity. An inability to manage an internalization transaction
effectively could thus result in our incurring excess costs and/or suffering deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over
financial reporting. Such deficiencies could cause us to incur additional costs, and our management’s attention could be diverted from effectively managing our
portfolio of investments. Nothing in our charter prohibits us from entering into the transaction described above.
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Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest
Our Advisor and its affiliates, including our officers, will face conflicts of interest caused by compensation arrangements with us and other Cornerstonesponsored programs, which could result in actions that are not in the long-term best interests of our stockholders.
Our Advisor and its affiliates will receive substantial fees from us that are partially tied to the performance of our investments. These fees could influence our
Advisor’s advice to us, as well as the judgment of the affiliates of our Advisor who serve as our officers or directors. Among other matters, the compensation
arrangements could affect their judgment with respect to:
•

the continuation, renewal or enforcement of our agreements with the Advisor and its affiliates, including the Advisory Agreement;

•

public offerings of equity by us, which would likely entitle the Advisor to increased acquisition and asset management fees;

•

sales of properties and other investments (including, subject to the approval of our board of directors, sales to affiliates), which entitle the Advisor to
disposition fees;

•

acquisitions of properties and other investments, which entitle the Advisor to acquisition and asset management fees, and, in the case of acquisitions of
investments from other Advisor-sponsored programs, might entitle affiliates of the Advisor to disposition fees and possible subordinated incentive fees in
connection with its services for the seller;

•

borrowings to acquire properties and other investments, which borrowings will increase the acquisition and asset management fees payable to the Advisor;

•

whether we seek stockholder approval to internalize our management, which may entail acquiring assets (such as office space, furnishings and technology
costs) and negotiating compensation for real estate professionals at our Advisor and its affiliates that may result in such individuals receiving more
compensation from us than they currently receive from our Advisor;

•

whether and when we seek to list our common stock on a national securities exchange, which listing could entitle our Advisor to a success-based listing fee
but could also adversely affect its sales efforts for other programs if the price at which our stock trades is lower than the price at which we offered stock to
the public; and

•

whether and when we seek to sell the company or its assets, which sale could entitle our Advisor to success-based fees but could also adversely affect its
sales efforts for other programs if the sales price for the company or its assets resulted in proceeds less than the amount needed to preserve our
stockholders’ capital.

Considerations relating to Advisor compensation from other programs could result in decisions that are not in the best interests of our stockholders, which could
hurt our ability to make distributions to our stockholders or result in a decline in the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.
Our Advisor will face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase and leasing of properties, and such conflicts may not be resolved in our favor, which could
limit our investment opportunities and impair our ability to make distributions and could reduce the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.
We rely on our Advisor to identify suitable investment opportunities. We may be buying properties at the same time as other entities that are affiliated with or
sponsored by our Advisor. Other programs sponsored by our Advisor or its affiliates also rely on our Advisor for investment opportunities. Many investment
opportunities would be suitable for us as well as other programs. Our Advisor could direct attractive investment opportunities or tenants to other entities. Such
events could result in our investing in properties that provide less attractive returns, thus reducing the level of distributions that we may be able to pay to our
stockholders and the value of their investments in us.
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If we acquire properties from affiliates of our Advisor, the price may be higher than we would pay if the transaction was the result of arm’s-length
negotiations.
The prices we pay to affiliates of our Advisor for our properties will be equal to the prices paid by them, plus the costs incurred by them relating to the acquisition
and financing of the properties or if the price to us is in excess of such cost, substantial justification for such excess will exist and such excess will be reasonable
and consistent with current market conditions as determined by a majority of our independent directors. Substantial justification for a higher price could result
from improvements to a property by the affiliate of our Advisor or increases in market value of the property during the period of time the property is owned by
the affiliates of our Advisor as evidenced by an appraisal of the property. These prices will not be the subject of arm’s-length negotiations, which could mean that
the acquisitions may be on terms less favorable to us than those negotiated in an arm’s-length transaction. Even though we will use an independent third party
appraiser to determine fair market value when acquiring properties from our Advisor and its affiliates, we may pay more for particular properties than we would
have in an arm’s-length transaction, which would reduce our cash available for investment in other properties or distribution to our stockholders.
We may purchase properties from persons with whom our Advisor or its affiliates have prior business relationships and our Advisor’s interest in preserving
its relationship with these persons could result in us paying a higher price for the properties than we would otherwise pay.
We may have the opportunity to purchase properties from third parties including affiliates of our independent directors who have prior business relationships with
our Advisor or its affiliates. If we purchase properties from such third parties, our Advisor may experience a conflict between our interests and its interest in
preserving any ongoing business relationship with these sellers.
Our Advisor will face conflicts of interest relating to joint ventures that we may form with affiliates of our Advisor, which conflicts could result in a
disproportionate benefit to the other venture partners at our expense.
We may enter into joint venture agreements with third parties (including entities that are affiliated with our Advisor or our independent directors) for the
acquisition or improvement of properties. Our Advisor may have conflicts of interest in determining which program should enter into any particular joint venture
agreement. The co-venturer may have economic or business interests or goals that are or may become inconsistent with our business interests or goals. In
addition, our Advisor may face a conflict in structuring the terms of the relationship between our interests and the interest of the affiliated co-venturer and in
managing the joint venture. Since our Advisor and its affiliates will control both the affiliated co-venturer and, to a certain extent, us, agreements and transactions
between the co-venturers with respect to any such joint venture will not have the benefit of arm’s-length negotiation of the type normally conducted between
unrelated co-venturers. Co-venturers may thus benefit to our and our stockholders’ detriment.
Our Advisor and its affiliates receive commissions, fees and other compensation based upon our property acquisitions, the properties we own and the sale of
our properties. Therefore, our Advisor and its affiliates may make recommendations to us that we buy, hold or sell property in order to increase their
compensation. Our Advisor will have considerable discretion with respect to the terms and timing of our acquisition, disposition and leasing transactions.
Our Advisor and its affiliates receive commissions, fees and other compensation based upon our investments. Therefore, our Advisor may recommend that we
purchase properties that generate fees for our Advisor, but are not necessarily the most suitable investment for our portfolio. In some instances, our Advisor and
its affiliates may benefit by us retaining ownership of our assets, while our stockholders may be better served by sale or disposition. In other instances, our
Advisor may benefit by us selling the properties which may entitle our Advisor to disposition fees and possible success-based sales fees. In addition, our
Advisor’s ability to receive asset management fees and reimbursements depends on our continued investment in properties and in other assets that generate fees to
them. Therefore, the interest of our Advisor and its affiliates in receiving fees may conflict with our interests.
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If the competing demands for the time of our Advisor, its affiliates and our officers result in them spending insufficient time on our business, we may miss
investment opportunities or have less efficient operations which could reduce our profitability and result in lower distributions to stockholders.
We do not have any employees. We rely on the employees of our Advisor and its affiliates for the day-to-day operation of our business. We estimate that over the
life of the company, our Advisor and its affiliates will dedicate, on average, less than half of their time to our operations. The amount of time that our Advisor and
its affiliates spend on our business will vary from time to time and is expected to be more while we are raising money and acquiring properties. Our Advisor and
its affiliates, including our officers, have interests in other programs and engage in other business activities. As a result, they will have conflicts of interest in
allocating their time between us and other programs and activities in which they are involved. Because these persons have competing interests on their time and
resources, they may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time between our business and these other activities. During times of intense activity in other
programs and ventures, they may devote less time and fewer resources to our business than are necessary or appropriate to manage our business. We expect that
as our real estate activities expand, our Advisor will attempt to hire additional employees who would devote substantially all of their time to our business. There
is no assurance that our Advisor will devote adequate time to our business. If our Advisor suffers or is distracted by adverse financial or operational problems in
connection with its operations unrelated to us, it may allocate less time and resources to our operations. If any of these things occur, the returns on our
investments, our ability to make distributions to stockholders and the value of their investments in us may suffer.
General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate and Real Estate-Related Investments
Economic and regulatory changes that impact the real estate market may reduce our net income and the value of our properties.
We are subject to risks related to the ownership and operation of real estate, including but not limited to:
•

worsening general or local economic conditions and financial markets could cause lower demand, tenant defaults, and reduced occupancy and rental rates,
some or all of which would cause an overall decrease in revenue from rents;

•

increases in competing properties in an area which could require increased concessions to tenants and reduced rental rates;

•

increases in interest rates or unavailability of permanent mortgage funds which may render the sale of a property difficult or unattractive; and

•

changes in laws and governmental regulations, including those governing real estate usage, zoning and taxes.

Some or all of the foregoing factors may affect our properties, which would reduce our net income, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
Lease terminations could reduce our revenues from rents and our distributions to our stockholders and cause the value of our stockholders’ investment in us
to decline.
The success of our investments depends upon the occupancy levels, rental income and operating expenses of our properties and our company. In the event of a
tenant default or bankruptcy, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing our
property. In the event of tenant default or bankruptcy, or lease terminations or expiration, we may be unable to re-lease the property for the rent previously
received. We may be unable to sell a property with low occupancy without incurring a loss. These events and others could cause us to reduce the amount of
distributions we make to stockholders and the value of our stockholders’ investment in us to decline.
Competition with third parties for properties and other investments may result in our paying higher prices for properties which could reduce our profitability
and the return on your investment.
We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including individuals, corporations, banks, insurance companies, other REITs,
real estate limited partnerships, and other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, many of which have greater resources than we do. Some of these
investors may enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies. In
addition, the number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable investments may increase. Any such increase would result in increased demand
for these assets and increased prices. If competitive pressures cause us to pay higher prices for properties, our ultimate profitability may be reduced and the value
of our properties may not appreciate or may decrease significantly below the amount paid for such properties. At the time we elect to dispose of one or more of
our properties, we will be in competition with sellers of similar properties to locate suitable purchasers, which may result in us receiving lower proceeds from the
disposal or result in us not being able to dispose of the property due to the lack of an acceptable return. This may cause our stockholders to experience a lower
return on their investment.
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We may be unable to complete development and re-development projects on advantageous terms.
As part of our investment plan, we may develop new and re-develop existing properties. Such activities involve significant risks that could adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions on our common stock, which include:
•

we may not be able to obtain, or may experience delays in obtaining, all necessary zoning, land-use, building, occupancy and other governmental permits
and authorizations;

•

we may not be able to obtain financing for development projects on favorable terms and complete construction on schedule or within budget, resulting in
increased debt service expense and construction costs and delays in leasing the properties and generating cash flow; and

•

the properties may perform below anticipated levels, producing cash flow below budgeted amounts and limiting our ability to sell such properties to third
parties or affiliates.
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Newly developed and acquired properties may not produce the cash flow that we expect, which could adversely affect our overall financial performance.
We intend to acquire and develop real estate properties. In deciding whether to acquire or develop a particular property, we make assumptions regarding the
expected future performance of that property. If our estimated return on investment proves to be inaccurate, it may fail to perform as we expected. With certain
properties we plan to acquire, our business plan contemplates repositioning or redeveloping that property with the goal of increasing its cash flow, value or both.
Our estimate of the costs of repositioning or redeveloping an acquired property may prove to be inaccurate, which may result in our failure to meet our
profitability goals. Additionally, we may acquire new properties not fully leased, and the cash flow from existing operations may be insufficient to pay the
operating expenses and debt service associated with that property until the property is more fully leased. If one or more of these new properties do not perform as
expected or we are unable to successfully integrate new properties into our existing operations, our financial performance and our ability to make distributions
may be adversely affected.
Reduced occupancy levels could reduce our revenues from rents and our distributions to our stockholders and cause the value of our stockholders’
investment in us to decline.
The success of our investments depends upon the occupancy levels, rental income and operating expenses of our properties and our company. In the event of
tenant default or bankruptcy, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing our
property. In the event of tenant default or bankruptcy, or lease termination or expiration, we may be unable to re-lease the property for the rent previously
received. We may be unable to sell a property with low occupancy without incurring a loss. These events and others could cause us to reduce the amount of
distributions we make to stockholders and the value of our stockholders’ investment in us to decline.
Rising expenses at both the property and the company level could reduce our net income and our cash available for distribution to stockholders.
Our properties are subject to operating risks common to real estate in general, any or all of which may reduce our net income. If any property is not substantially
occupied or if rents are being paid in an amount that is insufficient to cover operating expenses, we could be required to expend funds with respect to that
property for operating expenses. The properties are subject to increases in tax rates, utility costs, operating expenses, insurance costs, repairs and maintenance and
administrative expenses. If we are unable to lease properties on a basis requiring the tenants to pay such expenses, we would be required to pay some or all of
those costs which would reduce our income and cash available for distribution to stockholders.
Costs incurred in complying with governmental laws and regulations may reduce our net income and the cash available for distributions.
Our company and the properties we own are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and
safety. Federal laws such as the National Environmental Policy Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Federal Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Emergency Planning
and Community Right to Know Act and the Hazard Communication Act govern such matters as wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and removal
of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous materials and the remediation of
contamination associated with disposals. The properties we own and those we expect to acquire are subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 which
generally requires that certain types of buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities. These laws may require us to make
modifications to our properties. Some of these laws and regulations impose joint and several liability on tenants, owners or operators for the costs to investigate or
remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal. Compliance with these laws and any new or more
stringent laws or regulations may require us to incur material expenditures. Future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose material environmental liability. In
addition, there are various federal, state and local fire, health, life-safety and similar regulations with which we may be required to comply, and which may
subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance. Our properties may be affected by our tenants’ operations, the existing condition of land
when we buy it, operations in the vicinity of our properties, such as the presence of underground and above-ground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third
parties. The presence of hazardous substances, or the failure to properly remediate these substances, may make it difficult or impossible to sell or rent such
property. Any material expenditures, fines, or damages we must pay will reduce our ability to make distributions and may reduce the value of our stockholders’
investment in us.
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Discovery of environmentally hazardous conditions may reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.
Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous real property owner or operator may be liable for the
cost to remove or remediate hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in such property. These costs could be substantial. Such laws often impose liability
whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. Environmental laws also may impose
restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures or prevent us
from entering into leases with prospective tenants that may be impacted by such laws. Environmental laws provide for sanctions for noncompliance and may be
enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private parties. Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be used to
impose liability for release of and exposure to hazardous substances, including asbestos-containing materials into the air. Third parties may seek recovery from
real property owners or operators for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure to released hazardous substances. The cost of defending
against claims of liability, of complying with environmental regulatory requirements, of remediating any contaminated property, or of paying personal injury
claims could be substantial and reduce our ability to make distributions and the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.
Any uninsured losses or high insurance premiums will reduce our net income and the amount of our cash distributions to stockholders.
Our Advisor will attempt to obtain adequate insurance to cover significant areas of risk to us as a company and to our properties. However, there are types of
losses at the property level, generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution or
environmental matters, which are uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations, such as large deductibles or co-payments.
We may not have adequate coverage for such losses. If any of our properties incurs a casualty loss that is not fully insured, the value of our assets will be reduced
by any such uninsured loss. In addition, other than any working capital reserve or other reserves we may establish, we have no source of funding to repair or
reconstruct any uninsured damaged property. Also, to the extent we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance, we could suffer reduced earnings that
would result in lower distributions to stockholders.
We may have difficulty selling real estate investments, and our ability to distribute all or a portion of the net proceeds from such sale to our stockholders may
be limited.
Equity real estate investments are relatively illiquid. Therefore, we will have a limited ability to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic or other
conditions. In addition, the liquidity of real estate investments has been further reduced by the continued turmoil in the capital markets, which has constrained
equity and debt capital available for investment in commercial real estate, resulting in fewer buyers seeking to acquire commercial properties and consequent
reductions in property values. As a result of these factors, we will also have a limited ability to sell assets in order to fund working capital and similar capital
needs. When we sell any of our properties, we may not realize a gain on such sale. We may elect not to distribute any proceeds from the sale of properties to our
stockholders; for example, we may use such proceeds to:
•

purchase additional properties, including redeployment of industrial sale proceeds into senior housing assets as part of the ongoing repositioning into the
healthcare sector;

•

repay debt, if any;

•

buy out interests of any co-venturers or other partners in any joint venture in which we are a party;

•

create working capital reserves; or

•

make repairs, maintenance, tenant improvements or other capital improvements or expenditures to our
remaining properties.

Our ability to sell our properties may also be limited by our need to avoid a 100% penalty tax that is imposed on gain recognized by a REIT from the sale of
property characterized as dealer property. In order to ensure that we avoid such characterization, we may be required to hold our properties for a minimum period
of time, generally two years, and comply with certain other requirements in the Internal Revenue Code.
Real estate market conditions at the time we decide to dispose of a property may be unfavorable which could reduce the price we receive for a property and
lower the return on our stockholders’ investment in us.
We intend to hold the properties in which we invest until we determine that selling or otherwise disposing of properties would help us to achieve our investment
objectives. General economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other factors, including supply and demand, all of which are beyond our
control, affect the real estate market. We may be unable to sell a property for the price, on the terms, or within the time frame we want. Accordingly, the gain or
loss on our stockholders’ investment in us could be affected by fluctuating market conditions.
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As part of otherwise attractive portfolios of properties, substantially all of which we can own on an all-cash basis, we may acquire some properties with
existing lock-out provisions which may inhibit us from selling a property, or may require us to maintain specified debt levels for a period of years on some
properties.
Loan provisions could materially restrict us from selling or otherwise disposing of or refinancing properties. These provisions would affect our ability to turn our
investments into cash and thus affect cash available for distributions to our stockholders. Loan provisions may prohibit us from reducing the outstanding
indebtedness with respect to properties, refinancing such indebtedness on a non-recourse basis at maturity, or increasing the amount of indebtedness with respect
to such properties.
Loan provisions could impair our ability to take actions that would otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders, and therefore, may have an adverse
impact on the value of our stock, relative to the value that would result if the loan provisions did not exist. In particular, loan provisions could preclude us from
participating in major transactions that could result in a disposition of our assets or a change in control even though that disposition or change in control might be
in the best interests of our stockholders.
If we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers of our properties, distribution of net sales proceeds to our stockholders would be delayed and
defaults by the purchasers could reduce our cash available for distribution to stockholders.
If we provide financing to purchasers, we will bear the risk that the purchaser may default. Purchaser defaults could reduce our cash distributions to our
stockholders. Even in the absence of a purchaser default, the distribution of the proceeds of sales to our stockholders, or their reinvestment in other assets, will be
delayed until the promissory notes or other property we may accept upon a sale are actually paid, sold, refinanced or otherwise disposed of or completion of
foreclosure proceedings.
Actions of our joint venture partners could subject us to liabilities in excess of those contemplated or prevent us from taking actions that are in the best
interests of our stockholders which could result in lower investment returns to our stockholders.
We have and are likely to continue to enter into joint ventures with affiliates and other third parties to acquire or improve properties. We may also purchase
properties in partnerships, co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements. Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present when acquiring real estate
directly, including, for example:
•

joint venturers may share certain approval rights over major decisions;

•

that such co-venturer, co-owner or partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals which are or which become inconsistent with our
business interests or goals, including inconsistent goals relating to the sale of properties held in the joint venture or the timing of termination or liquidation
of the joint venture;

•

the possibility that our co-venturer, co-owner or partner in an investment might become insolvent or bankrupt;

•

the possibility that we may incur liabilities as a result of an action taken by our co-venturer, co-owner or partner;

•

that such co-venturer, co-owner or partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or
objectives, including our policy with respect to qualifying and maintaining our qualification as a REIT;

•

disputes between us and our joint venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent its officers and directors
from focusing their time and effort on our business and result in subjecting the properties owned by the applicable joint venture to additional risk; or

•

that under certain joint venture arrangements, neither venture partner may have the power to control the venture, and an impasse could be reached which
might have a negative influence on the joint venture.

These events might subject us to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and thus reduce our stockholders’ investment returns. If we have a right of first refusal
or buy/sell right to buy out a co-venturer, co-owner or partner, we may be unable to finance such a buy-out if it becomes exercisable or we may be required to
purchase such interest at a time when it would not otherwise be in our best interest to do so. If our interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not have sufficient
cash, available borrowing capacity or other capital resources to allow us to elect to purchase an interest of a co-venturer subject to the buy/sell right, in which case
we may be forced to sell our interest as the result of the exercise of such right when we would otherwise prefer to keep our interest. Finally, we may not be able to
sell our interest in a joint venture if we desire to exit the venture.
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If we make or invest in mortgage loans, our mortgage loans may be affected by unfavorable real estate market conditions, including interest rate fluctuations,
which could decrease the value of those loans and the return on our stockholders’ investments in us.
If we make or invest in mortgage loans, we will be at risk of defaults by the borrowers on those mortgage loans as well as interest rate risks. To the extent we
incur delays in liquidating such defaulted mortgage loans; we may not be able to obtain sufficient proceeds to repay all amounts due to us under the mortgage
loan. Further, we will not know whether the values of the properties securing the mortgage loans will remain at the levels existing on the dates of origination of
those mortgage loans. If the values of the underlying properties fall, our risk will increase because of the lower value of the security associated with such loans. In
addition, interest rate fluctuations could reduce our returns as compared to market interest rates and reduce the value of the mortgage loans in the event we sell
them.
Second mortgage loan investments involve a greater risk of loss in the event of default than traditional mortgage loans.
If we decide to invest in second mortgages, our subordinated priority to the senior lender or lenders will place our investment at a greater risk of loss than a
traditional mortgage. In the event of default, any recovery of our second mortgage investment will be subordinate to the senior lender. Further, it is likely that any
investments we make in second mortgages will be placed with private entities and not insured by a government sponsored entity, placing additional credit risk on
the borrower which may result in a loss to our portfolio.
Construction loan investments involve a greater risk of loss of investment and reduction of return than traditional mortgage loans.
If we decide to invest in construction loans, the nature of these loans pose a greater risk of loss than traditional mortgages. Since construction loans are made
generally for the express purpose of either the original development or redevelopment of a property, the risk of loss is greater than a traditional mortgage because
the underlying properties subject to construction loans are generally unable to generate income during the period of the loan. Construction loans may also be
subordinate to the first lien mortgages. Any delays in completing the development or redevelopment project may increase the risk of default or credit risk of the
borrower which may increase the risk of loss or risk of a lower than expected return to our portfolio.
Bridge loan investments involve a greater risk of loss of investment and reduction of return than traditional mortgage loans.
If we decide to acquire or make bridge loans secured by first lien mortgages on properties to borrowers who are typically seeking short-term capital to be used in
an acquisition or renovation of real estate, these loans pose a greater risk than traditional mortgages. Borrowers usually identify undervalued assets that have been
under-managed or are located in recovering markets. If the market in which the asset is located fails to recover according to the borrower’s projections, or if the
borrower fails to improve the quality of the asset’s management or the value of the asset, the borrower may not receive a sufficient return on the asset to satisfy
the bridge loan, and we may not recover some or all of our investment.
In addition, owners usually borrow funds under a conventional mortgage loan to repay a bridge loan. We may therefore be dependent on a borrower’s ability to
obtain permanent financing to repay our bridge loan, which could depend on market conditions and other factors. Bridge loans are also subject to risks of
borrower defaults, bankruptcies, fraud, losses and special hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance. In the event of any default under bridge
loans held by us, we bear the risk of loss of principal and non-payment of interest and fees to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the mortgage
collateral and the principal amount of the bridge loan. To the extent we suffer such losses with respect to our investments in bridge loans; the value of our
company may be adversely affected.
Mezzanine loan investments involve a greater risk of loss of investment and reductions of return than senior loans secured by income-producing properties.
If we invest in mezzanine loans, they may take the form of subordinated loans secured by second mortgages on the underlying real property or loans secured by a
pledge of the ownership interests of either the entity owning the real property or the entity that owns the interest in the entity owning the real property. These
types of investments involve a higher degree of risk than long-term senior mortgage lending secured by income-producing real property because the investment
may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the senior lender. In the event of a bankruptcy of the entity providing the pledge of its ownership interests as
security, we may not have full recourse to the assets of such entity, or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan. If a borrower
defaults on our mezzanine loan or debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our mezzanine loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt.
As a result, we may not recover some or all of our investment. In addition, mezzanine loans may have higher loan-to-value ratios than conventional mortgage
loans, resulting in less equity in the real property and increasing the risk of loss of principal.
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Investments in real estate-related securities may be illiquid, and we may not be able to adjust our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other
conditions.
If we invest in certain real estate-related securities that we may purchase in connection with privately negotiated transactions, they will not be registered under the
relevant securities laws, resulting in a prohibition against their transfer, sale, pledge or other disposition except in a transaction that is exempt from the registration
requirements of, or is otherwise in accordance with, those laws. As a result, our ability to vary our long-term stabilized portfolio in response to changes in
economic and other conditions may be relatively limited. The mezzanine and bridge loans we may purchase will be particularly illiquid investments due to their
short life. Moreover, in the event of a borrower’s default on an illiquid real estate security, the unsuitability for securitization and potential lack of recovery of our
investment could pose serious risks of loss to our investment portfolio.
Delays in restructuring or liquidating non-performing real estate-related securities could reduce the return on our stockholders’ investment.
If we invest in real estate-related securities, they may become non-performing after acquisition for a wide variety of reasons. Such non-performing real estate
investments may require a substantial amount of workout negotiations and/or restructuring, which may entail, among other things, a substantial reduction in the
interest rate and a substantial write-down of such loan or asset. However, even if a restructuring is successfully accomplished, upon maturity of such real estate
security, replacement “takeout” financing may not be available. We may find it necessary or desirable to foreclose on some of the collateral securing one or more
of our investments. Intercreditor provisions may substantially interfere with our ability to do so. Even if foreclosure is an option, the foreclosure process can be
lengthy and expensive. Borrowers often resist foreclosure actions by asserting numerous claims, counterclaims and defenses, including, without limitation, lender
liability claims and defenses, in an effort to prolong the foreclosure action. In some states, foreclosure actions can take up to several years or more to litigate. At
any time during the foreclosure proceedings, the borrower may file for bankruptcy, which would have the effect of staying the foreclosure action and further
delaying the foreclosure process. Foreclosure litigation tends to create a negative public image of the collateral property and may result in disrupting ongoing
leasing and management of the property. Foreclosure actions by senior lenders may substantially affect the amount that we may receive from an investment.
Our stockholders’ investment return may be reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act; if we or our
subsidiaries become an unregistered investment company, we could not continue our business.
Neither we nor any of our subsidiaries intend to register as investment companies under the Investment Company Act. If we or our subsidiaries were obligated to
register as investment companies, we would have to comply with a variety of substantive requirements under the Investment Company Act that impose, among
other things:
•

limitations on capital structure;

•

restrictions on specified investments;

•

prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; and

•

compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations that would significantly increase our operating
expenses.

Under the relevant provisions of Section 3(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act, an investment company is any issuer that:
•

is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities (the
“primarily engaged test”); or

•

is engaged or proposes to engage in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities and owns or proposes to acquire
“investment securities” having a value exceeding 40% of the value of such issuer's total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on
an unconsolidated basis (the “40% test”). “Investment securities” excludes U.S. government securities and securities of majority-owned subsidiaries that are
not themselves investment companies and are not relying on the exception from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)
(7) (relating to private investment companies).

Depending on the nature of our portfolio, we believe that we and our Operating Partnership may be able to satisfy both tests above. With respect to the 40% test,
we expect that most of the entities through which we and our Operating Partnership own our assets will be majority-owned subsidiaries that are not themselves
investment companies and are not relying on the exceptions from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7).
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With respect to the primarily engaged test, we and our Operating Partnership are holding companies and do not intend to invest or trade in securities ourselves.
Rather, through the majority-owned subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership, we and our Operating Partnership will be primarily engaged in the non-investment
company businesses of these subsidiaries.
We expect that most of the subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership will be able to rely on Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act for an exception
from the definition of an investment company. (Any other subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership should be able to rely on the exceptions for private
investment companies pursuant to Section 3(c)(1) and Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act.) As reflected in no-action letters, the SEC staff's position
on Section 3(c)(5)(C) generally requires that an issuer maintain at least 55% of its assets in “mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate,” or
qualifying assets; at least 80% of its assets in qualifying assets plus real estate-related assets; and no more than 20% of the value of its assets in other than
qualifying assets and real estate-related assets, which we refer to as miscellaneous assets. To constitute a qualifying asset under this 55% requirement, a real estate
interest must meet various criteria based on no-action letters.
If, however, the value of the subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership that must rely on Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) is greater than 40% of the value of the
assets of our Operating Partnership, then we and our Operating Partnership may seek to rely on the exception from registration under Section 3(c)(6) if we and
our Operating Partnership are “primarily engaged,” through majority-owned subsidiaries, in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and
other interests in real estate. The SEC staff has issued little interpretive guidance with respect to Section 3(c)(6); however, it is our view that we and our
Operating Partnership may rely on Section 3(c)(6) if 55% of the assets of our Operating Partnership consist of, and at least 55% of the income of our Operating
Partnership is derived from, majority-owned subsidiaries that rely on Section 3(c)(5)(C).
To maintain compliance with the Investment Company Act, our subsidiaries may be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want them to sell and may need to
sell assets we would otherwise wish them to retain. In addition, our subsidiaries may have to acquire additional assets that they might not otherwise have acquired
or may have to forego opportunities to make investments that we would otherwise want them to make and would be important to our investment strategy.
Moreover, the SEC may issue interpretations with respect to various types of assets that are contrary to our views and current SEC staff interpretations are subject
to change, which increases the risk of non-compliance and the risk that we may be forced to make adverse changes to our portfolio. If we were required to register
as an investment company but failed to do so, we would be prohibited from engaging in our business and criminal and civil actions could be brought against us.
In addition, our contracts would be unenforceable unless a court required enforcement and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of us and liquidate our
business.
Rapid changes in the values of our assets may make it more difficult for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT or our exception from the definition of an
investment company under the Investment Company Act.
If the market value or income potential of our qualifying real estate assets changes as compared to the market value or income potential of our non-qualifying
assets, or if the market value or income potential of our assets that are considered “real estate-related assets” under the Investment Company Act or REIT
qualification tests changes as compared to the market value or income potential of our assets that are not considered “real estate-related assets” under the
Investment Company Act or REIT qualification tests, whether as a result of increased interest rates, prepayment rates or other factors, we may need to modify our
investment portfolio in order to maintain our REIT qualification or exception from the definition of an investment company. If the decline in asset values or
income occurs quickly, this may be especially difficult, if not impossible, to accomplish. This difficulty may be exacerbated by the illiquid nature of many of the
assets that we may own. We may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise would not make absent REIT and Investment Company Act
considerations.
Risks Related to Investments in Healthcare-Related Real Estate
If our board of directors believes it to be in the best interests of our stockholders, we will use proceeds from the disposition of certain of our existing real
estate properties to invest in real estate properties in the healthcare sector. Ultimately, such acquisitions could result in our having a concentration of our
investments in the healthcare sector, which may leave our profitability vulnerable to a downturn or slowdown in the sector.
Subject to the approval of our board of directors, we may use proceeds from the disposition of certain of our existing real estate investments to invest in real estate
properties in the healthcare sector. If we were to make such investments, we would be subject to risks inherent in investments in that type of property. Ultimately,
if such acquisitions were to result in our having a concentration of our investments in the healthcare sector, then the potential effects on our revenues, and as a
result, on cash available for distribution to our stockholders, resulting from a downturn or slowdown in the healthcare sector could be more pronounced than if we
had more fully diversified our investments.
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Failure to succeed in the healthcare sector may have adverse consequences on our performance.
Other than our President and certain of our Advisor’s acquisitions and asset management personnel, we do not have experience in owning or operating healthcare
properties. The experience of the management of our Advisor in other sectors, such as the multi-tenant industrial sector, does not ensure that we will be able to
operate successfully in the healthcare sector. Our success in the healthcare sector will be dependent, in part, upon our ability to evaluate local healthcare sector
conditions, identify appropriate acquisition opportunities, and find qualified tenants or, where properties are acquired through a taxable REIT subsidiary, to
engage and retain qualified independent managers to operate these properties. In addition, due to our inexperience in acquiring healthcare properties, we may
abandon opportunities to enter a local market or acquire a property that we have begun to explore for any reason and may, as a result, fail to recover expenses
already incurred. Furthermore, we will be competing with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities for acquisitions of healthcare properties,
including healthcare REITs, national, regional and local operators, acquirers and developers. The competition for healthcare properties may significantly increase
the price we must pay for properties we seek to acquire and our competitors may succeed in acquiring those properties themselves. Our potential acquisition
targets may find our competitors to be more attractive because they may have greater resources and/or a lower cost of capital, may be willing to pay more for the
properties or may have a more compatible operating philosophy. If we are unable to succeed in the healthcare sector as a result of any of the factors described
above, our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders may be materially and adversely
affected.
Adverse trends in the healthcare service industry may negatively affect lease revenues from healthcare-related properties that we may acquire and the values
of those investments.
The healthcare service industry may be affected by the following:
•

trends in the method of delivery of healthcare services;

•

competition among healthcare providers;

•

lower increases or decreases in reimbursement rates from government and commercial payors, high uncompensated care expense, investment losses and
limited admissions growth pressuring operating profit margins for healthcare providers;

•

availability of capital;

•

liability insurance expense;

•

health reform initiatives to address healthcare costs through expanded pay-for-performance criteria, value-based purchasing programs, bundled provider
payments, accountable care organizations, state health insurance exchanges, increased patient cost-sharing, geographic payment variations, comparative
effectiveness research, and lower payments for hospital readmissions;

•

regulatory environment uncertainty due to the phased implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (commonly called “Obamacare”)
and its impact upon healthcare facility operator reimbursement, including the impact of Obamacare on reimbursement rates;

•

Congressional efforts to reform the Medicare physician fee-for-service formula that dictates annual updates in payment rates for physician services,
including significant reductions in the sustainable growth rate, whether through a short-term fix or a more long-term solution;

•

scrutiny and formal investigations by federal and state authorities;

•

prohibitions on additional types of contractual relationships between physicians and the healthcare facilities and providers to which they refer, and related
information-collection activities;

•

efforts to increase transparency with respect to pricing and financial relationships among healthcare providers and drug/device manufacturers;

•

increased regulation to limit medical errors and conditions acquired inside health facilities and improve patient safety; and

•

heightened health information technology standards for healthcare providers.

These changes, among others, can adversely affect the economic performance of some or all of the lessees and operators of healthcare properties that we may
acquire and, in turn, negatively affect the lease revenues and the value of our property investments.
27

Our healthcare properties derive a substantial portion of their income from third-party payors.
Many of the lessees of healthcare facilities derive a substantial portion of their net operating revenues from third-party payors, including the Medicare and
Medicaid programs. These programs are highly regulated by federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations and are subject to frequent and substantial change.
There are no assurances that payments from governmental and other third-party payors will remain at levels comparable to present levels or will, in the future, be
sufficient to cover the costs allocable to patients eligible for reimbursement under these programs. Efforts by such third-party payors to reduce healthcare costs
have intensified in recent years and will likely continue, which may result in reductions or slower growth in reimbursement for certain services provided by some
of our potential tenants. In addition, the failure of any of our potential tenants to comply with various laws and regulations could jeopardize their ability to
continue participating in Medicare, Medicaid and other government-sponsored payment programs. The healthcare industry continues to face various challenges,
including increased government and private payor pressure on healthcare providers to control or reduce costs. The financial impact on tenants of healthcare
properties that we may acquire could restrict their ability to make rent payments to us, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
Lessees of healthcare properties that we may acquire may be affected by the financial deterioration, insolvency and/or bankruptcy of other significant
operators in the healthcare industry.
Certain companies in the healthcare industry, including some key senior housing operators, none of which are currently our tenants, are experiencing considerable
financial, legal and/or regulatory difficulties which have resulted or may result in financial deterioration and, in some cases, insolvency and/or bankruptcy. The
adverse effects on these companies could have a significant impact on the industry as a whole, including but not limited to negative public perception by
investors, lenders and consumers. As a result, lessees of healthcare facilities that we may acquire could experience the damaging financial effects of a weakened
industry sector driven by negative headlines, ultimately making them unable to meet their obligations to us, and our business could be adversely affected.
Risks Associated with Debt Financing
We expect to continue to use temporary acquisition financing to acquire properties and otherwise incur other indebtedness, including long-term financing,
which will increase our expenses and could subject us to the risk of losing properties in foreclosure if our cash flow is insufficient to make loan payments.
We used temporary acquisition financing to acquire nine industrial properties. During 2011, we sold four properties and used the proceeds, in part, to pay down a
portion of the temporary acquisition financing. Additionally, we have used temporary acquisition financing to acquire our healthcare properties. This will enable
us to acquire properties before we have raised offering proceeds for the entire purchase price. We may plan to use subsequently raised offering proceeds or sell
additional properties to pay off the temporary acquisition financing.
With the objective of increasing income, the board of directors may consider future acquisitions featuring long-term debt financing to increase the amount of
capital available to us and to achieve greater property diversification. We may also acquire properties encumbered with existing financing which cannot be
immediately repaid. We may also invest in joint venture entities that borrow funds or issue senior equity securities to acquire properties, in which case our equity
interest in the joint venture would be junior to the rights of the lender or preferred stockholders. Our charter limits our borrowings to the equivalent of 75% of our
cost, before deducting depreciation or other non-cash reserves, of all our assets unless any excess borrowing is approved by a majority of our independent
directors and is disclosed to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from our independent directors of the justification for the excess
borrowing. We may borrow funds for operations, tenant improvements, capital improvements or other working capital needs. We may also borrow funds to make
distributions, including but not limited to funds to satisfy the REIT tax qualification requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable
income to our stockholders. We may also borrow, if we otherwise deem it necessary or advisable, to ensure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT for
federal income tax purposes. To the extent we borrow funds, we may raise additional equity capital or sell properties to pay such debt.
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If there is a shortfall between the cash flow from a property and the cash flow needed to service acquisition financing on that property, then the amount available
for distributions to stockholders may be reduced. In addition, incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a
property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default. For tax purposes, a
foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the
mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on
foreclosure, but we would not receive any cash proceeds. We may give full or partial guarantees to lenders of mortgage debt to the entities that own our
properties. When we give a guaranty on behalf of an entity that owns one of our properties, we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is
not paid by such entity. If any mortgages contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default on a single property could affect multiple properties.
If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, the value of our stockholders’ investments in us will be reduced.
Liquidity in the global credit markets has been significantly contracted by market disruptions during the past several years, making it costly to obtain new debt
financing, when debt financing is available at all. To the extent that market conditions prevent us from obtaining temporary or long-term acquisition financing on
financially attractive terms, our ability to make suitable investments in commercial real estate could be delayed or limited. If we are unable to invest the proceeds
from this offering in suitable real estate investments for an extended period of time, distributions to our stockholders may be lower or may be suspended and the
value of investments in our shares could be reduced.
Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
When providing financing, a lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies and our ability to incur additional debt. Loan
documents we have entered into contain covenants that limit our ability to further mortgage the property, discontinue insurance coverage, or replace our Advisor.
These or other limitations may limit our flexibility and prevent us from achieving our operating plans.
High levels of debt or increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our loan payments, reduce the cash available for distribution to stockholders
and subject us to the risk of losing properties in foreclosure if our cash flow is insufficient to make loan payments.
Our policies do not limit us from incurring debt. High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges, would result in higher debt service payments,
and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants. Interest we pay could reduce cash available for distribution to stockholders. Additionally, variable rate debt
could result in increases in interest rates which would increase our interest costs, which would reduce our cash flows and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders. In addition, if we need to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates, we could be required to liquidate one or more of our investments
in properties at times which may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments and could result in a loss.
High mortgage rates may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance properties, which could reduce the number of properties we can acquire, our cash
flows from operations and the amount of cash distributions we can make
If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates, we may not be able to finance the purchase of properties. If we place mortgage debt on properties, we run the
risk of being unable to refinance the properties when the debt becomes due or of being unable to refinance on favorable terms. If interest rates are higher when we
refinance the properties, our income could be reduced. We may be unable to refinance properties. If any of these events occurs, our cash flow would be reduced.
This, in turn, would reduce cash available for distribution to you and may hinder our ability to raise capital by issuing more stock or borrowing more money.
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Federal Income Tax Risks
Failure to qualify as a REIT would subject us to federal income tax, which would reduce the cash available for distribution to you.
We expect to operate in a manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. However, the federal income tax laws
governing REITs are extremely complex, and interpretations of the federal income tax laws governing qualification as a REIT are limited. Qualifying as a REIT
requires us to meet various tests regarding the nature of our assets and our income, the ownership of our outstanding stock, and the amount of our distributions on
an ongoing basis. While we intend to operate so that we will qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing
importance of factual determinations, including the tax treatment of certain investments we may make, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances,
no assurance can be given that we will so qualify for any particular year. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any calendar year and we do not qualify for certain
statutory relief provisions, we would be required to pay federal income tax on our taxable income. We might need to borrow money or sell assets to pay that tax.
Our payment of income tax would decrease the amount of our income available for distribution to you. Furthermore, if we fail to maintain our qualification as a
REIT and we do not qualify for certain statutory relief provisions, we no longer would be required to distribute substantially all of our REIT taxable income to
our stockholders. Unless our failure to qualify as a REIT were excused under federal tax laws, we would be disqualified from taxation as a REIT for the four
taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost.
Even if we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.
Even if we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to some federal, state and local taxes on our income or property. For example:
•

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders (which is determined without regard
to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain). To the extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT
taxable income, we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on the undistributed income.

•

We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions we pay in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85%
of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years.

•

If we elect to treat property that we acquire in connection with a foreclosure of a mortgage loan or certain leasehold terminations as “foreclosure property,”
we may avoid the 100% tax on gain from a resale of that property, but the income from the sale or operation of that property may be subject to corporate
income tax at the highest applicable rate.

•

If we sell an asset, other than foreclosure property, that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, our gain would be subject
to the 100% “prohibited transaction” tax unless such sale were made by one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the REIT requirements of the Internal Revenue Code.
To maintain our REIT status, we may be forced to forego otherwise attractive opportunities, which may delay or hinder our ability to meet our investment
objectives and reduce the overall return to our stockholders.
To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy certain tests on an ongoing basis concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, nature of our assets and the
amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest
cash in our business or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution. Compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate
solely on the basis of maximizing profits and the value of our stockholders’ investments in us.
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If we borrow money to meet the REIT minimum distribution requirement or for other working capital needs, our expenses will increase, our net income will
be reduced by the amount of interest we pay on the money we borrow and we will be obligated to repay the money we borrow from future earnings or by
selling assets, which will decrease future distributions to stockholders.
To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute annually to our stockholders a minimum of 90% of our taxable income, excluding capital gains. We will be
subject to regular corporate income taxes to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income each year. Additionally, we will be subject to
a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions paid (or deemed paid) by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our
ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from previous years. Payments we make to redeem our shares
generally are not taken into account for purposes of these distribution requirements. If we do not have sufficient cash to make distributions necessary to preserve
our REIT status for any year or to avoid taxation, we may be forced to borrow funds or sell assets even if the market conditions at that time are not favorable for
these borrowings or sales. We may decide to borrow funds in order to meet the REIT minimum distribution requirements even if our management believes that
the then prevailing market conditions generally are not favorable for such borrowings or that such borrowings would not be advisable in the absence of such tax
considerations. Distributions made in excess of our net income will generally constitute a return of capital to stockholders.
If we were considered to actually or constructively pay a “preferential dividend” to certain of our stockholders, our status as a REIT could be adversely
affected.
In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income (excluding net capital gain), determined
without regard to the deduction for dividends paid. In order for distributions to be counted as satisfying the annual distribution requirements for REITs, and to
provide us with a REIT-level tax deduction, the distribution must not be “preferential dividends.” A dividend is not a preferential dividend if the distribution is
pro rata among all outstanding shares of stock within a particular class, and in accordance with the preferences among different classes of stock as set forth in our
organizational documents. There is no de minimus exception with respect to preferential dividends; therefore, if the IRS were to take the position that we paid a
preferential dividend, we may be deemed to have failed the 90% distribution test, and our status as a REIT could be terminated for the year in which such
determination is made if we were unable to cure such failure.
If our Operating Partnership is classified as a “publicly-traded partnership” under the Internal Revenue Code, it could be subjected to tax on its income and
the amount of distributions we make to our stockholders will be less.
We structured the Operating Partnership so that it would be classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. In this regard, the Internal Revenue Code
generally classifies “publicly traded partnerships” (as defined in Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code) as associations taxable as corporations (rather than
as partnerships), unless substantially all of their taxable income consists of specified types of passive income. In order to minimize the risk that the Internal
Revenue Code would classify the Operating Partnership as a “publicly traded partnership” for tax purposes, we placed certain restrictions on the transfer and/or
redemption of partnership units in our Operating Partnership. If the Internal Revenue Service were to assert successfully that our Operating Partnership is a
“publicly traded partnership,” and substantially all of the Operating Partnership’s gross income did not consist of the specified types of passive income, the
Internal Revenue Code would treat our Operating Partnership as an association taxable as a corporation. In such event, the character of our assets and items of
gross income would change and would likely prevent us from qualifying and maintaining our status as a REIT. In addition, the imposition of a corporate tax on
our Operating Partnership would reduce the amount of cash distributable to us from our Operating Partnership, and therefore, would reduce our amount of cash
available to make distributions to our stockholders.
The tax on prohibited transactions will limit our ability to engage in transactions, including certain methods of securitizing mortgage loans, that would be
treated as sales for federal income tax purposes.
A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of assets, other than
foreclosure property, deemed held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. We might be subject to this tax if we were to dispose of or
securitize loans in a manner that was treated as a sale of the loans for federal income tax purposes. Therefore, in order to avoid the prohibited transactions tax, we
may choose not to engage in certain sales of loans at the REIT level, and may limit the structures we utilize for our securitization transactions, even though the
sales or structures might otherwise be beneficial to us.
It may be possible to reduce the impact of the prohibited transactions tax by conducting certain activities through taxable REIT subsidiaries. However, to the
extent that we engage in such activities through taxable REIT subsidiaries, the income associated with such activities may be subject to full corporate income tax.
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Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates.
Legislation enacted in 2003 and modified in 2005 and 2010 generally reduces the maximum tax rate for dividends payable to domestic stockholders that are
individuals, trusts and estates to 15% (through 2012). Dividends payable by REITs, however, are generally not eligible for the reduced rates. Although this
legislation does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends paid by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate dividends could
cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in stock of non-REIT
corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs, including our common stock.
We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes.
At any time, the federal income tax laws or regulations governing REITs or the administrative interpretations of those laws or regulations may be amended. We
cannot predict when or if any new federal income tax law, regulation or administrative interpretation, or any amendment to any existing federal income tax law,
regulation or administrative interpretation, will be adopted, promulgated or become effective and any such law, regulation or interpretation may take effect
retroactively. We and our stockholders could be adversely affected by any such change in, or any new, federal income tax law, regulation or administrative
interpretation.
Distributions to tax-exempt investors may be classified as unrelated business taxable income and tax-exempt investors would be required to pay tax on the
unrelated business taxable income and to file income tax returns.
Neither ordinary nor capital gains distributions with respect to our common stock nor gains from the sale of stock should generally constitute unrelated business
taxable income to a tax-exempt investor. However, there are certain exceptions to this rule. In particular:
•

under certain circumstances, part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with respect to our stock may be treated
as unrelated business taxable income if our stock is predominately held by qualified employee pension trusts, such that we are a “pension-held” REIT
(which we do not expect to be the case);

•

part of the income and gain recognized by a tax-exempt investor with respect to our stock would constitute unrelated business taxable income if such
investor incurs debt in order to acquire the common stock; and

•

part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our stock held by social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental
unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans which are exempt from federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (9), (17),
or (20) of the Code may be treated as unrelated business taxable income.

Foreign investors may be subject to FIRPTA tax on the sale of our stock if we are unable to qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT.
A foreign person disposing of a U.S. real property interest, including stock of a U.S. corporation whose assets consist principally of U.S. real property interests is
generally subject to a tax, known as the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 (“FIRPTA”) tax, on the gain recognized on the disposition.
Distributions that are attributable to gains from the disposition of U.S. real property interests by a REIT are subject to FIRPTA tax for foreign investors as though
they were engaged in a trade or business and the distribution constitutes income which is effectively connected with such a business. Such FIRPTA tax does not
apply, if the REIT is “domestically controlled.” A REIT is “domestically controlled” if less than 50% of the REIT’s capital stock, by value, has been owned
directly or indirectly by persons who are not qualifying U.S. persons during a continuous five-year period ending on the date of disposition or, if shorter, during
the entire period of the REIT’s existence.
We cannot be sure that we will qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT. If we were to fail to so qualify, any gain realized by foreign investors on a sale of our
stock would be subject to FIRPTA tax, unless our stock were traded on an established securities market and the foreign investor did not at any time during a
specified testing period, directly or indirectly, own more than 5% of the value of our outstanding common stock.
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Retirement Plan Risks
If the fiduciary of an employee benefit plan subject to ERISA (such as a profit sharing, Section 401(k) or pension plan) or an owner of a retirement
arrangement subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code (such as an individual retirement account (“IRA”)) fails to meet the fiduciary and other
standards under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code as a result of an investment in our stock, the fiduciary could be subject to penalties and other
sanctions.
There are special considerations that apply to employee benefit plans subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) (such as profit sharing,
Section 401(k) or pension plans) and other retirement plans or accounts subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code (such as an IRA) that are investing
in our shares. Fiduciaries and IRA owners investing the assets of such a plan or account in our common stock should satisfy themselves that:
•

the investment is consistent with their fiduciary and other obligations under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code;

•

the investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan or IRA, including the plan’s or account’s investment policy;

•

the investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and 404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA and other applicable provisions
of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code;

•

the investment in our shares, for which no public market currently exists, is consistent with the liquidity needs of the plan or IRA;

•

the investment will not produce an unacceptable amount of “unrelated business taxable income” for the plan or IRA;

•

our stockholders will be able to comply with the requirements under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code to value the assets of the plan or IRA
annually; and

•

the investment will not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code.

With respect to the annual valuation requirements described above, we will provide an estimated value for our shares annually. We can make no claim whether
such estimated value will or will not satisfy the applicable annual valuation requirements under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code. The Department of Labor
or the Internal Revenue Service may determine that a plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian is required to take further steps to determine the value of our common
stock. In the absence of an appropriate determination of value, a plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian may be subject to damages, penalties or other sanctions.
Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code may result in the imposition of
civil and criminal penalties and could subject the fiduciary to claims for damages or for equitable remedies, including liability for investment losses. In addition,
if an investment in our shares constitutes a prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code, the fiduciary or IRA owner who authorized or
directed the investment may be subject to the imposition of excise taxes with respect to the amount invested. In addition, the investment transaction must be
undone. In the case of a prohibited transaction involving an IRA owner, the IRA may be disqualified as a tax-exempt account and all of the assets of the IRA may
be deemed distributed and subjected to tax. ERISA plan fiduciaries and IRA owners should consult with counsel before making an investment in our common
stock.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2012, our portfolio consists of fourteen properties which were approximately 82.8% leased. The following table provides summary
information regarding our properties.

Property (1)
Industrial:
Shoemaker Industrial Buildings
20100 Western Avenue (3)
Marathon Center
Orlando Small Bay Portfolio:
Carter Commerce Center (3)
Goldenrod Commerce Center
Hanging Moss Commerce Center
Monroe South Commerce Center
Monroe North Commerce Center
1830 Santa Fe
Subtotal Industrial:
Healthcare:
Sheridan Care Center
Fern Hill Care Center
Farmington Square
Friendship Haven Healthcare and
Rehabilitation Center
Pacific Health and Rehabilitation
Center
Subtotal Healthcare:

Location
Santa Fe Springs, CA
Torrance, CA
Tampa Bay, FL
Winter Garden, FL
Orlando, FL
Orlando, FL
Sanford, FL

Date Purchased

Square
Footage

Purchase
Price

June 30, 2006
December 1, 2006
April 2, 2007

18,921
116,433
52,020

$

2,400,000
19,650,000
4,450,000

November 15, 2007
November 15, 2007
November 15, 2007
November 15, 2007

49,125
78,646
94,200
172,500
394,471
181,348
12,200
775,393

37,128,000
14,275,000
1,315,000
79,218,000

Debt
$

Dec. 31,
2012
% Leased

—
8,900,000
—

51.4%
100.0%
38.0%

6,499,000
6,445,000
—
21,844,000

64.9%
88.8%
80.9%
72.3%
76.7%
86.5%
100.0%
79.7%

Sanford, FL
Santa Ana, CA

April 17, 2008
August 5, 2010

Sheridan, OR
Portland, OR
Medford, OR

August 3, 2012
August 3, 2012
September 14, 2012

13,912
13,344
32,557

4,100,000
4,500,000
8,500,000

2,800,000(2)
3,000,000(2)
5,800,000(2)

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Galveston County, TX

September 14, 2012

56,968

15,000,000

10,700,000(2)

100.0%

Tigard, OR

December 24, 2012

28,514
145,295

8,140,000
40,240,000

6,150,000(2)
28,450,000(2)

100.0%
100.0%

920,688

$ 119,458,000

Total

$ 50,294,000

82.8%

(1)

The table excludes Sherburne Commons, a variable interest entity (“VIE”) for which we became the primary beneficiary and began consolidating its
financial results as of June 30, 2011. As of October 19, 2011, Sherburne Commons was classified as held for sale (See Note 10 to the accompanying
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

(2)

Represents healthcare properties with single tenant leases which we report as 100% occupied from our (landlord’s) perspective. These properties were
acquired in the third and fourth quarters of 2012 (See Note 5 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

(3)

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we entered into definitive agreements to sell the 20100 Western Avenue and Carter Commerce Center properties.
Consequently, these properties are classified as held for sale (see Note 16 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

The following table sets forth annualized occupancy rates for our material properties for the past five years:
Property
20100 Western Avenue
Orlando Small Bay Portfolio
Monroe North Commerce Center

2012

2011
82
74
95
33

Average Percent Leased (%)
2010
52
74
71
71
80
47

2009

2008
63
77
82

100
94
100

Historical Annualized Average Rents
The following table sets forth average effective annualized rent per square foot for our material industrial properties for the past five years:
Property
20100 Western Avenue
Orlando Small Bay Portfolio
Monroe North Commerce Center
(1)

2012
$
$
$

4.03
5.31
5.92

Average Effective Annualized Rent per Square Foot(1)
2011
2010
2009
$
10.15 $
10.21 $
10.16
$
5.84 $
7.27 $
7.71
$
5.03 $
7.64 $
6.83

2008
$
$
$

11.41
7.59
5.83

Average effective annualized rent per square foot is calculated by dividing annual rental revenues by sum of quarterly occupied square footage.

Portfolio Lease Expirations
The following table sets forth lease expiration information for each of the ten years following December 31, 2012:
Approx.
Amount of
Expiring
Leases
(Sq. Feet)
1,875
182,215
134,468
60,685
66,677
39,498
14,504
56,520
—
—
142,153
698,595

No. of
Leases
Expiring
1
44
34
13
8
3
1
2
—
—
5
111

Year Ending
December 31
Month to Month
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022 and later

Base Rent
of Expiring
Leases
(Annual $)
$
6,000
1,129,000
715,000
394,000
497,000
243,000
75,000
—
—
—
5,108,000
$
8,167,000

Percent of
Total
Leasable
Area
Expiring
(%)
0.2%
19.9%
14.7%
6.6%
7.3%
4.3%
1.6%
6.2%
0.0%
0.0%
15.5%
76.1%

Percent of
Total
Annual Base
Rent Expiring
(%)
0.1%
13.8%
8.8%
4.8%
6.1%
3.0%
0.9%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
62.5%
100.0%

Real Estate-Related Investment
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had one investment in a real estate loan receivable, the Sherburne Commons Mortgage Loan (Borrower):
Loan Name
Location of Related
Property or Collateral
Sherburne Commons Mortgage Loan
Nantucket, MA

Date
Originated

Loan Type

Payment
Type

12/14/2009

1st Mortgage

Interest Only

Book Value
as of
December 31,
2012
$

—

Book Value
as of
December 31,
2011
$

—

Rate
Type
Fixed

Annual
Interest Rate
8.0%

Maturity
Date
1/1/2015

Due to the borrower suspending their interest payments in the 1st quarter of 2011, we issued them a notice of default on June 30, 2011. By issuing them a notice
of default, we became a primary beneficiary to the borrower and the borrower a VIE to us as a result of our enhanced ability to direct the activities of the VIE. A
primary beneficiary of a VIE is required to consolidate the operations of the VIE. Consequently, we have consolidated the operations of the VIE as of June 30,
2011, and accordingly eliminated the note receivable in consolidation (See Notes 9 and 10 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
As of October 19, 2011, the Sherburne Commons property was reclassified to real estate held for sale. Consequently, the related assets and liabilities of the
property are classified as assets of variable interest entity held for sale and liabilities of variable interest entity held for sale on our consolidated balance sheets.
Operating results for the property have been reclassified to discontinued operations on our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31,
2011 (See Notes 10 and 16 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time in the ordinary course of business, we may become subject to legal proceeding, claims, or disputes. As of the date hereof, we are not a party to
any material pending legal proceedings.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Market Information
During the period covered by this report, there was no established public trading market for our shares of common stock. In order for Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) members to participate in the offering and sale of shares of common stock pursuant to our prior public offerings, we are
required to disclose in each annual report distributed to stockholders a per-share estimated value of the shares, the method by which it was developed and the date
of the data used to develop the estimated value. In addition, we prepare annual statements of estimated share values to assist fiduciaries of retirement plans subject
to the annual reporting requirements of Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) in the preparation of their reports relating to an investment in our
shares.
Our December 31, 2012 estimated common stock per-share value is $2.10 per share. The estimated value per share was based upon the recommendation and
valuation of our Advisor, based on the methodologies and assumptions described further below. As with any valuation methodology, our methodology is based
upon a number of estimates and assumptions that may prove later to be inaccurate or incomplete. Further, different parties using different assumptions and
estimates could derive a different estimated value per share, which could be significantly different from our estimated value per share. The estimated per-share
value determined below neither represents the fair value according to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) of our assets less liabilities, nor
does it represent the amount our shares would trade at on a national securities exchange or the amount a shareholder would obtain if he or she tried to sell his or
her shares or if we liquidated our assets. As of the date of this filing, we had no potentially dilutive securities outstanding that would impact the estimated value
per share of our common stock.
Our estimated per-share value was calculated by aggregating the estimated fair value of our investments in real estate and the estimated fair value of our other
assets, subtracting the estimated fair value of our liabilities, and dividing the total by the number of our common shares outstanding as of December 31, 2012. Our
estimated per-share value is the same as our net asset value. Our estimated per-share value does not reflect “enterprise value,” which may include a premium for
the portfolio or the potential increase in our share value if we were to list our shares on a national securities exchange. Our estimated per-share value also does not
reflect a liquidity discount for the fact that the shares are not currently traded on a national securities exchange.
The following is a summary of the valuation methodologies used:
Investments in Real Estate and Variable Interest Entity Held for Sale. For purposes of calculating an estimated value per share, we engaged a third-party real
estate valuation firm to value certain industrial properties as well as relying on our Advisor’s discounted cash flow analyses for those properties that were not
appraised. This third-party real estate valuation firm used an income capitalization approach and a sales comparison approach to value selected properties. Our
Advisor calculated the value of our investments in real estate and variable interest entity using internally prepared cash flow estimates and employing a range of
terminal capitalization rates, discount rates, growth rates and other variables that fall within ranges our Advisor believes would be used by similar investors to
value the properties we own. The cash flow estimates were developed for each property by our Advisor’s asset management team based on their industry
knowledge and expertise. We engaged a third-party real estate valuation firm to conduct a market study to validate our Advisor’s assumptions with respect to
capitalization and discount rates it used in its discounted cash flow analyses.
For our variable interest entity held for sale, we used the current standing offer for the property less estimated selling costs, as an estimate of fair value as this
property is currently under a purchase and sale agreement.
For our recently acquired healthcare properties, we analyzed their post-acquisition operating performance to determine whether the financial performance of those
properties had changed since their recent acquisitions, noting that the assets’ operating results are consistent with our acquisition underwriting models.
Consequently, our recently acquired healthcare properties’ fair values are deemed to be equal to their respective purchase prices.
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The following summarizes the key assumptions that were used in the discounted cash flow models to estimate the value of the Company’s real estate assets and
variable interest entity:
Range in Values
6.50% – 8.00%
8.52%
3.10% – 6.87%
10 years

Terminal capitalization rate
Discount rate
Annual net operating income growth rate(1)
Holding period

Weighted-Average Basis
7.95%
8.52%
5.20%
10 years

(1) The annual net operating income compounded annual growth rate (“CAGR”) reflects both the contractual and market rents (in cases where the contractual
lease period is less than the holding period) net of expenses over the holding period. The range of CAGRs shown is the constant annual rate at which the net
operating income is projected to grow to reach the net operating income in the final year of the holding period for each of the properties.
We believe that the assumptions employed in the valuation methodology are reasonable and within the ranges used for properties that are similar to ours and held
by investors with similar expectations to our investors. However, a change in the assumptions would impact the calculation of the value of our investments in real
estate. For example, assuming all other factors remain unchanged, a change in the assumed weighted-average terminal capitalization rate of 0.25% would yield a
change in our net asset value of approximately $.01 per share.
While our Advisor believes a discounted cash flow analysis is standard in the real estate industry and an acceptable valuation methodology to determine fair value
in accordance with GAAP, the estimated values for our investments in real estate and variable interest entity may or may not represent current market values or
fair values determined in accordance with GAAP. Real estate is currently carried at its amortized cost basis in our financial statements, subject to any adjustments
required under GAAP.
Notes Payable. Our Advisor estimated the value of our notes payable using a discounted cash flow analysis. The cash flows were based on the remaining loan
terms and on management’s estimates of current market interest rates for instruments with similar characteristics, including remaining loan term, loan-to-value
ratio and type of collateral. The weighted-average discount rate applied to the future estimated debt payments, which have a weighted-average remaining term of
3.32 years, was approximately 4.45%.
We believe that the assumptions employed in estimating the fair value of our notes payable are reasonable and reflect the terms currently available on similar
borrowing arrangements to borrowers with credit profiles similar to ours. However, a change in the assumptions would impact the fair value of our notes payable.
For example, assuming all other factors remain unchanged, a change in the assumed weighted-average discount rate of 0.75% would yield a change in our net
asset value of approximately $0.05 per share.
Other Assets and Liabilities. The carrying values of our other assets and liabilities are considered to be equal to fair value due to their short maturities. Certain
balances, including above-/below-market leases related to real estate investments, have been eliminated for the purpose of the valuation due to the fact that the
value of those balances was already considered in the valuation of the respective real estate investments.
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Our estimated per-share value was calculated as follows:
Estimated Per-Share Value Calculation:
December 2012
4.16
(2.15)
0.09
$
2.10
None assumed
None assumed
$
2.10

Investments in real estate and variable interest entity
Notes payable
Other assets and liabilities, net
Estimated net asset value per-share value
Estimated enterprise value premium
Estimated liquidity discount
Total estimated per-share value
__________________

$

As with any valuation methodology, our methodology is based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that may not be accurate or complete. Different
parties with different assumptions and estimates could derive a different estimated per-share value. Accordingly, with respect to our estimated per-share value, we
can provide no assurance that:
•

a stockholder would be able to realize this estimated value per share upon attempting to resell his or her shares;

•

we would be able to achieve, for our stockholders, the estimated value per share, upon a listing of our shares of common stock on a national securities
exchange, selling our real estate portfolio, or merging with another company;

•

an independent third-party appraiser or other third-party valuation firm would agree with our estimated value per
share; or

•

the estimated share value, or the methodologies relied upon to estimate the share value, will be found by any regulatory authority to comply with FINRA,
ERISA, or any other regulatory requirements.

Furthermore, the estimated value of our shares was calculated as of December 31, 2012. The value of our shares will fluctuate over time in response to, among
other things, changes in real estate market fundamentals, capital markets activities, and attributes specific to the properties within our portfolio. We are not
required to update the estimated value per share more frequently than every eighteen months. We expect that any future estimates of the value of our properties
will be performed by our Advisor; however, our board of directors may direct our Advisor to engage one or more independent, third-party valuation firms in
connection with such estimates.
Stock Repurchase Program
Our board of directors previously adopted a stock repurchase program that enables our stockholders to sell their stock to us in limited circumstances. Our board of
directors may amend, suspend or terminate the program at any time upon thirty days prior notice to our stockholders.
Our stock repurchase program has been suspended as described below.
Prior to its suspension, our stock repurchase program limited the number of shares of stock we could redeem (other than redemptions due to death of a
stockholder) to those that we could purchase with net proceeds from the sale of stock under our distribution reinvestment plan in the prior calendar year.
The stock repurchase price is subject to adjustment as determined from time to time by our board of directors. At no time will the stock repurchase price exceed
the price at which we are offering our common stock for sale at the time of the repurchase. We do not charge any fees for participating in our stock repurchase
program, however the transfer agent we have appointed to administer the program may charge a transaction fee for processing a redemption request.
On November 23, 2010, our board of directors concluded that we did not have sufficient funds available to fund any redemptions. Accordingly, our board of
directors approved an amendment to our stock repurchase program to suspend redemptions under the program effective December 31, 2010. We can make no
assurances as to when and on what terms our redemptions will resume. The share redemption program may be amended, resumed, suspended again, or terminated
at any time based in part on our cash and debt position.
38

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, we did not redeem shares pursuant to our stock repurchase program and have received requests to redeem
38,296 shares. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, we have received requests to redeem 78,124 shares. However, due to the current suspension
of the stock repurchase program, we were not able to fulfill any of these requests.
Stockholders
As of March 19, 2013, we had approximately 23.0 million shares of common stock outstanding held by 4,978 stockholders of record.
Distributions
In order to meet the requirements for being treated as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, we must pay distributions to our shareholders each taxable year
equal to at least 90% of our net ordinary taxable income.
The declaration, timing and amount of distributions are at the discretion of our board of directors. The amount of distributions will depend on our funds from
operations, financial condition, capital requirements, annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other factors
our board of directors deems relevant. On November 23, 2010, our board of directors resolved to lower our distributions to an annualized rate of $0.08 per share
(1% based on a share price of $8.00), from the prior annualized rate of $0.48 per share (6% based on a share price of $8.00), in order to preserve capital that may
be needed for capital improvements, debt repayment, operations or other corporate purposes. Distributions at this rate were declared for the first and second
quarters of 2011. Further, in June 2011, the board decided, based on the financial position of the Company, to suspend the declaration of further distributions and
to defer the second quarter 2011 distribution payment until December 2011 when we received proceeds from the sale of our Arizona properties. No distributions
have been declared for periods subsequent to June 30, 2011. The rate and frequency of distributions is subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may
change from time to time based on our operating results and cash flow.
We adopted a distribution reinvestment plan that allows our stockholders to have their distributions invested in additional shares of our common stock. We have
registered 21,100,000 shares of our common stock for sale pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan. The purchase price per share is 95% of the price paid by
the purchaser for our common stock, but not less than $7.60 per share. As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, approximately 2.3 million shares had
been issued under the distribution reinvestment plan. On November 23, 2010, our board of directors adopted a resolution to suspend the distribution reinvestment
plan indefinitely effective December 14, 2010. As a result, distributions were paid entirely in cash during the period between December 14, 2010 and March 31,
2011. Commencing with the April 2011 distributions, the board elected to pay distributions on a quarterly basis. However, due to cash constraints, the board
elected to defer the second quarter 2011 distribution payment until the Company’s cash position improves. The second quarter distribution of $0.5 million was
paid in the fourth quarter of 2011. We cannot provide any assurance as to if or when we will resume our distribution reinvestment plan.
During the year ended December 31, 2012 we did not pay any distributions to our stockholders. During the year ended December 31, 2011, we paid distributions
of approximately $1.1 million to our stockholders. Some of our distributions have been paid from sources other than operating cash flow, such as offering
proceeds or proceeds from the sale of properties. The following table shows the distributions paid based on daily record dates for each day during the period from
January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2012, aggregated by quarter as follows:

Period
First quarter 2011
Second quarter 2011(2)
Third quarter 2011(3)
Fourth quarter 2011(4)
First quarter 2012
Second quarter 2012
Third quarter 2012
Fourth quarter 2012(5)

$

$
$

$

Distributions Declared (1)
Cash
Reinvested
454,000 $
— $
460,000
—
—
—
—
—
914,000 $
— $
— $
— $
—
—
—
—
—
—
— $
— $
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Total
454,000
460,000
—
—
914,000
—
—
—
—
—

$

$
$

$

Funds from
Operations
60,000
(80,000)
(129,000)
(1,068,000)
(1,217,000)
(859,000)
(1,306,000)
(803,000)
(435,000)
(3,403,000)

Cash Flows from
Operating
Activities
$
481,000
(219,000)
(323,000)
(1,608,000)
$
(1,669,000)
$
(800,000)
(953,000)
(2,400,000)
(2,282,000)
$
(6,435,000)

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

No distributions were paid in 2012. 100% of the distributions declared during 2011 represented a return of capital for federal income tax purposes,
respectively.
Funds from operations exclude real estate impairments of $14.8 million and impairments recorded in discontinued operations of $27.5 million.
Funds from operations exclude real estate impairments of $0.4 million and impairments recorded in discontinued operations of $0.2 million.
Funds from operations exclude impairments recorded in discontinued operations of $5.6 million.
Funds from operations exclude impairments recorded in discontinued operations of $0.9 million.

From our inception in October 2004 through December 31, 2012, we declared aggregate distributions of $32.8 million. Our cumulative net loss and cumulative
net cash provided by operating activities during the same period were $76.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively.
Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations
Funds from operations (“FFO”) is a non-GAAP supplemental financial measure that is widely recognized as a measure of REIT operating performance. We
compute FFO in accordance with the definition outlined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). NAREIT defines FFO as net
income (loss), computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding extraordinary items, as defined by GAAP, and gains (or losses) from sales of property, plus
depreciation and amortization on real estate assets, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships, joint ventures, noncontrolling interests and subsidiaries.
NAREIT recently issued updated reporting guidance that directs companies, for their computation of NAREIT FFO, to exclude impairments of depreciable real
estate when write-downs are driven by measurable decreases in the fair value of real estate holdings. Previously, the Company’s calculation of FFO (consistent
with NAREIT’s previous guidance) did not exclude impairments of, or related to, depreciable real estate. Consistent with this current NAREIT reporting
guidance, the Company has restated its 2011 and 2010 FFO amounts.
Our FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs that do not define the term in accordance with the current NAREIT definition or that interpret
the current NAREIT definition differently than we do. We believe that FFO is helpful to investors and our management as a measure of operating performance
because it excludes depreciation and amortization, gains and losses from property dispositions, and extraordinary items, and as a result, when compared year to
year, reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating costs, development activities, general and administrative expenses,
and interest costs, which is not immediately apparent from net income. Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly
assumes that the value of real estate diminishes predictably over time. Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many
industry investors and analysts have considered the presentation of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting alone to be
insufficient. As a result, our management believes that the use of FFO, together with the required GAAP presentations, provide a more complete understanding of
our performance. Factors that impact FFO include start-up costs, fixed costs, delays in buying assets, lower yields on cash held in accounts pending investment,
income from portfolio properties and other portfolio assets, interest rates on acquisition financing and operating expenses. FFO should not be considered as an
alternative to net income (loss), as an indication of our performance, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make
distributions.
Changes in the accounting and reporting rules under GAAP have prompted a significant increase in the amount of non-cash and non-operating items included in
FFO, as defined. Therefore, we use modified funds from operations (“MFFO”), which excludes from FFO real estate acquisition costs, amortization of above- or
below-market rents, and non-cash amounts related to straight-line rents and impairment charges to further evaluate our operating performance. We compute
MFFO in accordance with the definition suggested by the Investment Program Association (the “IPA”), the trade association for direct investment programs
(including non-listed REITs). However, certain adjustments included in the IPA’s definition are not applicable to us and are therefore not included in the
foregoing definition.
We believe that MFFO is an important supplemental measure of operating performance because it excludes costs that management considers more reflective of
investing activities or non-operating changes. Accordingly, we believe that MFFO can be a useful metric to assist management, investors and analysts in
assessing the sustainability of our operating performance. As explained below, management’s evaluation of our operating performance excludes these items in the
calculation based on the following considerations:
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•

Real estate acquisition costs. In evaluating investments in real estate, including both business combinations and investments accounted for under the
equity method of accounting, management’s investment models and analyses differentiate costs to acquire the investment from the operations derived from
the investment. These acquisition costs have been funded from the proceeds of our initial public offering and other financing sources and not from
operations. We believe by excluding expensed acquisition costs, MFFO provides useful supplemental information that is comparable for each type of our
real estate investments and is consistent with management’s analysis of the investing and operating performance of our properties. Real estate acquisition
costs include those paid to our Advisor and to third parties.

•

Adjustments for amortization of above- or below-market rents. Similar to depreciation and amortization of other real estate-related assets that are
excluded from FFO, GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of lease assets diminishes predictably over time and that these charges be recognized currently
in revenue. Since real estate values and market lease rates in the aggregate have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, management believes
that by excluding these charges, MFFO provides useful supplemental information on the operating performance of our real estate.

•

Adjustments for straight-line rents. Under GAAP, rental income recognition can be significantly different from underlying contract terms. By adjusting
for these items, MFFO provides useful supplemental information on the economic impact of our lease terms and presents results in a manner more
consistent with management’s analysis of our operating performance.

•

Impairment charges. Impairment charges relate to a fair value adjustment, which is based on the impact of current market fluctuations and underlying
assessments of general market conditions and the specific performance of the holding, which may not be directly attributable to our current operating
performance. As these losses relate to underlying long-term assets and liabilities, where we are not speculating or trading assets, management believes
MFFO provides useful supplemental information by focusing on the changes in our core operating fundamentals rather than changes that may reflect
anticipated losses. In particular, because GAAP impairment charges are not allowed to be reversed if the underlying fair values improve or because the
timing of impairment charges may lag the onset of certain operating consequences, we believe MFFO provides useful supplemental information related to
the sustainability of rental rates, occupancy and other core operating fundamentals.

FFO and MFFO should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss) or as an indication of our liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund
our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions. Both FFO and MFFO should be reviewed along with other GAAP measurements. Our FFO and
MFFO, as presented, may not be comparable to amounts calculated by other REITs.
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The following is reconciliation from net loss applicable to common shares, the most direct comparable financial measure calculated and presented with GAAP, to
FFO and MFFO for each of the last three years:

Net loss applicable to common shares

$

Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Gain on sales of real estate, net
Impairment of real estate assets:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Noncontrolling interests’ share in losses
Noncontrolling interests’ share in FFO
Funds (used in) from operations (FFO) applicable to common shares
Adjustments:
Real estate acquisition costs
Amortization of (below-) above-market rents
Straight-line rents
Reserve for excess advisor obligation
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Impairment of notes receivable
Modified funds (used in) from operations (MFFO) applicable to common shares

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
(7,458,000) $
(52,058,000) $

1,713,000
280,000
—

1,460,000
965,000
(46,000)

1,656,000
1,750,000
—

—
2,077,000
(1,076,000)
1,061,000

15,268,000
33,306,000
(1,995,000)
1,883,000

1,250,000
770,000
(2,000)
—

$

(3,403,000) $

(1,217,000) $

2,293,000

$

947,000 $
(28,000)
(323,000)
863,000
162,000
—

— $
(143,000)
(45,000)
—
777,000
1,442,000

52,000
39,000
40,000
—
335,000
—

$

(1,782,000) $

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding – basic and diluted

23,028,285

FFO per weighted average common shares
MFFO per weighted average
common shares

2010
(3,131,000)

$

(0.15) $

$

(0.08) $

814,000

$

23,031,830

22,921,142

(0.05) $
0.04

2,759,000

$

0.10
0.12

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
We did not sell any equity securities that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933 during the period covered by this Form 10-K.
Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
Initial Public Offering
Our registration statement (SEC File No. 333-121238) for our initial public offering of up to 44,400,000 shares of our common stock at $8.00 per share and up to
11,000,000 additional shares at $7.60 per share pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan was declared effective on September 22, 2005. The aggregate
offering amount of the shares registered for sale in our initial public offering, assuming the maximum numbers of shares were sold, was $438.8 million. The
offering commenced on January 6, 2006 and was terminated June 1, 2009 prior to the sale of all shares registered.
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As of the termination of the offering on June 1, 2009, excluding the issuance of approximately 1.2 million shares under our distribution reinvestment plan, we had
sold approximately 20.5 million shares of common stock in our initial public offering, raising gross offering proceeds of $163.7 million. From this amount, we
incurred approximately $16.2 million in selling commissions and dealer manager fees payable to our dealer manager and approximately $3.3 million in
acquisition fees payable to the Advisor. We have used $118.6 million of the net offering proceeds to acquire properties and reduce notes payable as of
December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2012, the Advisor and its affiliates had incurred on our behalf organizational and offering costs totaling approximately
$4.5 million, including $0.1 million of organizational costs that have been expensed, and $4.4 million related to offering costs which reduce net proceeds of our
initial public offering.
Follow-On Public Offering
Our registration statement (SEC File No. 333-155640) for our follow-on public offering of up to 56,250,000 shares of our common stock at $8.00 per share and
up to 21,100,000 additional shares at $7.60 per share pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan was declared effective on June 10, 2009. We retained PCC to
conduct our follow-on public offering on a best-efforts basis. The aggregate offering amount of the shares registered for sale in our follow-on public offering is
$610.4 million. The offering commenced on June 10, 2009 and has not terminated. Effective November 23, 2010, we stopped accepting offers to purchase shares
of our offering while our board of directors evaluates strategic alternatives to maximize investor’s value.
On June 10, 2012, our follow-on offering was terminated. As of December 31, 2012, excluding issuance of approximately 1.1 million shares under our
distribution reinvestment plan, we had sold approximately 0.4 million shares of common stock in our follow-on offering, raising gross offering proceeds of $3.4
million. From this amount, we incurred $0.3 million in selling commissions and dealer manager fees payable to our dealer manager and approximately $67,000 in
acquisition fees payable to the Advisor. Our Advisory Agreement provides for reimbursement of the Advisor for organizational and offering costs in excess of
3.5% of the gross proceeds from our primary offering and follow-on offering. Under the Advisory Agreement, within 60 days after the end of the month in which
our follow-on offering terminated, the Advisor is obligated to reimburse us to the extent that the organization and offering expenses related to our follow-on
offering borne by us exceeded 3.5% of the gross proceeds of the follow-on offering. As of June 10, 2012, we had reimbursed our Advisor a total of $1.1 million
in organizational and offering costs related to our follow-on offering, of which $1.0 million was in excess of the contractual limit. Consequently, in the second
quarter of 2012, we recorded a receivable from the Advisor for $1.0 million reflecting the excess reimbursement. However, as a result of our evaluation of various
factors related to collectability of this receivable, we reserved the full amount of the receivable as of June 30, 2012. On December 31, 2012, we reduced our
reserve by $0.1 million as it became probable that we would collect this amount in early 2013. No assurances can be made when additional payments, if any, will
occur.
Equity Compensation Plans
Information about securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive
Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following should be read with the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto. The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated statements of
operations data for the year ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 have been derived from the Company’s historical audited consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008 have been derived from the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements adjusted for the impact of subsequent
accounting changes requiring retrospective application, if any.
2012
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Notes payable
Total equity

$
$
$

As of December 31,
2010

2011

93,992,000
50,294,000
38,757,000

$
$
$

2012

70,124,000
21,070,000
45,626,000
2011

$
$
$

$
$
$
$

Basic and diluted (losses) earnings per common share(1)
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss applicable to common shares

$
$
$

(0.25) $
(0.08) $
(0.33) $

(0.93) $
(1.33) $
(2.26) $

Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

$
$
$

(6,435,000) $
(40,327,000) $
30,346,000 $

(1,669,000) $
34,006,000 $
(16,868,000) $

Other Data:
Distributions declared
Distributions declared per common share

$
$

Weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding – basic and diluted(1)
(1)

—
—

$
$
$
$

$
$

23,028,285

$
$
$

Year Ended December 31,
2010

Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues
Loss from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net loss applicable to common shares

4,740,000
(5,709,000)
(2,825,000)
(7,458,000)

138,997,000
26,604,000
100,970,000

2009

3,819,000
(21,453,000)
(32,600,000)
(52,058,000)

914,000
0.04
23,031,830

$
$
$
$

$
$

4,686,000
(4,391,000)
1,258,000
(3,131,000)

157,252,000
38,884,000
115,155,000

$
$
$

2009

165,104,000
45,626,000
116,484,000
2008

$
$
$
$

5,016,000
(2,440,000)
988,000
(1,455,000)

(0.19) $
0.05 $
(0.14) $

(0.43) $
0.08 $
(0.35) $

(0.11)
0.04
(0.107)

2,302,000 $
(3,740,000) $
(15,221,000) $

2,888,000 $
(10,708,000) $
212,000 $

2,541,000
(11,973,000)
29,065,000

10,211,000
0.45
22,921,142

$
$
$
$

2008

$
$

5,553,000
(9,949,000)
1,838,000
(8,103,000)

10,644,000
0.48
21,806,219

$
$

7,269,000
0.47
14,241,215

Basic and diluted loss from continuing operations per common share, basic and diluted (loss) income from discontinued operations per common share,
and basic and diluted net loss per common share are based upon the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding. All per-share
computations have been adjusted to reflect the common stock dividends for all periods presented.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. See
also the “Special Note about Forward-Looking Statements” preceding Item 1 of this report.
Overview
Market Outlook — Real Estate and Real Estate Finance Markets
Despite an increase of new home construction and positive gains in the stock markets in 2012, the U.S. economy remains fragile. Housing has a long way to go
before recovery to the pre-recession levels, many homeowners continue to be underwater, unemployment continues to be high and the U.S. government continues
to deficit spend. The difficulty of accessing capital previously experienced is slowly subsiding, but concern about credit risk, the sluggishness of the U.S.
economy and the impact of Europe’s debt issues to our and the global economies continues. These concerns continue to unfavorably impact real estate demand,
particularly our industrial product type and, if they continue, we may experience more vacancies, reduced rental rates, increase in rental concessions to existing
and new tenants, including free rent which decreases cash flows from operations.
Until market conditions are more stable, we expect to continue to limit capital expenditures, focusing on those capital expenditures that preserve value and/or
generate rental revenue. However, if we experience an increase in vacancies, we may incur costs to improve our property, pay leasing commissions for leasing
our unit space at the properties and provide for rental concessions.
In contrast, senior housing remained resilient during the economic recession. Some of the largest REITs in the U.S., are health care REITs. Senior housing and
care market carries an approximate value of $270 billion and growing. Throughout the U.S., there are just over 22,000 Independent Living, Assisted Living and
Skilled Nursing facilities.
Throughout the economic recession, senior housing occupancy held up well when compared to Apartment, Office, Retail, Industrial and Hotels. Key demand
drivers for senior housing include the strengthening demographics which include the growing number of baby boomers, a better understanding and acceptance of
residents and senior housing as an alternative, more and more potential residents can afford senior housing and have more affluence. Residents are living longer
and have better healthcare. Fewer family care givers are available and residents have no other alternative. It is forecasted that demographics will remain strong for
decades.
Senior housing average cap rates tend to be higher than other asset classes, which improves returns on investment. During the recession, debt was less available.
Currently, there are several lenders in the senior housing market with attractive rates and leverage. Sources of debt include high yield bonds, insurance
companies, commercial finance companies, commercial banks, Department of Housing & Urban Development (HUD), Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac have nearly $20 billion in total outstanding senior housing loans (Assisted Living and Independent Living).
In general, with experienced, quality operators mitigating risks associated with senior housing, the senior housing market has a strong outlook for market
fundamentals and provides solid and relatively stable returns.
Results of Operations
During 2012, we owned nine industrial properties for the full year and acquired five healthcare properties, two of which we owned for five months, two of which
we owned for three and one-half months and one property we held for less than one-half month. During 2011, we owned nine properties for a full year, one
property for five and one-half months, two properties for eleven months, and one property for eleven and one-half months. The properties sold in 2011 were
Goldenwest in June 2011 for gross proceeds of approximately $9.4 million, Mack Deer Valley and Pinnacle Park Business Center properties in November 2011
for gross proceeds of approximately $23.9 million and the 2111 South Industrial Park in December 2011 for gross proceeds of $0.9 million. During 2010, we
owned twelve properties for a full year and one property for five months. Accordingly, the results of our operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010 have fluctuated as a result of property acquisitions and dispositions.
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In May 2008, we agreed to loan up to $10.0 million at a rate of 10% per year to two real estate operating companies, Servant Investments, LLC and Servant
Healthcare Investments, LLC (collectively, “Servant”). In May 2010, the loan commitments were reduced to $8.75 million. The loans were scheduled to mature
on May 19, 2013. At the time the loans were negotiated, Servant was an advisor to an affiliate of the managing member of our Advisor. On a quarterly basis, we
evaluate the collectability of our notes receivable. Our evaluation of collectability involves judgment, estimates, and a review of the underlying collateral and
borrower’s business models and future cash flows from operations. During the third quarter of 2009, we concluded that the collectability of the Servant
Investments, LLC (“Servant Investments”) note could not be reasonably assured. Therefore, we recorded a reserve of $4.6 million against the note balance. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Servant Investments note receivable had a net balance of $0. It is our policy to recognize interest income on the reserved loan
on a cash basis. In the second quarter of 2011, after evaluating the expected effects of changes in the borrower’s business prospects, including the uncertainty
surrounding Servant’s realization of the fees pursuant to the sub-advisory agreement, we concluded that it was probable that the Company would be unable to
collect all amounts due according to the terms of the Servant Healthcare, LLC (“Servant Healthcare”) note and consequently, we recorded a note receivable
impairment of $1.7 million against the balance of that note.
In December 2011, the notes receivable were restructured to provide for the settlement of the notes in the amount of $2.5 million, $1.5 million of which was
received from the borrower in December 2011. The remaining $1.0 million is payable pursuant to a promissory note providing for interest at a fixed rate of
5.00% per annum. Interest payments are due monthly and have been paid timely. A principal payment of $0.7 million, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, is
due on December 22, 2013 and the remaining balance of $0.3 million, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, is due on December 22, 2014. The note receivable
was recorded at its present value of $0.9 million on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011 and 2012.
On December 14, 2009, we made a participating first mortgage loan commitment of $8.0 million to Nantucket Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company managed by Cornerstone Ventures Inc., an affiliate of our Advisor, in connection with Nantucket Acquisition’s purchase of a 60-unit senior living
community known as Sherburne Commons located on the island of Nantucket, MA. The loan matures on January 1, 2015, with no option to extend and bears
interest at a fixed rate of 8.0% for the term of the loan. Interest is to be paid monthly with principal due at maturity. In addition, under the terms of the loan, we
are entitled to receive additional interest in the form of a 40% participation in the “shared appreciation” of the property, which is calculated based on the net sales
proceeds if the property is sold, or the property’s appraised value, less ordinary disposition costs, if the property has not been sold by the time the loan matures.
Prepayment of the loan is not permitted without our consent and the loan is not assumable. We determined at the time of the investment that Nantucket
Acquisition LLC was a variable interest entity (“VIE”). Leasing activity at Sherburne Commons has been lower than originally anticipated and to preserve cash
flow for operating requirements, the borrower suspended interest payments to us beginning in the first quarter of 2011. Consequently, we issued a notice of
default to the borrower on June 30, 2011. As a result of these developments, we determined that we were the primary beneficiary of the VIE. Therefore, we began
consolidating the operations of Nantucket Acquisition LLC as of June 30, 2011.
Prior to the third quarter of 2011, we operated in one reportable segment: Industrial. As of September 30, 2011, we operated in two reportable business segments
for management and internal financial reporting purposes: Industrial and Senior Housing. These operating segments represent the segments for which separate
financial information is available and for which operating results are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance. Our Senior Housing segment consisted solely of the operations of the Sherburne Commons property (see Note 10 to the
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
In October 2011, we reclassified the Sherburne Commons property as held for sale (see Note 16 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements) and the results of its operations have been reported in discontinued operations. Therefore, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011, we
reported our operations under one reportable segment: Industrial. Our Industrial segment consists of nine multi-tenant industrial properties offering a combination
of warehouse and office space adaptable to a broad range of tenants and uses typically catering to local and regional businesses (see Note 4 to the accompanying
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
During 2012, we acquired five healthcare properties resulting in us now having two reportable business segments for management and internal financial reporting
purposes: Industrial and Healthcare. These operating segments represent the segments for which separate financial information is available and for which
operating results are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our
Healthcare segment consists of four a skilled nursing facilities and one memory care facility.
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Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2011

2012
Net operating income, as defined (1)
Industrial properties
Healthcare properties
Total portfolio net operating income(1)
Reconciliation to net loss:
Net operating income, as defined (1)
Unallocated (expenses) income:
Interest income from notes receivable
General and administrative
Asset management fees and expenses
Real estate acquisition costs
Depreciation and amortization
Reserve for excess advisor obligation
Impairment of notes receivable
Impairment of real estate
Interest expense, net
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net loss
Noncontrolling interests’ share in losses
Net loss applicable to common shares

$

$

Years Ended
December 31,

2,290,000
1,190,000
3,480,000

$

2011

$ Change

2,203,000
—
2,203,000

$

% Change

87,000
1,190,000
1,277,000

3.9%
N/A
58.0%

3,480,000

2,203,000

1,277,000

58.0%

52,000
(3,564,000)
(971,000)
(947,000)
(1,713,000)
(863,000)
—
—
(1,183,000)
(5,709,000)
(2,825,000)
(8,534,000)
1,076,000
(7,458,000)

416,000
(2,834,000)
(1,489,000)
—
(1,460,000)
—
(1,442,000)
(15,268,000)
(1,579,000)
(21,453,000)
(32,600,000)
(54,053,000)
1,995,000
(52,058,000)

(364,000)
(730,000)
518,000
(947,000)
(253,000)
(863,000)
1,442,000
15,268,000
396,000
15,744,000
29,775,000
45,519,000
(919,000)
44,600,000

(87.5%)
25.8%
(34.8%)
N/A
17.3%
N/A
100%
100%
(25.1%)
(73.4%)
(91.3%)
(84.2%)
(46.1%)
(85.7%)

$

$

(1) Net operating income (“NOI”) is a non-GAAP supplemental measure used to evaluate the operating performance of real estate properties. We define NOI as
total rental revenues, tenant reimbursements and other income less property operating and maintenance expenses. NOI excludes interest income from notes
receivable, general and administrative expense, asset management fees and expenses, real estate acquisition costs, depreciation and amortization,
impairments, interest income, interest expense, and income from discontinued operations. We believe NOI provides investors relevant and useful information
because it measures the operating performance of the REIT’s real estate at the property level on an unleveraged basis. We use NOI to make decisions about
resource allocations and to assess and compare property-level performance. We believe that net income (loss) is the most directly comparable GAAP
measure to NOI. NOI should not be viewed as an alternative measure of operating performance to net income (loss) as defined by GAAP since it does not
reflect the aforementioned excluded items. Additionally, NOI as we define it may not be comparable to NOI as defined by other REITs or companies, as they
may use different methodologies for calculating NOI. See Note 17 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary table
reconciling NOI to net loss.
Industrial Properties
Total rental revenue for industrial properties includes rental revenues, tenant reimbursements and other income. Property operating and maintenance expenses
include insurance, property taxes, repairs and maintenance and other operating expenses. Net operating income increased to approximately $2.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012 from approximately $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase is primarily due to lower operating
expenses for property taxes and collections costs.
Years Ended
December 31,
2012
Industrial Properties — Net operating income
Total revenues
Rental revenues
Tenant reimbursements and other income
Less:
Property operating and maintenance expenses
Total portfolio net operating income

$

2011

2,715,000
686,000

$

(1,111,000)
$

2,290,000

$ Change

2,744,000
659,000

$

(1,200,000)
$

2,203,000

$

% Change

(29,000)
27,000

(1.1%)
4.1%

89,000

(7.4%)

87,000

3.9%

Healthcare Properties
Total rental revenue for healthcare properties includes rental revenues and tenant reimbursements. Property operating and maintenance expenses include
insurance, property taxes and other operating expenses. Net operating income increased to approximately $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
from $0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily due to us entering this business segment with our healthcare acquisitions in the second half of
2012.
Years Ended
December 31,
2012
Healthcare Properties — Net operating income
Total revenues
Rental revenues
Tenant reimbursements and other income
Less:
Property operating and maintenance expenses
Total portfolio net operating income

$

1,222,000
65,000

2011
$

(97,000)
$

1,190,000
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$ Change
—
—

$

(97,000)

—
$

—

1,222,000
65,000

$

1,190,000

% Change
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Unallocated (expenses) income
Interest income from notes receivable decreased to $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011.
The decrease is primarily due to the Servant’s forbearance settlement resulting in a $1.5 million principal payment in December 2011 which lowered 2012
average outstanding loan balance and one’s month interest payment in 2011 versus $0 related to the related party loan from Nantucket Acquisition LLC.
General and administrative expense was $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, respectively.
The increase was primarily due to increases in professional fees of $0.1 million, advisor expense allocations of $0.5 million, and insurance expense of $0.1
million.
Asset management fees decreased to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The lower
asset management fees are due to the sale of four properties in 2011 combined with a reduction in the annual asset management fee basis from 1.0% to 0.75% of
the Average Invested Assets (as defined in the Advisory Agreement) offset by Healthcare acquisitions of Portland, Friendswood, Tigard and Medford.
Real estate acquisition costs increased to $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $0 for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase is
primarily due to Healthcare acquisition of the Sheridan Care Center, Fern Hill Care Center, Farmington Square, Friendswood Haven Healthcare and
Rehabilitation Center and Pacific Health and Rehabilitation Center properties.
Depreciation and amortization increased to approximately $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from approximately $1.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011, primarily due to the Portland, Friendswood, Tigard and Medford acquisitions in 2012.
Reserve for excess advisor obligation represents organizational and offering costs incurred in excess of 3.5% limitation of the gross proceeds from our follow-on
offering which terminated on June 10, 2012 (See Note 13 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Our Advisory Agreement provides
that the Advisor will reimburse any excess. Consequently, we recorded a receivable for the excess of $1.0 million which we fully reserved for as of June 30, 2012
based on our evaluation of the Advisor’s inability to repay at that time. As of December 31, 2012, we reduced our reserve by approximately $0.1 million as it
became probable that we would collect this amount in early 2013.
Impairment of notes receivable was $0 for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. This decrease is
attributed to the Servant Healthcare Investments, LLC (“SHI”) note receivable that was determined to be impaired by approximately $1.6 million in the second
quarter of 2011, partially offset by a $0.2 million reversal of the valuation reserve as a result of executing a settlement agreement with SHI and Servant
Investments, LLC in the fourth quarter of 2011.
Impairment of real estate was $0 for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $15.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 as a result of using
shorter holding periods when estimating whether the carrying value of the properties was recoverable. The use of shorter hold periods reduced our future
(undiscounted) cash flows attributable to the properties. Consequently, we adjusted certain properties to their estimated fair values resulting in an impairment
charge of $15.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011.
Interest expense decreased to $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, primarily due to the
higher financing costs and interest rates incurred in 2011 as a result of extending the HSH Nordbank and Wells Fargo Bank loan agreements combined with a
higher overall debt balance in 2011 compared to 2012 as the HSH loan was paid off at the end of 2011 and the Wells Fargo loan was paid down by $7.5 million.
The loss from discontinued operations represents the results of operations for properties sold or classified as held for sale in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360, Property, Plant and Equipment. Additionally, all prior periods presented for these
properties were reclassified to discontinued operations for presentation purposes. During 2011, we sold our 15172 Goldenwest Circle, Mack Deer Valley,
Pinnacle Park Business Center, and 2111 South Industrial Park properties to non-related third parties and classified our VIE as held for sale. In the 4th quarter of
2012, Western and OSB Carter were classified as held for sale. Loss from discontinued operations was $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to loss from discontinued operations of $32.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The net change is primarily due to $2.1 million of
impairments and $0.7 million of loss from discontinued operations, excluding impairments, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $33.3 million of
impairments offset by $0.7 million of income from discontinued operations, excluding impairments, for the year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease in
income from discontinued operations is primarily due to the results of operations from the 2011 property sales not being reflected in 2012.
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010
Years Ended
December 31,
2011
Net operating income, as defined (1)
Industrial properties
Healthcare properties
Total portfolio net operating income (1)
Reconciliation to net loss:
Net operating income, as defined (1)
Unallocated (expenses) income:
Interest income from notes receivable
General and administrative
Asset management fees and expenses
Real estate acquisition costs
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of notes receivable
Impairment of real estate
Interest expense, net
Loss from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Noncontrolling interests’ share in losses
Net loss applicable to common shares

(1)

$

$

$ Change

2010

2,203,000
—
2,203,000

$

2,041,000
—
2,041,000

2,203,000

2,041,000

416,000
(2,834,000)
(1,489,000)
—
(1,460,000)
(1,442,000)
(15,268,000)
(1,579,000)
(21,453,000)
(32,600,000)
(54,053,000)
1,995,000
(52,058,000)

1,389,000
(2,163,000)
(1,654,000)
(52,000)
(1,656,000)
—
(1,250,000)
(1,046,000)
(4,391,000)
1,258,000
(3,133,000)
2,000
(3,131,000)

$

$

$

% Change

162,000
—
162,000

7.9%
N/A
7.9%

162,000

7.9%

(973,000)
(671,000)
165,000
52,000
196,000
(1,442,000)
(14,018,000)
(533,000)
(17,062,000)
(33,858,000)
(50,920,000)
1,993,000
(48,927,000)

(70.1%)
31.0%
(10.0%)
(100.0%)
(11.8%)
(100.0%)
1,121.4%
51.0%
388.6%
(2,691.4%)
1625.3%
99,650.0%
1,562.7%

Net operating income (“NOI”) is a non-GAAP supplemental measure used to evaluate the operating performance of real estate properties. We define NOI
as total rental revenues, tenant reimbursements and other income less property operating and maintenance expenses. NOI excludes interest income from
notes receivable, general and administrative expense, asset management fees and expenses, real estate acquisition costs, depreciation and amortization,
impairments, interest income, interest expense, and income from discontinued operations. We believe NOI provides investors relevant and useful
information because it measures the operating performance of the REIT’s real estate at the property level on an unleveraged basis. We use NOI to make
decisions about resource allocations and to assess and compare property-level performance. We believe that net income (loss) is the most directly
comparable GAAP measure to NOI. NOI should not be viewed as an alternative measure of operating performance to net income (loss) as defined by
GAAP since it does not reflect the aforementioned excluded items. Additionally, NOI as we define it may not be comparable to NOI as defined by other
REITs or companies, as they may use different methodologies for calculating NOI. See Note 17 for a summary table reconciling NOI from net loss.

Industrial Properties
Total rental revenue for industrial properties includes rental revenues, tenant reimbursements and other income. Property operating and maintenance expenses
include insurance, property taxes, repairs and maintenance and other operating expenses reimbursed by our tenants. Net operating income increased to
approximately $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from approximately $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase is due to
minor increase in revenues resulting from slightly higher occupancy rates partially offset by lower average lease rental rates and longer lease-up periods for
vacant units and lower operating expenses resulting from bad debt recoveries and lower collection fees in 2011 versus 2010.
Years Ended
December 31,
2011
Industrial Properties — Net operating income
Total revenues
Rental revenue
Tenant reimbursement and other income
Less:
Property operating and maintenance expenses
Total portfolio net operating income

$

2,744,000
659,000

2010
$

(1,200,000)
$

2,203,000

2,684,000
613,000

$ Change
$

(1,256,000)
$

2,041,000

$

% Change

60,000
46,000

2.2%
7.5%

56,000

(4.5%)

162,000

7.9%

Healthcare Properties
All of our healthcare properties were acquired in 2012.
Unallocated (expenses) income
Interest income from notes receivable decreased to $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.
The decrease is due to non-payment of interest on a note receivable from Servant Investments, LLC and the note receivable from related party from Nantucket
Acquisition LLC.
General and administrative expense was $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 and $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, respectively.
The increase was primarily due to increased legal fees, audit fees, professional fees, advisor expense allocations, and insurance expense.
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Asset management fees decreased to $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The lower
asset management fees are due to the sale of four properties in 2011 combined with a reduction in the annual asset management fee basis from 1.0% to 0.75% of
the Average Invested Assets (as defined in the Advisory Agreement).
Real estate acquisition costs decreased to $0 for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $52,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010. Acquisition fees are
external costs incurred to acquire an investment in real estate and/or incurred based on proceeds raised in our public offering. The decrease is a result of
suspending our public offering in November 2010 and the acquisition costs of the 1830 Santa Fe property in the third quarter of 2010.
Depreciation and amortization decreased to approximately $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from approximately $1.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010, largely as a result of property impairments recorded during 2010 and in the second quarter of 2011.
Impairment of notes receivable increased to $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $0 for the year ended December 31, 2010. This increase is
attributed to the Servant Healthcare Investments, LLC (“SHI”) note receivable that was determined to be impaired by approximately $1.7 million in the second
quarter of 2011, partially offset by a $0.2 million write-up as a result of executing a settlement agreement with SHI and Servant Investments, LLC in the fourth
quarter of 2011.
Impairment of real estate increased to $15.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 as a result of
the continued negative impact of economic conditions on our real estate investments.
Interest expense increased to $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, due primarily to
financing costs incurred as a result of amending and extending the HSH Nordbank credit agreement and the Wells Fargo Bank loan agreement during 2011,
combined with higher interest rates on both facilities.
The (loss) income from discontinued operations represents the results of operations for properties sold or classified as held for sale in accordance with ASC
360, Property, Plant and Equipment. Additionally, all prior periods presented for these properties were reclassified to discontinued operations for presentation
purposes. During 2011, we sold our 15172 Goldenwest Circle, Mack Deer Valley, Pinnacle Park Business Center, and 2111 South Industrial Park properties to
third parties and classified our VIE as held for sale. Loss from discontinued operations was $32.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to
income from discontinued operations of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The net change is primarily due to $33.3 million of impairments
offset by $0.7 million of income from discontinued operations, excluding impairments, for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $0.8 million of
impairments offset by $2.0 million of income from discontinued operations, excluding impairments, for the year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in
income from discontinued operations is primarily due to a lower overall annual average vacancy in 2011 compared to 2010 which resulted in lower revenue.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
On November 23, 2010, our board of directors made a decision to stop making or accepting offers to purchase shares of our stock in our follow-on offering while
evaluating strategic alternatives to maximize value and preserve the capital of our stockholders. As a result of this decision, we expect our primary sources of cash
to be rental revenues, tenant reimbursements, interest income, the sale of properties and additional financing or refinancing of debt. We expect our primary uses
of cash to be for acquisitions of healthcare properties, the repayment of principal on notes payable, payment of tenant improvements, leasing commissions,
operating expenses, interest expense on outstanding indebtedness, advances to our VIE to fund operating shortfalls, and cash distributions. Operating expenses are
expected to exceed operating revenues over the next twelve months. We plan to fund this operating shortfall from available cash and the net proceeds from
property sales.
On January 6, 2006, we commenced our initial public offering of up to 55,400,000 shares of our common stock, consisting of 44,400,000 shares for sale pursuant
to a primary offering and 11,000,000 shares for sale pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. We stopped making offers under our initial public offering on
June 1, 2009. On June 10, 2009, we commenced our follow-on offering of up to 77,350,000 shares of our common stock, consisting of 56,250,000 shares for sale
pursuant to a primary offering and 21,100,000 shares for sale pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan. As of December 31, 2012, a total of approximately
20.9 million shares of our common stock had been sold in our combined offerings for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $167.1 million. Our board of
directors is currently evaluating strategic alternatives for our follow-on offering, but we do not expect our follow-on offering to be a material source of capital
until such evaluation is completed.
As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately $1.0 million in cash and cash equivalents on hand.
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Credit Facilities and Loan Agreements
As of December 31, 2012, we had debt obligations of approximately $50.3 million. The outstanding balance by loan agreement is as follows - Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association (“Wells Fargo Bank”) approximately $6.5 million maturing February 2014, Transamerica Life Insurance (“Transamerica”) approximately
$6.4 million maturing November 2014, GE Capital – Healthcare approximately $28.5 million maturing September 2017 and GE Capital – approximately $8.9
million which was paid-off in January 2013. The terms of our loan agreements are discussed in detail herein under the Other Liquidity Needs caption.
Short Term Liquidity Requirements
In addition to the capital requirements for recurring capital expenditures, tenant improvements and leasing commissions, we may have to incur expenditures for
renovations of our properties, such as increasing the size of the properties by developing additional rentable square feet and/or making the space more appealing
to potential industrial tenants.
We sold three properties in the fourth quarter of 2011. The funds were used to pay down debt, refinance existing debt and acquire five properties in 2012. As of
December 31, 2012, we have two industrial properties and Sherburne Commons, held in the Nantucket VIE, listed for sale and committed to purchase one
healthcare property (see “Subsequent Event” footnote). We continue to pursue options for repaying and/or refinancing debt obligations, including our asset sales.
We believe that our cash and cash equivalents totaling $1.0 million as of December 31, 2012 combined with the proceeds of our Western Avenue and Carter
property sales in January 2013 will allow us to meet our obligations during the twelve months ending December 31, 2013. We expect to fund our short-term
liquidity requirements primarily from available cash and future net sales proceeds.
Distributions
Effective December 1, 2010, our board of directors resolved to reduce distributions on our common stock to a current annualized rate of $0.08 per share (1%
based on a share price of $8.00), from the prior annualized rate of $0.48 per share (6% based on a share price of $8.00), in order to preserve capital that may be
needed for capital improvements, debt repayment or other corporate purposes. Distributions at this rate were declared for the first and second quarters of 2011. In
June 2011, the board decided, based on the financial position of the Company, to suspend the declaration of further distributions and to defer the payment of the
second quarter 2011 distribution, which was paid in December 2011. No distributions have been declared for periods after June 30, 2011. The rate and frequency
of distributions is subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may change from time to time based on our operating results and cash flow.
Organization and offering costs
Organizational and offering costs of our offerings have been paid by the Advisor on our behalf and have been reimbursed to the Advisor from the proceeds of our
offerings. Organizational and offering costs consist of all expenses (other than sales commissions and the dealer manager fee) to be paid by us in connection with
our offerings, including our legal, accounting, printing, mailing and filing fees, charges of our escrow holder and other accountable offering expenses, including,
but not limited to, (i) amounts to reimburse the Advisor for all marketing related costs and expenses such as salaries and direct expenses of employees of the
Advisor and its affiliates in connection with registering and marketing our shares; (ii) technology costs associated with the offering of our shares; (iii) the costs of
conducting our training and education meetings; (iv) the costs of attending retail seminars conducted by participating broker-dealers; and (v) payment or
reimbursement of bona fide due diligence expenses.
As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Advisor and its affiliates had incurred on our behalf organizational and offering costs totaling $5.6 million,
including $0.1 million of organizational costs that were expensed and $5.5 million of offering costs which reduced net proceeds of our offerings. Of this amount,
$4.4 million reduced the net proceeds of our primary offering and $1.1 million reduced the net proceeds of our follow-on offering.
On June 10, 2012, our follow-on offering was terminated. Our Advisory Agreement provides for reimbursement to the Advisor for organizational and offering
costs in excess of 3.5% of the gross proceeds from our primary offering and follow-on offering. Under the Advisory Agreement, within 60 days after the end of
the month in which our follow-on offering terminated, the Advisor is obligated to reimburse us to the extent that the organization and offering expenses related to
our follow-on offering borne by us exceeded 3.5% of the gross proceeds of the follow-on offering. As of June 10, 2012, we had reimbursed our Advisor a total of
$1.1 million in organizational and offering costs related to our follow-on offering, of which $1.0 million was in excess of the contractual limit. Consequently, in
the second quarter of 2012, we recorded a receivable from the Advisor for $1.0 million reflecting the excess reimbursement. However, as a result of our
evaluation of various factors related to collectability of this receivable, we reserved the full amount of the receivable as of June 30, 2012. On December 31, 2012,
we reduced our reserve by $125,000 as it became probable that we would collect this amount in early 2013. The Advisor has offered a payment schedule related
to the repayment of the remainder of the excess organization and offering costs owed to us and has contemplated such repayment in its budget. Nevertheless, in
light of our ongoing repositioning and recent progress by the Advisor in building a sustainable business model, no assurances can be made as to whether
additional payments will be received. We have not assumed collection of this receivable in our financial plans and do not believe that the non-collection of this
receivable will have a material adverse effect on our long-term liquidity (see Note 13 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
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We will not rely on advances from the Advisor to acquire properties, however, affiliates of our Advisor may loan funds to special purpose entities that acquire
properties on our behalf pending our raising sufficient proceeds from our public offerings to purchase the properties from the special purpose entity.
In recent years, financial markets have experienced unusual volatility and uncertainty and liquidity has tightened in all financial markets, including the debt and
equity markets. Our ability to repay or refinance debt could be adversely affected by an inability to secure financing at reasonable terms, if at all.
Other than the financial market conditions discussed above and market conditions discussed under the caption “Market Outlook—Real Estate and Real Estate
Finance Markets,” we are not aware of any material trends or uncertainties, favorable or unfavorable, affecting real estate generally, which we anticipate may
have a material impact on either capital resources or the revenues or income to be derived from the operation of real estate properties.
Election as a REIT
We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, in 2006. Under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, we are not subject to
federal income tax on income that we distribute to our stockholders. REITs are subject to numerous organizational and operational requirements in order to avoid
taxation as a regular corporation, including a requirement that they generally distribute at least 90% of their annual ordinary taxable income to their stockholders.
If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any year, our income will be taxed at regular corporate rates, and we may be precluded from qualifying for treatment
as a REIT for the four-year period following our failure to qualify. Our failure to qualify as a REIT could result in us having a significant liability for taxes.
Other Liquidity Needs
Property Acquisitions
Our ability to purchase properties in the next twelve months is dependent on our ability to raise additional equity capital or sell existing properties and our ability
to obtain debt financing, if required. We expect to have expenditures for capital improvements, tenant improvements and leasing commissions in the next twelve
months. However, those amounts cannot be estimated at this time and we cannot assure that we will have sufficient funds to make capital expenditures at all.
Debt Service Requirements
HSH Nordbank AG
We amended our credit agreement with HSH Nordbank in a series of amendments extending the credit facility maturity date from September 20, 2010 to
December 16, 2011. As a part of these amendments, we made a principal reduction payment and paid extension fees. The July 2011 amendment to this credit
agreement extended the maturity date from September 30, 2011 to December 16, 2011 and increased the margin spread over LIBOR from a range of 350 to 375
basis points to a fixed 375 basis points from June 1, 2011 to September 30, 2011 and to 400 basis points from October 1, 2011 to the maturity date. Additionally,
this amendment eliminated our requirement to make principal reduction payments of $0.3 million in July, August, and September 2011, respectively. In
connection with this extension and the sale of the Goldenwest property (see Note 14 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), we made
a principal payment of $7.8 million.
On November 28, 2011, this loan was repaid in its entirety with a portion of the proceeds from the sale of the Mack Deer Valley and Pinnacle Park Business
Center properties. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the outstanding principal amounts of our obligations under the credit agreement were $0.
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
On November 13, 2007, we entered into a loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, successor-by-merger to Wachovia Bank, N.A., to facilitate the acquisition of
properties during our offering period. The terms of the loan agreement provided for a borrowing amount of up to $22.4 million, which was reduced to $15.9
million as of November 30, 2009, at an interest rate of 140 basis points over one-month LIBOR, secured by specified real estate properties. The loan agreement
had a maturity date of November 13, 2010, and provided for prepayment without penalty. Through a series of amendments executed through June 30, 2011, we
extended the maturity date from November 13, 2010 to August 13, 2011.
On August 12, 2011, the loan agreement was amended to extend the maturity to February 13, 2012. In connection with this amendment, the 2111 South Industrial
Park property and Shoemaker Industrial Buildings were added to the loan collateral, and we made a principal payment of $0.5 million. The terms of the amended
loan provide for two one-year extensions, subject to meeting certain loan-to-value and debt service coverage ratios and require monthly principal payments.
Interest on the amended loan increased to 300 basis points over one-month LIBOR with a 150 basis point LIBOR floor.
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On December 22, 2011, in connection with the sale of the 2111 South Industrial Park property (see Note 14 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements), we made a principal payment of approximately $0.9 million.
As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we had net borrowings of approximately $6.5 million and $14.4 million under the loan agreement,
respectively. The weighted average interest rate as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was 3.66% and 2.54%, respectively. The loan agreement
contains various reporting covenants, including providing periodic balance sheets, statements of income and expenses of borrower and each guarantor, statements
of income and expenses and changes in financial position of each secured property and cash flow statements of borrower and each guarantor. On February 13,
2012, the loan agreement was amended to extend the maturity to February 13, 2014 (see Note 14 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements). The monthly payment on this loan is approximately $50,000. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all financial covenants.
Transamerica Life Insurance Company
In connection with our acquisition of Monroe North Commerce Center, on April 17, 2008, we entered into an assumption and amendment of note, mortgage and
other loan documents (the “Loan Assumption Agreement”) with Transamerica. Pursuant to the Loan Assumption Agreement, we assumed the outstanding
principal balance of approximately $7.4 million on the Transamerica secured mortgage loan. The loan matures on November 1, 2014 and bears interest at a fixed
rate of 5.89% per annum. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had an outstanding balance of $6.4 million and $6.7 million, respectively, under this loan
agreement. This Loan Assumption Agreement contains various reporting covenants including an annual income statement, rent roll, operating budget and a
narrative summary of leasing prospects for vacant spaces. As of December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with all reporting covenants. The monthly payment
on this loan is approximately $50,000.
Seller Loan
On August 1, 2012, we entered into a loan agreement with the sellers, Sheridan Care Center LLC, Sheridan Properties LLC, Fernhill Estates LLC, and Fernhill
Properties LLC, for a loan (the “Seller Loan”) in the aggregate amount of approximately $5.8 million secured by security interests in the Fernhill and Sheridan
properties. The Seller Loan, which bears interest fixed at 5.0%, was scheduled to mature on March 15, 2013, at which time all outstanding principal, accrued and
unpaid interest and any other amounts due under the loan agreement will become due. The Seller Loan was interest-only and could be voluntarily prepaid in its
entirety prior to the maturity date without penalty. Interest payments on the Seller Loan are due monthly. The principal balance of the Seller Loan was paid off in
full on September 14, 2012 with the proceeds of the GE Healthcare Loan. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, we incurred $23,000 of interest
expense related to this Seller Loan.
General Electric Capital Corporation – Healthcare Properties
On September 13, 2012, we entered into a loan agreement with the GE Healthcare Loan for a loan in the aggregate amount of approximately $16.5 million
secured by security interests in the Medford Facility and Galveston Facility. Additionally, we used part of the loan proceeds to repay the entire principal balance
of the Seller Loan of $5.8 million. Consequently, the GE Healthcare Loan is secured, in part, by the Portland Properties. On December 21, 2012, we amended the
loan agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation entered into on September 13, 2012 for an additional loan in the amount of $6.15 million secured by
our acquisition of the Pacific property. The loan bears interest at LIBOR, with a floor of 50 basis points, plus a spread of 4.50%, and matures on September 12,
2017, at which time all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts due under the loan agreement will become due. The GE
Healthcare Loan is interest-only for the first twelve months (known as the “lockout period”) and a combination of principal and interest thereafter. The loan may
be voluntarily prepaid during lockout period provided the borrower pays a penalty equal to the sum of the LIBOR Breakage Amount, as defined in the, GE
Healthcare Loan Agreement and two percent of the outstanding balance of the loan. The GE Healthcare Loan may be prepaid with no penalty after the expiration
of the lockout period. Interest payments on the GE Healthcare Loan are due monthly. After the lockout period, principal and interest payments are due on
monthly based on a 25 year amortization schedule. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all covenants. The monthly payment on this GE
Healthcare Loan is approximately $0.1 million. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, we incurred $361,000 of interest expense related to this
loan agreement.
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General Electric Capital Corporation – Western Property
On September 7, 2012, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, we entered into a loan agreement (the “Western Loan”) with General Electric Capital Corporation for
a loan in the aggregate amount of approximately $8.9 million, net of certain lender holdbacks, secured by a security interest in the 20100 Western Avenue
property. The Western Loan, which bears interest at LIBOR plus 4.30%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.25%, matures on September 30, 2014, at which time all
outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts due under the loan will become due. The Company has the option to extend the term of
the loan for one additional 12-month period. The Western Loan is interest only through November 1, 2013, at which time it begins amortizing over a 30-year
period. The Western Loan may be voluntarily prepaid in its entirety during the first year of the loan term subject to a prepayment penalty equal to the Spread
Maintenance Amount, as defined in the loan agreement, plus the LIBOR Breakage Amount, as defined in the loan agreement. Subsequent to the first year of the
loan term, the loan may be voluntarily prepaid in its entirety subject to a prepayment penalty equal to the Libor Breakage Amount. We paid certain customary
financing fees from the proceeds of the Western Loan, and an exit fee of $96,200 is payable to the lender upon the earlier of the maturity of the loan or repayment
of the Western Loan in full. In connection with this loan, we entered into an interest swap agreement. The fair value and any change in fair value are considered
immaterial. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all reporting covenants. On January 23, 2013, this loan was paid off with the sale of our
Western property. The monthly payment on this Western Loan was approximately $36,000. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, we incurred
$134,000 of interest expense related to this loan agreement.
Contractual Obligations
The following table reflects our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2012:

Contractual Obligations
Notes payable (1)
Interest expense related to long term debt (2)
Below-market ground lease (3)(4)
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)

$
$
$

Total
50,294,000
7,546,000
3,609,000

$
$
$

Payment due by period
Less than
1 year
1-3 years
10,232,000 $
12,962,000 $
2,013,000 $
4,578,000 $
— $
39,000 $

4-5 years
27,100,000
955,000
109,000

More than
5 years
$
$
$

—
—
3,461,000

This represents the sum of loan agreements with Wells Fargo Bank and Transamerica Life Insurance Company.
Interest expense related to the loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association is calculated based on the loan balance outstanding at
December 31, 2011, one-month LIBOR at December 31, 2011, with a 150 basis point LIBOR floor, plus a margin of 300 basis points. Interest expense
related to loan agreement with Transamerica Life Insurance Company is based on a fixed rate of 5.89% per annum.
The below-market ground lease relates to the Sherburne Commons property, a VIE for which we were deemed to be the primary beneficiary and began
consolidating as of June 30, 2011. As of October 19, 2011, the Sherburne Commons property met the requirements for reclassification to real estate held for
sale. Consequently, at December 31, 2011, the related assets and liabilities of the VIE are classified as assets of variable interest entity held for sale and
liabilities of variable interest entity held for sale, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheets. We expect the sale to close in the third quarter of 2013 or
shortly thereafter.
The below-market ground lease is a 50-year lease expiring in 2059 relating to land on which the Sherburne Commons senior-housing facility is located. The
land is leased from the town of Nantucket, Massachusetts with lease payments totaling $1 per year for years one through four, one-half of one percent of
operating revenues, as defined in the ground lease, for years five through seven, and one percent of operating revenues, as defined in the ground lease,
thereafter.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements or obligations (including contingent obligations) that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or
future material effect on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
Inflation
Although the real estate market has not been affected significantly by inflation in recent years due to the relatively low inflation rate, we expect that the majority
of our tenant leases will include provisions that would protect us to some extent from the impact of inflation. Where possible, our leases will include provisions
for rent escalations and partial reimbursement to us of expenses. Our ability to include provisions in the leases that protect us against inflation is subject to
competitive conditions that vary from market to market.
Subsequent Events
On January 23, 2013, we sold the 20100 Western Avenue property to MMB Management, LLC, a non-related third party, for a sale price of approximately $17.6
million. We used $8.9 million of the proceeds to pay off the GE loan related to the property. The property is located at 20100 Western Avenue, Torrance,
California and is 116,433 square feet industrial building which was acquired in December 2006.
54

On January 28, 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement for the sale of a portion of our Marathon property for $1.3 million in cash. The transaction is
scheduled to close in May 2013.
On January 30, 2013, we sold our Carter Commerce Center property to Carter Commerce Center, LLC, a non-related third party, for a sale price of approximately
$1.7 million. We used $0.6 million of the proceeds to pay down the Well Fargo loan related to the property. The property, located at 890 Carter Road, Orlando,
Florida, is a 49,125 square feet industrial building acquired in November 2007.
On January 31, 2013, we acquired, through CHP LLC, the Danby House, an assisted living and memory care facility located in Winston-Salem, North Carolina
for $9.7 million in cash. Danby House is located at 3150 Burke Mill Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, with an operational capacity of 99 beds and is leased
to Danby House, LLC, the current operator of the facility, pursuant to an initial 10 year long-term triple-net lease with a lessee option to renew for two additional
five-year periods. As of the filing of this Annual Report, the Company is working to finalize the purchase accounting treatment related to this acquisition.
On March 11, 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement for the sale of a portion of one of our Shoemaker Industrial Buildings for $0.5 million in cash.
The transaction is scheduled to close in May 2013.
Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. We believe that our critical accounting policies are those that require significant judgments and estimates such as those related to real estate purchase
price allocation, evaluation of possible impairment of real property assets, revenue recognition and valuation of receivables, income taxes, notes receivable and
uncertain tax positions. These estimates are made and evaluated on an on-going basis using information that is currently available as well as various other
assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could vary from those estimates, perhaps in material adverse ways, and those
estimates could be different under different assumptions or conditions. Our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
Investments in Real Estate
Upon acquisition of a property, we allocate the purchase price of the property based upon the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which
generally consist of land, buildings, site improvements, furniture and fixtures and intangible lease assets or liabilities, including in-place leases, above-market and
below-market leases. We allocate the purchase price to the fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property by valuing the property as if it were vacant.
We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable assets. We consider the period of future benefit of the assets to determine
the appropriate useful lives. Depreciation of our assets is being charged to expense on a straight-line basis over the assigned useful lives. We depreciate the fair
value allocated to building and improvements over estimated useful lives ranging from 15 to 39 years.
We estimate the value of furniture and fixtures based on the assets’ depreciated replacement cost. We depreciate the fair value allocated to furniture and fixtures
over estimated useful lives ranging from three to six years.
In-place lease values are calculated based on management’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease. In-place leases are amortized over the
remaining non-cancellable terms of the respective leases.
Acquired above- and below-market leases are valued based on the present value of the difference between prevailing market rates and the in-place rates over the
remaining lease terms. The value of acquired above- and below-market leases is amortized over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases as an
adjustment to rental revenue on our consolidated statements of operations. Our policy is to consider any bargain periods in the calculation of fair value of belowmarket leases and to amortize below-market leases over the remaining non-cancelable lease term plus any bargain renewal periods in accordance with ASC 840,
Leases, as determined by the Company’s management at the time it acquires real property with an in-place lease. The renewal option rates for our acquired leases
do not include any fixed-rate options and, instead, contain renewal options that are based on fair value terms at the time of renewal. Accordingly, no fixed-rate
renewal options were included in the fair value of below-market leases acquired and the amortization period is based on the acquired non-cancelable lease term.
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We amortize the value of in-place leases and above- and below-market leases over the initial term of the respective leases. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the
unamortized portion of the above- or below-market lease value will be charged to revenues. If a lease is terminated prior to its expiration, the unamortized portion
of the tenant improvements, intangible lease assets or liabilities and the in-place lease value will be immediately charged to expense. Should a significant tenant
terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of intangible assets or liabilities of above- and below-market leases will be charged
to revenue.
Impairment of Real Estate Assets
In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we conduct a comprehensive review of our real estate assets for impairment. ASC 360 requires
that asset values be analyzed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a property may not be fully recoverable. Indicators
of potential impairment include the following:
•

Change in strategy resulting in a decreased holding period;

•

Decreased occupancy levels;

•

Deterioration of the rental market as evidenced by rent decreases over numerous quarters;

•

Properties adjacent to or located in the same submarket as those with recent impairment issues;

•

Significant decrease in market price; and/or

•

Tenant financial problems.

The intended use of an asset, either held for sale or held for the long term, can significantly impact how impairment is measured. If an asset is intended to be held
for the long term, the impairment analysis is based on a two-step test. The first test measures estimated expected future cash flows over the holding period,
including a residual value (undiscounted and without interest charges), against the carrying value of the property. If the asset fails that test, the asset’s carrying
value is compared to the estimated fair value from a market participant standpoint, with the excess of the asset’s carrying value over the estimated fair value
recognized as an impairment charge to earnings. While we recorded no impairment charges as of December 31, 2012 for properties held and used, we performed
Step 1 tests on six of our industrial properties, primarily due to lower than projected occupancy levels. None of these properties required a Step 2 test. Valuation
methodologies, particularly those relying on cash flow estimates, are sensitive to inputs and can subject such impairment analyses to variability.
In the second quarter of 2011, we reviewed the impairment indicators as described above. At that time, our board of directors began evaluating strategic
alternatives to maximize shareholder value, and therefore, we believed that our properties could potentially have shorter holding periods than previously planned
in past reporting periods when estimating whether the carrying value of the properties was recoverable. The use of shorter hold periods reduced our future
(undiscounted) cash flows attributable to the properties. Consequently, we were required to adjust certain properties to their estimated fair values resulting in an
impairment charge of $14.9 million, which is classified as impairment of real estate on our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
2011. If our holding period or other assumptions change, additional properties could require additional testing and could result in additional impairment charges
in future periods.
In the third quarter of 2011, we noted an increase in uncollected rent payments at the 1830 Santa Fe property. The corresponding reduction in our undiscounted
cash flow forecasts caused us to fail the first step of our impairment test. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment of $0.4 million related to this property which is
classified as impairment of real estate on our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
The fair value of the properties was derived using an income approach primarily utilizing Level 3 inputs. This approach estimates fair value based on expected
future cash flows and requires us to estimate, among other things, (1) future market rental income amounts subsequent to the expiration of current lease
agreements, (2) property operating expenses, (3) risk-adjusted rate of return and capitalization rates, (4) the number of months it is expected to take to re-lease the
property, and (5) the number of years the property is expected to be held for investment. A change in any one or more of these factors could materially impact
whether a property is impaired as of any given valuation date. When available, current market information, such as comparative sales prices, was used to
determine capitalization, discount, and rental growth rates. In cases where market information was not readily available, the inputs were based on our
understanding of market conditions and the experience of our management team.
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The following table illustrates, by property, the impairment charge recorded to impairment of real estate for the year ended December 31:
Property

2012

Goldenrod Commerce Center
Hanging Moss Commerce Center
Monroe North Commerce Center
Monroe South Commerce Center
1830 Santa Fe

$

$

2011
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

3,403,000
2,544,000
4,530,000
4,366,000
425,000
15,268,000

During 2010, we recorded impairment charges related to one investment in real estate totaling approximately $1.2 million. The impairment was primarily driven
by reduced estimates of net operating income, due to the impact of declines in the multi-tenant industrial real estate market and credit conditions of certain
tenants, which when combined with increases in the capitalization rates assumptions, resulted in the decreases in values of such properties.
The assessment as to whether our investments in real estate are impaired is highly subjective. The calculations, which are primarily based on discounted cash flow
analyses, involve management’s best estimate of the holding period, market comparables, future occupancy levels, rental rates, capitalization rates, lease-up
periods and capital requirements for each property. A change in any one or more of these factors could materially impact whether a property is impaired as of any
given valuation date.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
ASC 825, Financial Instruments, requires the disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments whether or not recognized on the face of the balance
sheet, for which it is practical to estimate that value.
Fair value represents the estimate of the proceeds to be received, or paid in the case of a liability, in a current transaction between willing parties. ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurement establishes a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair value. Inputs are either observable or
unobservable in the marketplace. Observable inputs are based on market data from independent sources and unobservable inputs reflect the reporting entity’s
assumptions about market participant assumptions used to value an asset or liability.
Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as follows:
Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.
Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified according to the lowest level input that is significant to their valuation. A financial instrument that has a
significant unobservable input along with significant observable inputs may still be classified as a Level 3 instrument.
We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial instruments using quoted market prices in active markets when such information is available or use
appropriate present value or other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating available market discount rate information for
similar types of instruments and our estimates for non-performance and liquidity risk. These techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used,
including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash flow.
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Our consolidated balance sheets include the following financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable, note receivable from related party,
tenant and other receivables, other assets, deferred costs and deposits, deferred financing costs, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, payable to related parties,
prepaid rent, security deposits and deferred revenue, distributions payable and notes payable. With the exception of notes receivable, note receivable from related
party and notes payable discussed below, we consider the carrying values to approximate fair value for such financial instruments because of the short period of
time between origination of the instruments and their expected payment.
As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value of notes receivable was $1.0 million and $0.9 million, compared to the carrying value of
$0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The fair value of notes receivable is estimated by discounting the expected cash flows at current market rates at which
management believes similar loans would be made. During the second quarter of 2011, we determined the Servant Healthcare note receivable was impaired, and
therefore, adjusted its carrying value to estimated fair value based on our assessment of the borrower’s business prospects and future cash flows from operations.
In December 2011, the Servant Investments and the Servant Healthcare notes receivable were restructured to provide for the settlement of the notes in the amount
of $2.5 million, $1.5 million of which was received from the borrower in December 2011. The remaining $1.0 million is payable pursuant to a promissory note of
Servant Healthcare which provides for interest at a fixed rate of 5.00% per annum. A principal payment of $0.7 million, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, is
due on December 22, 2013 and the remaining balance of $0.3 million, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, is due on December 22, 2014. The note receivable
was recorded at its present value of $0.9 million on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011.
At December 31, 2010, the fair value of the note receivable from related party was $8.0 million, consistent with its carrying value, and was estimated using
current rates at which management believes similar loans would be made with similar terms and maturities. On June 30, 2011, we consolidated the related party
with which we entered this transaction as we determined that we were the primary beneficiary of the entity, a variable interest entity, as of that date (see Note 9 to
the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
The fair value of notes payable is estimated using lending rates available to us for financial instruments with similar terms and maturities. As of December 31,
2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value of notes payable was $51.0 million and $21.3 million, compared to the carrying value of $50.3 million and
$21.1 million, respectively. The carrying values noted above include notes payable classified on our consolidated balance sheets as liabilities associated with real
estate held for sale totaling $9.5 million and $1.8 million as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
As a result of our ongoing analysis for potential impairment of our investments in real estate, including properties classified as held for sale, we were required to
adjust the carrying value of certain assets to their estimated fair values, or estimated fair value less selling costs for assets held for sale, as of December 31, 2012
(see Note 4 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
The following table summarizes the assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during year ended December 31, 2012:

Real estate held for sale
Variable interest entity held for sale

Significant
Other
Quoted Prices in Active
Significant
Total
Total Fair
Markets for Identical
Observable
Unobservable
Losses for the
Inputs
Value
Assets
Inputs
Year Ended
(Level 2)
Measurement
(Level 1)
(Level 3)
December 31, 2012
$
1,612,000 $
1,612,000 $
— $
— $
(937,000)
$
3,760,000 $
— $
3,760,000 $
— $
(1,140,000)

The following table summarizes the assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during the year ended December 31, 2011:
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Investments in real estate
Real estate held for sale
Variable interest entity held for sale

Total Fair
Value
Measurement
$
29,251,000
$
13,505,000
$
4,900,000

Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)
$
$
$

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)
—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)
$
29,251,000
$
13,505,000
$
4,900,000

Total
Losses
for the
Year
Ended
December 31, 2011
$
(15,268,000)
$
(28,541,000)
$
(4,765,000)

The real estate asset held for sale and measured at fair values, less estimated selling costs, in 2012 are deemed to be level one assets as its fair value was derived
from an offer for the property for which a purchase and sale agreement had been executed.
The variable interest entity held for sale measured at fair value, less estimated selling costs, during 2012 was deemed to be a Level 2 asset as we had received a
formal offer for the property. As of the valuation date in the second quarter of 2012, we did not believe that this asset was a Level 1 asset because a purchase and
sale agreement had not been executed, giving the potential buyer the right to opt out of the transaction at its discretion. The variable interest entity held for sale
measured at fair value during 2011 deemed to be a Level 3 asset was valued based primarily on market-based inputs and our assumptions about the use of the
asset, as observable inputs were not available. A purchase and sale agreement for the sale of the property was executed in the fourth quarter of 2012, subsequent
to the valuation date.
The investments in real estate measured in 2011 were deemed to be Level 3 assets as their fair value measurements relied primarily on our estimates of marketbased inputs and our assumptions about the use of the assets, as observable inputs were not available. In the absence of observable inputs, we estimate the fair
value of real estate using unobservable data such as net operating income and estimated capitalization and discount rates. We also consider local and national
industry market data including comparable sales, and at times engage an external real estate appraiser to assist us in our estimation of fair value. To estimate the
fair value of these assets, we utilized capitalization rates ranging from 7% to 9% and discount rates ranging from 9.25% to 10%. Significant increases (decreases)
in any valuation inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement.
The real estate assets held for sale that were measured in 2011 at fair value and deemed to be Level 3 assets were valued based primarily on market-based inputs
and our assumptions about the use of the assets, as observable inputs were not available. In the absence of observable inputs, we estimate the fair value of real
estate using unobservable data such as net operating income and estimated capitalization and discount rates. We also consider local and national industry market
data including comparable sales, and at times engage an external real estate appraiser to assist us in our estimation of fair value. To estimate the fair value of these
assets, we utilized capitalization rates ranging from 7% to 9% and discount rates ranging from 9.25% to 10%.
At December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we do not have any significant financial assets or financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis in our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition and Valuation of Receivables
Our revenues, which are comprised largely of rental income, include rents reported on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the lease. Since our leases may
provide for free rent, lease incentives or rental increases at specified intervals, we are required to straight-line the recognition of revenue, which results in the
recording of a receivable for rent not yet due under the lease terms. Accordingly, our management is required to determine, in its judgment, to what extent the
unbilled rent receivable applicable to each specific tenant is collectible. Management reviews unbilled rent receivable on a quarterly basis and takes into
consideration the tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and economic
conditions in the area in which the property is located. In the event that the collectability of unbilled rent with respect to any given tenant is in doubt, we record an
increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts or record a direct write-off of the specific rent receivable.
Income Taxes
We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2006. To qualify as a REIT, we must
meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to currently distribute at least 90% of the REIT’s ordinary taxable income to
stockholders. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that it distributes to its stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a
REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for
treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for four years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants
us relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially and adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to
stockholders. However, we believe that we are organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT, beginning with our taxable year
ended December 31, 2006, and we intend to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that we will remain qualified as a REIT in subsequent tax years
for federal income tax purposes. All of the distributions declared during 2011 and 2010, respectively, represented a return of capital for federal income tax
purposes. No distributions were delcared or paid in 2012.
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Variable Interest Entities
The Company analyzes its contractual and/or other interests to determine whether such interests constitute an interest in a variable interest entity (“VIE”) in
accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation, and, if so, whether the Company is the primary beneficiary. If the Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary
of a VIE, it must consolidate the VIE. A VIE is an entity with insufficient equity investment or in which the equity investors lack some of the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest. In determining whether it is the primary beneficiary, the Company considers, among other things, whether it has the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance, including, but not limited to, determining or limiting the scope or
purpose of the VIE, selling or transferring property owned or controlled by the VIE, or arranging financing for the VIE. The Company also considers whether it
has the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE (see Note 10 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements).
Notes Receivable
On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the collectability of our notes receivable. Our evaluation of collectability involves judgment, estimates, and a review of the
underlying collateral and the borrower’s business models and future prospects. During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, we recorded
impairment charges of $0, $1.4 million, and $0, and related to the notes receivable respectively.
Note Receivable from Related Party
On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the collectability of our note receivable from related party. Our evaluation of collectability involves judgment, estimates, and a
review of the underlying collateral and borrower’s business models and future cash flows. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, we did not
record any impairment on the note receivable from related party.
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Uncertain Tax Positions
In accordance with the requirements of ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” favorable tax positions are included in the calculation of tax liabilities if it is more likely than
not that our adopted tax position will prevail if challenged by tax authorities. As a result of our REIT status, we are able to claim a dividends-paid deduction on
our tax return to deduct the full amount of common dividends paid to stockholders when computing our annual taxable income. A REIT is subject to a 100% tax
on the net income from prohibited transactions. A “prohibited transaction” is the sale or other disposition of property held primarily for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of a trade or business. There is a safe harbor which, if met, expressly prevents the Internal Revenue Service from asserting the prohibited
transaction test. As we have not had any sales of properties to date, the prohibited transaction tax is not applicable. We have no income tax expense, deferred tax
assets or deferred tax liabilities associated with any such uncertain tax positions for the operations of any entity included in the consolidated results
of operations.
New Accounting Pronouncements
Please refer to Note 3 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes
that affect market sensitive instruments. We are exposed to the effects of interest rate changes as a result of borrowings used to maintain liquidity and to fund the
acquisition, expansion and refinancing of our real estate investment portfolio and operations. Our profitability and the value of our investment portfolio may be
adversely affected during any period as a result of interest rate changes. We invest our cash and cash equivalents in government-backed securities and FDICinsured savings accounts which, by its nature, are subject to interest rate fluctuations. However, we believe that the primary market risk to which we will be
exposed is interest rate risk related to our loan agreements.
We borrow funds and make investments at a combination of fixed and variable rates. Interest rate fluctuations will generally not affect our future earnings or cash
flows on our fixed-rate debt or fixed-rate notes receivable unless such instruments mature or are otherwise terminated and/or need to be refinanced. However,
interest rate changes will affect the fair value of our fixed-rate instruments. Conversely, changes in interest rates on variable-rate debt and investments would
change our future earnings and cash flows, but not significantly affect the fair value of those instruments.
As of December 31, 2012, we had borrowed approximately $43.8 million under variable-rate loan agreements. An increase in the variable interest rate on these
loan agreements constitute a market risk as a change in rates would increase or decrease interest expense incurred and therefore cash flows available for
distribution to shareholders. Based on the debt outstanding as of December 31, 2012, a one percent (1%) change in interest rates related to the variable-rate debt
would result in a change in interest expense of approximately $438,000 per year, or approximately $0.02 per common share on a basic and diluted basis.
In addition to changes in interest rates, the value of our real estate is subject to fluctuations based on changes in the real estate capital markets, market rental rates
for office space, local, regional and national economic conditions and changes in the creditworthiness of tenants. All of these factors may also affect our ability to
refinance our debt, if necessary.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See the index included at Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and our Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) have reviewed the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures and have concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls
and procedures.
Our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) are responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13(a)-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer) have concluded that we maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012.
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding control over financial reporting.
Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street and Consumer
Protection Act, which exempts non-accelerated filers from the auditor attestation requirement of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2013.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2013
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2013
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2013.
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS COMMITTEE
Review of our Investment Objectives
The Independent Directors Committee has reviewed our investment objectives to determine that they are in the best interest of our stockholders. Our investment
objectives are to: (i) preserve stockholder capital by owning and operating real estate; (ii) purchase investment-grade properties with the potential for capital
appreciation to our stockholders; (iii) purchase income-producing properties which will allow us to pay cash distributions to our stockholders at least quarterly;
and (iv) provide liquidity to our stockholders within the shortest reasonable time necessary to accomplish the above objectives.
Our board of directors has begun diversifying our investment objectives to include healthcare-related asset types. In connection with such acquisitions, the board
of directors has approved the acquisition of assets with long-term financing in order to leverage the capital available to us and increase our assets under
management to enable better diversification.
Review of our Policies
The Independent Directors Committee has reviewed our policies and determined that they are in the best interest of our stockholders. Set forth below is a
discussion of the basis for that determination.
Offering Policy. We initiated our initial public offering on January 6, 2006, pursuant to which we offered 44.4 million shares of common stock in our primary
offering at $8.00 per share. We also offered 11.0 million shares of our common stock under our distribution reinvestment plan at $7.60 per share. We stopped
making offers under our initial public offering on June 1, 2009. We raised gross offering proceeds of approximately $163.7 million from the sale of
approximately 20.5 million shares in our initial public offering other than shares issued under the distribution reinvestment plan.
We began accepting subscriptions in our current follow-on public offering on June 10, 2009, pursuant to which we are offering up to 56,250,000 shares of
common stock at $8.00 per share in a primary offering. We also offered up to 21,100,000 shares of common stock under our dividend reinvestment plan at a
purchase price equal to the higher of $7.60 per share or 95% of the fair market value of a share of our common stock. Effective November 23, 2010, our board of
directors determined to discontinue making or accepting offers to purchase shares of stock in our follow-on offering while the board evaluates strategic
alternatives to maximize stockholder value. As of December 31, 2012, we had raised approximately $3.4 million of gross proceeds from the sale of approximately
0.4 million shares of our common stock in our secondary offering, other than shares issued under the distribution reinvestment plan. Given our current strategic
focus on repositioning the portfolio into healthcare properties and on operational efficiency and reducing overall advisory fees and expenses, and the significant
near-term costs that would be associated with organization and offering activities related to re-launching our follow-on offering, we currently believe that it is in
the best interests of the Company for the follow-on offering to remain suspended at present.
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Acquisition and Investment Policies. We have historically focused on acquiring investment-grade real estate including multi-tenant industrial properties that are:
(i) owned and operated on an all-cash basis with no permanent financing; (ii) high-quality, existing, and currently producing income; (iii) leased to a diversified
tenant base; and (iii) leased with overall shorter-term operating type leases, allowing for annual rental increases and greater potential for capital growth. We seek
potential property acquisitions meeting the above criteria that are located in major metropolitan markets throughout the United States. In addition, in 2012, we
commenced a repositioning strategy and have acquired healthcare-related assets that are: (i) operated by high-quality and experienced operators; (ii) high-quality,
existing, and currently producing income; and (iii) owned with limited, long-term leverage. While we have historically invested principally in multi-tenant
industrial properties and recently in healthcare properties, we have the ability to invest in any type of real estate investment that we believe to be in the best
interests of our stockholders, including other real estate funds or REITs, mortgage funds, mortgage loans and sale leasebacks. We do not currently believe that
any further significant change to our current acquisition and investment policies would be in the best interests of our stockholders.
Borrowing Policies. We have historically been an all-cash REIT owning and operating our properties with no permanent indebtedness. Being an all-cash REIT
mitigates the risks associated with mortgage debt, including the risk of default on the mortgage payments and resulting foreclosure of a particular property. With
the objective of increasing income, we have acquired with short-term borrowing which we plan to refinance with favorable long-term debt financing to increase
the amount of capital available to us and to achieve greater property diversification than is currently possible with an all-cash strategy. We may incur
indebtedness for working capital requirements, tenant improvements, capital improvements, and leasing commissions and to make distributions, including but not
limited to those necessary in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We will endeavor to borrow funds on an unsecured
basis but we may secure indebtedness with some or all of our properties if a majority of our independent directors determine that it is in the best interests of the
Company and our stockholders. We may also acquire properties encumbered with existing financing which cannot be immediately repaid. We may invest in joint
venture entities that borrow funds or issue senior equity securities to acquire properties, in which case our equity interest in the joint venture would be junior to
the rights of the lender or preferred stockholders. In some cases, our advisor may control the joint venture. Our charter limits our borrowings to the equivalent of
75% of our cost, before deducting depreciation or other non-cash reserves, of all our assets unless any excess borrowing is approved by a majority of our
independent directors and is disclosed to our stockholders in our next quarterly report with an explanation from our independent directors of the justification for
the excess borrowing. We did not exceed our charter limitation on borrowing during any quarter of 2012. We believe our current borrowing policies are in the
best interests of our stockholders because they offer a higher level of safety and stability for our stockholders than would more aggressive borrowing policies.
Disposition Policy. Our goal in selling properties is to achieve maximum capital appreciation, although we cannot guarantee that this objective will be realized.
Our general policy is to sell our properties for all cash. When we sell a property, we may, under limited circumstances, lend the purchaser a portion of the
purchase price, provided that the aggregate amount of all mortgage loans outstanding on the property, including the loan we may make to the purchaser, may not
exceed 85% of the appraised value of the property as determined by an independent appraiser, unless substantial justification exists. Our disposition policy
provides us with the flexibility to time and structure property sales in a manner that optimizes our investment return. For this reason, we believe the current
disposition policy is in the best interests of our stockholders.
Policy Regarding Working Capital Reserves. We do not intend to set aside offering proceeds for working capital purposes. Setting aside funds for this purpose
would decrease the amount we can invest in real estate and hence reduce our opportunities to earn current income. We believe that proceeds from short-term
borrowings and our cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our needs for working capital.
Policy Regarding Operating Expenses. Pursuant to provisions contained in our charter and in our amended and restated advisory agreement with our advisor, our
board of directors has the ongoing responsibility of limiting our total operating expenses for the trailing four consecutive quarters to amounts that do not exceed
the greater of 2% of our average invested assets or 25% of our net income, calculated in the manner set forth in our charter, unless a majority of the directors
(including a majority of the independent directors) has made a finding that, based on unusual and non-recurring factors that they deem sufficient, a higher level of
expenses is justified (the “2%/25% Test”). In the event that a majority of the directors (including a majority of the independent directors) does not determine that
such excess expenses are justified, our advisor must reimburse to us the amount of the excess operating expenses paid or incurred (the “Excess Amount”).
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As disclosed at each of the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2011, June 30, 2011, September 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, March 31, 2012, June 30, 2012 and
September 30, 2012, our board of directors conditioned its findings that the Excess Amounts for each quarter was justified upon the Advisor agreeing to carry
over such Excess Amounts and include them in total operating expenses of the subsequent periods for purposes of the 2%/25% Test. However, on September 30,
2012, the board of directors including the independent directors unanimously resolved to permanently waive the Advisor’s reimbursement obligation with respect
to amounts due for excess operating expenses resulting from the six-fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2011, which amount totals $3.2 million. The decision to
waive the Advisor’s reimbursement obligation was based on such expenses were justified as unusual and non-recurring, including those due to unforeseeable
conditions, namely the small asset base resulting from the November 2010 suspension and June 2012 termination of the follow-on offering. This negatively
affected the Company’s growth and extended the Company’s start-up phase. Additionally, the extended national recession adversely impacted the industrial and
residential real estate markets resulting in lower rental rates, occupancy rates and operating results in 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012. In 2011, four of our industrial
properties were sold primarily to pay down and/or restructure terms on current maturities of debt. These dispositions further negatively impacted the Company’s
operating results and reduced the average invested assets measure, which is used in the 2%/25% test.
For the four-fiscal-quarter period ended December 31, 2012, our total operating expenses again exceeded the greater of 2% of our average invested assets and
25% of our net income. We incurred operating expenses of approximately $4.5 million and incurred an Excess Amount of approximately $2.5 million during the
four-fiscal-quarters ended December 31, 2012. Our board of directors, including a majority of our independent directors, has determined that this Excess Amount
is justified because of unusual and non-recurring factors such as our small size (for a public reporting company) and the costs of repositioning of our real estate
investments. Notwithstanding such justification and as a condition to such justification, the Advisor has again agreed that the Excess Amount the four-fiscalquarter period ended December 31, 2012 shall be carried over and included in total operating expenses in subsequent periods for purposes of the 2%/25% Test
with any waiver dependent on our Advisor’s continued satisfactory progress with respect to executing the strategic repositioning alternative chosen by the
independent directors.
As for the Excess Amount deferred at September 30, 2012, our board of directors determined such Excess Amounts were justified upon the Advisor agreeing to
carry over such Excess Amounts and include them in total operating expenses in subsequent periods for purposes of the 2%/25% Test. Consequently we incurred
cumulative operating expenses of approximately $5.6 million and incurred an Excess Amount of approximately $3.5 million for the five-fiscal-quarters ended
December 31, 2012. The board of directors, including the independent directors, has unanimously resolved to permanently waive the Advisor’s reimbursement
obligation with respect to amounts due for excess resulting from the fifth quarter of December 31, 2011, which amount totals $1.1 million.
The Advisor has informed us that based on current conditions and the Company’s forecast, it believes that the Company’s projected operating expenses are likely
to exceed the 2%/25% test while the Company and Advisor pursue the repositioning strategy and growth in assets under management. Accordingly, the board of
directors has determined and the Advisor has concurred that any Excess Amounts in future quarters shall be carried over and included in the total operating
expense for such subsequent periods, with any future waiver or adjustments dependent upon the Advisor’s continued satisfactory progress with respect to
accelerating growth and executing the strategic repositioning and cost containment initiatives. The board of directors will continue to monitor the appropriateness
of the expenses and the Advisor’s fees and consider options to reduce the Company’s expense structure.
Liquidation or Listing Policy. We believe it is in the best interest of our stockholders not to list our common shares on a national exchange at this time. First, we
believe it is more cost effective to remain unlisted and utilize our external advisor at the present time than it would be to internalize all the resources necessary to
operate a listed company. Second, our shares are offered as a long-term investment. We believe that the ability to provide our stockholders with liquidity in the
near-term is outweighed by the long-term benefits of completing the current offering and gradually repositioning the portfolio into higher income-producing
properties. In making the decision of whether to apply for listing of our shares, our directors will try to determine whether listing our shares or liquidating our
assets will result in greater value for stockholders.
Policy regarding Transactions with Affiliates. Our charter requires our Independent Directors Committee to review and approve all transactions involving our
affiliates and us. Prior to entering into a transaction with an affiliate that is not covered by our advisory agreement with our advisor, a majority of the Independent
Directors Committee must conclude that the transaction is fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions not less favorable to us than those available from
unaffiliated third parties. Furthermore, our Independent Directors Committee must review at least annually our fees and expenses to determine that the expenses
incurred are reasonable in light of our investment performance, our net asset value, our net income and the fees and expenses of other comparable unaffiliated
REITs. In addition, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics sets forth examples of types of transactions with related parties that would create conflicts of
interest between the interests of our stockholders and the private interests of the parties involved in such transactions. Our directors and officers are required to
take all reasonable action to avoid such conflicts of interest or the appearance of conflicts of interest. If a conflict of interest becomes unavoidable, our directors
and officers are required to report the conflict to a designated ethics contact, which, depending on the circumstances of the transaction, would be either our chief
executive officer, chief financial officer, or the chairman of our audit committee. The appropriate ethics contact is then responsible for working with the reporting
director or officer to monitor and resolve the conflict of interest in accordance with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
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Certain Transactions with Related Persons
The Independent Directors Committee has reviewed the material transactions between our affiliates and us since the beginning of 2012, all of which were
approved in advance in accordance with our policy described above, and the terms of which will be disclosed in the Proxy Statement relating to our 2013 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders under the heading “Certain Transactions with Related Persons.” Based upon our review of these transactions and of the fees paid to
affiliates of the Company since the beginning of 2012, we believe that all of the transactions have been fair and reasonable to the Company and on terms and
conditions not less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties.
March 29, 2013

The Independent Directors Committee of the Board of Directors
Daniel Johnson (Chairman) and Paul Danchik
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2013
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Financial Statements
The following financial statements are included in a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K commencing on the page numbers specified below:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Schedule III — Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
(3) Exhibits
The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index (following the signatures section of this report) are included, or incorporated by reference, in this annual report
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012.
Our audit also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15. These consolidated financial statements and the financial statement
schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement
schedules based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required
to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement
schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 29, 2013
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CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2012 and 2011
December 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments in real estate:
Land
Buildings and improvements, net
Intangible lease assets, net

$

Notes receivable
Deferred costs and deposits
Deferred financing costs, net
Receivable from related parties
Tenant and other receivables, net
Restricted cash
Deferred leasing commission, net
Other assets, net
Assets held in variable interest entity:
Land
Buildings and improvements, net
Furniture and fixtures, net
Intangible lease assets, net
Certificate of need (license)
Total assets held in variable interest entity
Real estate held for sale, net
Non-real estate assets associated with real estate held for sale
Assets of variable interest entity held for sale
Total assets

999,000

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Notes payable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Payable to related parties
Prepaid rent, security deposits and deferred revenue
Intangible lease liabilities, net
Liabilities associated with real estate held for sale
Liabilities held in variable interest entity:
Loan payable
Total liabilities held in variable interest entity
Liabilities of variable interest entity held for sale
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15 )
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding at December
31, 2012 and December 31, 2011
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 290,000,000 shares authorized; 23,028,285 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

$

$

17,388,000

6,421,000
24,212,000
32,000
30,665,000
908,000
13,000
690,000
7,000
803,000
325,000
1,529,000
413,000

6,421,000
25,227,000
83,000
31,731,000
908,000
17,000
91,000
11,000
442,000
—
230,000
342,000

4,521,000
23,093,000
2,750,000
2,650,000
6,786,000
39,800,000
12,298,000
1,278,000
4,264,000
93,992,000

—
—
—
—
—
—
13,415,000
177,000
5,372,000
70,124,000

12,306,000
618,000
136,000
1,238,000
—
10,035,000

$
$

19,319,000
733,000
20,000
355,000
44,000
1,908,000

28,450,000
28,450,000
2,452,000
55,235,000

—
—
2,119,000
24,498,000

—

—

23,000
117,226,000
(76,206,000)
41,043,000
(2,286,000)
38,757,000
93,992,000 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

23,000
116,238,000
(68,748,000)
47,513,000
(1,887,000)
45,626,000
70,124,000

CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
2012
Revenues:
Rental revenues
Tenant reimbursements and other income
Interest income from notes receivable

$

Expenses:
Property operating and maintenance
General and administrative
Asset management fees and expenses
Real estate acquisition costs
Depreciation and amortization
Reserve for excess advisor obligation
Impairment of notes receivable
Impairment of real estate

Year ended December 31,
2011

3,937,000
751,000
52,000
4,740,000

$

2,744,000
659,000
416,000
3,819,000

2010
$

2,684,000
613,000
1,389,000
4,686,000

Operating loss

1,208,000
3,564,000
971,000
947,000
1,713,000
863,000
—
—
9,266,000
(4,526,000)

1,200,000
2,834,000
1,489,000
—
1,460,000
—
1,442,000
15,268,000
23,693,000
(19,874,000)

1,256,000
2,163,000
1,654,000
52,000
1,656,000
—
—
1,250,000
8,031,000
(3,345,000)

Other income and expense:
Interest income
Interest expense
Loss from continuing operations

—
(1,183,000)
(5,709,000)

—
(1,579,000)
(21,453,000)

4,000
(1,050,000)
(4,391,000)

(748,000)
(2,077,000)
—
(2,825,000)
(8,534,000)
1,076,000
(7,458,000) $

660,000
(33,306,000)
46,000
(32,600,000)
(54,053,000)
1,995,000
(52,058,000) $

2,028,000
(770,000)
—
1,258,000
(3,133,000)
2,000
(3,131,000)

(0.25) $
(0.08)
(0.33) $
23,028,285

(0.93) $
(1.33)
(2.26) $
23,031,830

(0.19)
0.05
(0.14)
22,921,142

Discontinued operations:
(Loss) income before impairments & gain on sales of real estate
Impairment of real estate sold and asset held for sale
Gain on sales of real estate, net
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Noncontrolling interests’ share in losses
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Basic and diluted (loss) income per common share
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss applicable to common shares
Weighted average shares used to calculate basic and diluted loss per common

$
$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

BALANCE December 31, 2009
Issuance of common stock
Redeemed shares
Offering costs
Distributions declared
Net loss
BALANCE December 31, 2010
Issuance of common stock
Redeemed shares
Offering costs
Distributions declared
Net loss
BALANCE — December 31, 2011
Issuance of common stock
Redeemed shares
Reduction of excess offering costs
Distributions declared
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests
Noncontrolling interest contribution
Net loss
BALANCE — December 31, 2012

Number of
Shares
23,114,201
855,094
(894,914)
—
—
—
23,074,381
—
(46,096)
—
—
—
23,028,285
—
—
—
—
—
23,028,285

Common Stock
Common
Stock
Par Value
$
24,000
1,000
(2,000)
—
—
—
$
23,000
—
—
—
—
—
$
23,000
—
—
—
—
—

$

—
23,000

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
$ 128,559,000
6,542,000
(6,872,000)
(498,000)
(10,211,000)
—
$ 117,520,000
—
(369,000)
—
(913,000)
—
$ 116,238,000
—
—
988,000
—
—

Accumulated
Deficit
$ (13,559,000)
—
—
—
—
(3,131,000)
$ (16,690,000)
—
—
—
—
(52,058,000)
$ (68,748,000)
—
—
—
—
—

—
$ 117,226,000

$

(7,458,000)
(76,206,000)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
$ 115,024,000
6,543,000
(6,874,000)
(498,000)
(10,211,000)
(3,131,000)
$ 100,853,000
—
(369,000)
—
(913,000)
(52,058,000)
$ 47,513,000
—
—
988,000
—
—

$

(7,458,000)
41,043,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Noncontrolling
Interests
$
131,000
—
—
—
(12,000)
(2,000)
$
117,000
—
—
—
(9,000)
(1,995,000)
$
(1,887,000)
—
—
—
—
(39,000)
716,000
(1,076,000)
$
(2,286,000)

$

$

$

$

Total
115,155,000
6,543,000
(6,874,000)
(498,000)
(10,223,000)
(3,133,000)
100,970,000
—
(369,000)
—
(922,000)
(54,053,000)
45,626,000
—
—
988,000
—
(39,000)
716,000
(8,534,000)
38,757,000

CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Depreciation and amortization
Straight line rents and amortization of above/below market rents
Bad debt expense (recovery)
Reserve of excess advisor obligation
Impairment of notes receivable
Impairment of real estate
Gain on sales of real estate
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Tenant and other receivables, net
Prepaid and other assets
Deferred leasing commissions
Restricted cash
Prepaid rent, security deposits and deferred revenue
Receivables from related parties
Deferred costs and deposits
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Payable to related parties, net
Net cash (used in)provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Real estate acquisitions
Real estate improvements
Acquired cash of variable interest entity (VIE) held for sale
Issuance of note receivable from related party (VIE)
Proceeds from note receivable
Real estate dispositions
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common shares
Redeemed shares
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable
Security deposit refunded/received, net
Repayment of notes payable
Offering costs
Distributions paid to stockholders
Non-controlling interest contribution
Distributions paid to non-controlling interests
Deferred financing costs
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period (including cash of VIE)
Less cash and cash equivalents of VIE held for sale – end of period (see Note 16)
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period
NON CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing and investing activities
Accrual for distribution declared
Prepaid property taxes
Deferred loan origination fees
Accrued real estate improvements
Distributions reinvested
Receivable from related party
Reduction of excess offering costs
Elimination of note receivable from related party through consolidation of variable
interest entity (See Note 10)
Assets acquired
Liabilities assumed
Elimination of note receivable

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2011

(8,534,000) $

(54,053,000) $

(3,133,000)

162,000
1,993,000
(351,000)
(13,000)
863,000
—
2,077,000
—

777,000
2,425,000
(188,000)
(15,000)
—
1,442,000
48,574,000
(46,000)

335,000
3,406,000
79,000
10,000
—
—
2,020,000
—

(268,000)
(721,000)
(1,764,000)
(325,000)
(39,000)
245,000
6,000
234,000
—
(6,435,000)

(9,000)
(59,000)
(116,000)
—
(423,000)
—
—
17,000
5,000
(1,669,000)

66,000
(47,000)
(180,000)
—
(77,000)
—
—
168,000
(345,000)
2,302,000

(40,240,000)
(87,000)
—
—
—
—
(40,327,000)

—
(572,000)
236,000
(318,000)
1,650,000
33,010,000
34,006,000

(1,315,000)
(211,000)
—
(1,089,000)
(1,125,000)
—
(3,740,000)

—
—
43,246,000
1,109,000
(13,925,000)
—
—
716,000
(39,000)
(761,000)
30,346,000
(16,416,000)
17,483,000
1,067,000
68,000
999,000 $

—
(369,000)
—
—
(14,804,000)
(18,000)
(1,070,000)
—
(9,000)
(598,000)
(16,868,000)
15,469,000
2,014,000
17,483,000
95,000
17,388,000 $

1,136,000
(6,874,000)
—
—
(3,010,000)
(491,000)
(5,587,000)
—
(12,000)
(383,000)
(15,221,000)
(16,659,000)
18,673,000
2,014,000
—
2,014,000

$

1,284,000

$

1,070,000

$

991,000

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
44,000
—
125,000
988,000

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
20,000
—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

157,000
—
49,000
9,000
5,407,000
7,000
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

10,069,000
1,806,000
8,263,000

$
$
$

—
—
—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
1. Organization
Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc., a Maryland Corporation, was formed on October 22, 2004 under the General Corporation Law of Maryland for the
purpose of engaging in the business of investing in and owning commercial real estate. As used in this report, the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to
Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries except where the context otherwise requires. Subject to certain restrictions and
limitations, our business is managed pursuant to an advisory agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”) by an affiliate, Cornerstone Realty Advisors, LLC (the
“Advisor”), a Delaware limited liability company that was formed on November 30, 2004.
Cornerstone Operating Partnership, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), a Delaware limited partnership, was formed on November 30, 2004. At December 31,
2012, we owned a 99.88% general partner interest in the Operating Partnership while the Advisor owned a 0.12% limited partnership interest. We anticipate that
we will conduct all or a portion of our operations through the Operating Partnership. Our financial statements and the financial statements of the Operating
Partnership are consolidated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. These financial statements include consolidation of a variable interest entity
that is currently classified as held for sale (see Note 10). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Cornerstone Healthcare Partners LLC (“CHP LLC”), a Delaware limited liability company, was formed on June 11, 2012. At December 31, 2012, we owned a
95% interest in CHP LLC and Cornerstone Healthcare Real Estate Fund, Inc. (“CHREF”), an affiliate of the Advisor owned approximately 5%. The total amount
of cash contributed to CHP LLC by CHREF was $0.7 million. During the third and fourth quarter of 2012, CHP LLC acquired, through various wholly-owned
subsidiaries, five senior-housing properties (see Note 5). Because our voting rights in CHP LLC were disproportionate to our ownership percentage, we
determined that our investment in CHP LLC is a variable interest entity. Further, because we have a controlling financial interest in CHP LLC, we are deemed to
be the primary beneficiary of the variable interest entity and therefore have consolidated the financial results of CHP LLC.
2. Public Offerings
On January 6, 2006, we commenced a public offering of a minimum of 125,000 shares and a maximum of 55,400,000 shares of our common stock, consisting of
44,400,000 shares for sale to the public (the “Primary Offering”) and 11,000,000 shares for sale pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. We stopped
making offers under our initial public offering on June 1, 2009 upon raising gross offering proceeds of approximately $172.7 million from the sale of
approximately 21.7 million shares, including shares sold under the distribution reinvestment plan. On June 10, 2009, the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) declared our follow-on offering effective and we commenced a follow-on offering of up to 77,350,000 shares of our common stock,
consisting of 56,250,000 shares for sale to the public (the “Follow-On Offering”) and 21,100,000 shares for sale pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan. The
Primary Offering and Follow-On Offering are collectively referred to as the “Offerings.” We retained Pacific Cornerstone Capital, Inc. (“PCC”), an affiliate of
our Advisor, to serve as the dealer manager for the Offerings. PCC was responsible for marketing our shares being offered pursuant to
the Offerings.
As of December 31, 2011, we had raised $167.1 million of gross proceeds from the sale of 20.9 million shares of our common stock in our Primary Offering and
Follow-On Offering and had acquired thirteen properties, four of which were sold during 2011. Our revenues, which are comprised largely of rental income,
include rents reported on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the lease. Our growth depends, in part, on our ability to increase rental income and other
earned income from leases by increasing rental rates and occupancy levels and controlling operating and other expenses. Our operations are impacted by
property-specific, market-specific, general economic and other conditions.
We used the net proceeds from our Primary Offering to invest primarily in multi-tenant industrial real estate located in major metropolitan markets in the United
States.
On November 23, 2010, we informed our investors of the following decisions made by the board of directors:
The Offering - Effective November 23, 2010, we stopped making and accepting offers to purchase shares of our stock while our board of directors evaluates
strategic alternatives to maximize value.
Suspension of Distribution Reinvestment Plan - Our Offerings included a distribution reinvestment plan under which our stockholders could elect to have all or
a portion of their distributions reinvested in additional shares of our common stock. Consistent with the above decision with respect to the Offerings, we
suspended our distribution reinvestment plan effective on December 14, 2010. All distributions paid after December 14, 2010 have been in cash.
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Distributions - Effective December 1, 2010, our board of directors resolved to reduce distributions on our common stock to a current annualized rate of $0.08 per
share (1% based on a share price of $8.00), from the prior annualized rate of $0.48 per share (6% based on a share price of $8.00), in order to preserve capital that
may be needed for capital improvements, debt repayment or other corporate purposes. Distributions at this rate were declared for the first and second quarters of
2011. In June 2011, the board decided, based on the financial position of the Company, to suspend the declaration of further distributions and to defer the
payment of the second quarter 2011 distribution, which was paid in December 2011. No distributions have been declared for periods after June 30, 2011. The rate
and frequency of distributions is subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may change from time to time based on our operating results and cash
flow.
Stock Repurchase Program – After careful consideration of the proceeds that will be available from our distribution reinvestment plan in 2010, and an
assessment of our expected capital expenditures, tenant improvement costs and other costs and obligations related to our investments, our board of directors
concluded that we will not have sufficient funds available to us to prudently fund any redemptions during 2011 and 2012. Accordingly, our board of directors
approved an amendment to our stock repurchase program to suspend redemptions under the program, effective December 31, 2010. We can make no assurances
as to when and on what terms redemptions will resume. The share redemption program may be amended, resumed, suspended again, or terminated at any time
based in part on our cash and debt position.
Strategic Repositioning - Commencing in June 2011, together with our Advisor, we embarked upon an evaluation of options for repositioning that we believed
could enhance shareholder value.
The initial steps of this “repositioning” strategy involved the sale of certain industrial properties (Goldenwest, Mack Deer Valley, Pinnacle Park and 2111 South
Industrial Park). Proceeds from those sales transactions were used to “de-lever” the Company’s balance sheet by paying down certain short term and other higher
cost debt while extending maturities and renegotiating lower interest rates on other loan obligations to reposition the company and preserve and increase
shareholder value. Specifically, we sold the Goldenwest property in June 2011 for gross proceeds of $9.4 million and made a principal payment of $7.8 million on
the HSH Nordbank credit facility. Additionally, we sold the Mack Deer Valley and Pinnacle Park Business Center properties in November 2011 for gross
proceeds of approximately $23.9 million. The proceeds were used, in part, to pay down the remaining balance of the HSH Nordbank credit facility. In December
2011, we sold the 2111 South Industrial Park property for gross proceeds of $0.9 million. The proceeds were used to pay down the Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association loan. Furthermore, in February 2012, we amended our loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association. The amendment, executed upon
our making a $7.5 million principal payment, extended the maturity date of the loan from February 13, 2012 to February 13, 2014 and reduced the interest rate
from 300 basis points over one-month LIBOR to 200 basis points over one-month LIBOR, with the LIBOR floor remaining fixed at 150 basis points. We are
continuing to pursue options for repaying our debt, including asset sales.
During the second half of 2012, the board of directors, in consultation with the Advisor, approved the reinvestment of the remaining proceeds from these 2011
property dispositions into five healthcare properties. Diversification into healthcare real estate assets is expected to be accretive to the earnings and shareholder
value of the combined portfolio. Such healthcare acquisitions were made through a joint venture with an affiliate of the Advisor and involved interim seller and/or
long term third party lender financing. The Company intends to refinance such interim borrowings with long term financing. In the interest of further
diversification of risk and to attract new capital partners, the Company may, in the future, reduce its ownership interest in the healthcare joint venture.
Healthcare-related properties include a wide variety of properties, including senior housing facilities, medical office buildings, and skilled nursing facilities.
Senior housing facilities include independent living facilities, assisted living facilities and memory and other continuing care retirement communities. Each of
these caters to different segments of the elderly population. Services provided by operators or tenants in these facilities are primarily paid for by the residents
directly or through private insurance and are less reliant on government reimbursement programs such as Medicaid and Medicare. Skilled Nursing Facilities
(“SNFs”) offer nursing care for people not requiring the more extensive and sophisticated treatment available at hospitals. Sub-acute care services are provided to
residents beyond room and board. Certain skilled nursing facilities provide some services on an outpatient basis. Skilled nursing services provided in these
facilities and primarily paid for either by private sources or through the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Our SNFs are leased to single-tenant operators under
net lease structures.
The Advisor has reported to the Company that it believes the outlook for the Company raising new property level joint venture equity capital to support its growth
and further diversify both operator and healthcare property sector risk is currently favorable. Based in part on this advice, the board of directors continues to
evaluate the repositioning strategy while pursuing other growth initiatives that lower capital costs and enable us to reduce or improve our ability to cover our
general and administrative costs over a broader base of assets.
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In early 2013, the board of directors requested that the Advisor raise new property level joint venture equity capital while management continues to evaluate
opportunities for repositioning and growth and secures long term debt for recent and any future acquisitions.
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The summary of significant accounting policies presented below is designed to assist in understanding our consolidated financial statements. Such consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes are the representations of our management, which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. These accounting
policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, in all material respects, and have been consistently
applied in preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, CHP, LLC (of which the Company owns 95%) and
Nantucket Acquisition LLC, a variable interest entity (see Note 10). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation, which addresses how a business
enterprise should evaluate whether it has a controlling interest in an entity through means other than voting rights and accordingly should consolidate the entity.
Before concluding that it is appropriate to apply the voting interest consolidation model to an entity, an enterprise must first determine that the entity is not a
variable interest entity. We evaluate, as appropriate, our interests, if any, in joint ventures and other arrangements to determine if consolidation is appropriate.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. We base these estimates on various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, and these estimates form the
basis for our judgments concerning the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We periodically evaluate these
estimates and judgments based on available information and experience. Actual results could differ from our estimates under different assumptions and
conditions. If actual results significantly differ from our estimates, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially impacted.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash
equivalents.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash represents cash held in interest bearing accounts related to impound reserve accounts for property taxes, insurance and capital improvements or
commitments as required under the terms of mortgage loan agreements. Based on the intended use of the restricted cash, we have classified changes in restricted
cash within the statements of cash flows as operating.
Investments in Real Estate
We allocate the purchase price of our properties in accordance with ASC 805 – Business Combinations. Upon acquisition of a property, we allocate the purchase
price of the property based upon the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which generally consists of land, buildings, site improvements,
furniture and fixtures and intangible lease assets or liabilities, including in-place leases, above-market and below-market leases. We allocate the purchase price to
the fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property by valuing the property as if it were vacant. We are required to make subjective assessments as to the
useful lives of our depreciable assets. We consider the period of future benefit of the assets to determine the appropriate useful lives. Depreciation of our assets is
being charged to expense on a straight-line basis over the assigned useful lives. We depreciate the fair value allocated to building and improvements over
estimated useful lives ranging from 15 to 39 years.
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We estimate the value of furniture and fixtures based on the assets’ depreciated replacement cost. We depreciate the fair value allocated to furniture and fixtures
over estimated useful lives ranging from three to six years.
In-place lease values are calculated based on management’s evaluation of the expense that would be incurred to acquire a new tenant to occupy the leased space.
Acquired above- and below-market leases are valued based on the present value of the difference between prevailing market rates and the in-place rates over the
remaining lease terms. The value of acquired above- and below-market leases is amortized over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases as an
adjustment to rental revenue on our consolidated statements of operations. Our policy is to consider any bargain periods in the calculation of fair value of belowmarket leases and to amortize below-market leases over the remaining non-cancelable lease term plus any bargain renewal periods in accordance with FASB ASC
840, Leases, as determined by the Company’s management at the time it acquires real property with an in-place lease. The renewal option rates for our acquired
leases do not include any fixed-rate options and, instead, contain renewal options that are based on fair value terms at the time of renewal. Accordingly, no fixedrate renewal options were included in the fair value of below-market leases acquired and the amortization period is based on the acquired non-cancelable lease
term.
We amortize the value of in-place leases and above- and below-market leases over the initial term of the respective leases. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the
unamortized portion of the above- or below-market lease value will be charged to revenue. If a lease is terminated prior to its expiration, the unamortized portion
of the tenant improvements, intangible lease assets or liabilities and the in-place lease value will be immediately charged to expense.
In an effort to control the rapidly escalating costs of health care, the state of Oregon has implemented a certificate of need (“CON”) program pertaining to skillednursing facilities. This program requires that a CON is obtained from the state prior to opening such facility. We valued the CON assets related to our Fernhill,
Sheridan and Pacific facilities using an income approach. As the CON does not expire and can be sold independently of the facilities, we determined that these
assets have indefinite useful lives and consequently are not being amortized.
Depreciation of Real Property Assets
We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable assets. We consider the period of future benefit of the assets to determine
the appropriate useful lives. Depreciation of our assets is charged to expense on a straight-line basis over the assigned useful lives.
Fair Value Measurements
ASC 825, Financial Instruments, requires the disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments whether or not recognized on the face of the balance
sheet, for which it is practical to estimate that value.
Fair value represents the estimate of the proceeds to be received, or paid in the case of a liability, in a current transaction between willing parties. ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurement, establishes a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair value. Inputs are either observable or
unobservable in the marketplace. Observable inputs are based on market data from independent sources and unobservable inputs reflect the reporting entity’s
assumptions about market participant assumptions used to value an asset or liability.
Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as follows:
Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.
Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified according to the lowest level input that is significant to their valuation. A financial instrument that has a
significant unobservable input along with significant observable inputs may still be classified as a Level 3 instrument.
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We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial instruments using quoted market prices in active markets when such information is available or use
appropriate present value or other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating available market discount rate information for
similar types of instruments and our estimates for non-performance and liquidity risk. These techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used,
including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash flow.
Our consolidated balance sheets include the following financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable, certain other assets, deferred costs and
deposits, payable to related parties, prepaid rent, security deposits and deferred revenue and notes payable. With the exception of notes receivable and notes
payable discussed below, we consider the carrying values to approximate fair value for such financial instruments because of the short period of time between
origination of the instruments and their expected payment.
As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value of notes receivable was $1.0 million and $0.9 million, compared to the carrying value of
$0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The fair value of notes receivable is estimated by discounting the expected cash flows at current market rates at which
management believes similar loans would be made. To estimate fair value at December 31, 2012, we discounted the expected cash flows using a rate of 10.00%.
As the inputs to our valuation estimate are neither observable in nor supported by market activity, our notes receivable are classified as Level 3 assets within the
fair value hierarchy. During the second quarter of 2011, we determined the Servant Healthcare Investments, LLC note receivable was impaired, and therefore,
adjusted its carrying value to estimated fair value based on our assessment of the borrower’s business prospects and future cash flows from operations. In the
fourth quarter of 2011, we agreed to restructure the obligations outstanding pursuant to the Servant Investments, LLC and the Servant Healthcare Investments,
LLC notes receivable by executing a settlement, and consequently increased the value of the notes receivable accordingly (See Note 8).
As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value of notes payable was $51.0 million and $21.3 million, compared to the carrying value of $50.3
million and $21.1 million, respectively. The fair value of notes payable is estimated using lending rates available to us for financial instruments with similar terms
and maturities. To estimate fair value as of December 31, 2012, we utilized discount rates ranging from 3.07% to 5.0%. As the inputs to our valuation estimate are
neither observable in nor supported by market activity, our notes payable are classified as Level 3 assets within the fair value hierarchy. The carrying values noted
above include notes payable classified on our consolidated balance sheets as liabilities associated with real estate held for sale totaling $9.5 million and $1.8
million as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
As a result of our ongoing analysis for potential impairment of our investments in real estate, including properties classified as held for sale, we were required to
adjust the carrying value of certain assets to their estimated fair values as of December 31, 2012 (see Note 4).
The following table summarizes the assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during year ended December 31, 2012:

Real estate held for sale
Variable interest entity held for sale

Significant
Quoted Prices in Active
Other
Significant
Total
Total Fair
Markets for Identical
Observable Unobservable
Losses for the
Value
Assets
Inputs
Inputs
Year Ended
December 31, 2012
Measurement
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
$ 1,612,000 $
1,612,000 $
— $
— $
(937,000)
$ 3,760,000 $
— $ 3,760,000 $
— $
(1,140,000)

The following table summarizes the assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during the year ended December 31, 2011:

Investments in real estate
Real estate held for sale
Variable interest entity held for sale

Total Fair
Value
Measurement
$ 29,251,000
$ 13,505,000
$
4,900,000
F-11

Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)
$
$
$

—
—
—

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)
$
—
$
—
$
—

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)
$ 29,251,000
$ 13,505,000
$
4,900,000

Total
Losses
for the
Year
Ended
December 31, 2011
$
(15,268,000)
$
(28,541,000)
$
(4,765,000)

The real estate held for sale and measured at fair value, less estimated selling costs, in 2012 is deemed to be a level one asset as its fair value was derived from an
offer for the property for which a purchase and sale agreement had been executed.
The variable interest entity held for sale measured at fair value, less estimated selling costs, during 2012 was deemed to be a Level 2 asset as we had received a
formal offer for the property. As of the valuation date in the second quarter of 2012, we did not believe that this asset was a Level 1 asset because a purchase and
sale agreement had not been executed, giving the potential buyer the right to opt out of the transaction at its discretion. The variable interest entity held for sale
measured at fair value during 2011 was deemed to be a Level 3 asset was valued based primarily on market-based inputs and our assumptions about the use of the
assets, as observable inputs were not available. A purchase and sale agreement for the sale of the property was executed in the fourth quarter of 2012, subsequent
to the valuation date.
The investments in real estate measured in 2011 were deemed to be Level 3 assets as their fair value measurements relied primarily on our estimates of marketbased inputs and our assumptions about the use of the assets, as observable inputs were not available. In the absence of observable inputs, we estimate the fair
value of real estate using unobservable data such as net operating income and estimated capitalization and discount rates. We also consider local and national
industry market data including comparable sales, and at times engage an external real estate appraiser to assist us in our estimation of fair value. To estimate the
fair value of these assets, we utilized capitalization rates ranging from 7% to 9% and discount rates ranging from 9.25% to 10%.
The real estate assets held for sale that were measured in 2011 at fair value and deemed to be Level 3 assets were valued based primarily on market-based inputs
and our assumptions about the use of the assets, as observable inputs were not available. In the absence of observable inputs, we estimate the fair value of real
estate using unobservable data such as net operating income and estimated capitalization and discount rates. We also consider local and national industry market
data including comparable sales, and at times engage an external real estate appraiser to assist us in our estimation of fair value. To estimate the fair value of these
assets, we utilized capitalization rates ranging from 7% to 9% and discount rates ranging from 9.25% to 10%. Significant increases (decreases) in any valuation
inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement.
At December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we do not have any significant financial assets or financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis in our consolidated financial statements.
Variable Interest Entities
The Company analyzes its contractual and/or other interests to determine whether such interests constitute an interest in a variable interest entity (“VIE”) in
accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation, and, if so, whether the Company is the primary beneficiary. If the Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary
of a VIE, it must consolidate the VIE. A VIE is an entity with insufficient equity investment or in which the equity investors lack some of the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest. In determining whether it is the primary beneficiary, the Company considers, among other things, whether it has the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance, including, but not limited to, determining or limiting the scope or
purpose of the VIE, selling or transferring property owned or controlled by the VIE, or arranging financing for the VIE. The Company also considers whether it
has the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE (see Notes 5 and 10).
Tenant and Other Receivables, net
Tenant and other receivables are comprised of rental and reimbursement billings due from tenants and the cumulative amount of future adjustments necessary to
present rental income on a straight-line basis. Tenant receivables are recorded at the original amount earned, less an allowance for any doubtful accounts, which
approximates fair value. Management assesses the realizability of tenant receivables on an ongoing basis and provides for allowances as such balances, or
portions thereof, are estimated to become uncollectible. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, (recoveries)/provisions for bad debt amounted to
approximately ($13,000), ($15,000), and $10,000, respectively, which are included in property operating and maintenance expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Our allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.2 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
Other Assets, net
Other assets consist primarily of leasing commissions, net of amortization, and prepaid insurance. Additionally, other assets will be amortized to expense over
their future service periods. Balances without future economic benefit are expensed as they are identified.
Leasing commissions are stated at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over the related lease term. As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we
incurred approximately $2.2 million and $0.4 million in leasing commissions, respectively. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011,
and 2010 was approximately $0.2 million, $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
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Deferred Costs and Deposits
Deferred costs and deposits primarily consist of utility deposits.
Deferred Financing Costs
Costs incurred in connection with debt financing are recorded as deferred financing costs. Deferred financing costs are amortized using the straight-line basis
which approximates the effective interest rate method, over the contractual terms of the respective financings.
Revenue Recognition and Valuation of Receivables
Revenue is recorded in accordance with ASC 840, Leases, and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, as
amended” (“SAB 104”). Such accounting provisions require that revenue be recognized after four basic criteria are met. These four criteria include persuasive
evidence of an arrangement, the rendering of service, fixed and determinable income and reasonably assured collectability. Leases with fixed annual rental
escalators are recognized on a straight-line basis over the initial lease period, subject to a collectability assessment. Rental income related to leases with
contingent rental escalators is generally recorded based on the contractual cash rental payments due for the period. Because our leases provide for free rent, lease
incentives, or other rental increases at specified intervals, we straight-line the recognition of revenue, which results in the recording of a receivable for rent not yet
due under the lease terms. Our revenues are comprised largely of rental income and other income collected from tenants.
Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Subsidiary
Noncontrolling interest relates to the interest in the consolidated entities that are not wholly-owned by us.
On January 1, 2009, we adopted ASC 810-10-65, “Consolidation”, which clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the
consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. ASC 810-10-65 also requires consolidated net income to be reported
at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest and requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated
statements of operations, of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest.
We periodically evaluate individual noncontrolling interests for the ability to continue to recognize the noncontrolling interest as permanent equity in the
consolidated balance sheets. Any noncontrolling interest that fails to qualify as permanent equity will be reclassified as temporary equity and adjusted to the
greater of (a) the carrying amount, or (b) its redemption value as of the end of the period in which the determination is made.
Income Taxes
We have elected to be taxed as a REIT, under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) beginning with our
taxable year ending December 31, 2006. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to
currently distribute at least 90% of the REIT’s ordinary taxable income to stockholders. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on
taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will then be subject to federal income taxes on our
taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for four years following the
year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service were to grant us relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could
materially and adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders. However, we believe that we will be organized and operate
in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT and intend to operate for the foreseeable future in such a manner so that we will remain qualified as a REIT
for federal income tax purposes.
Uncertain Tax Positions
In accordance with the requirements of ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” favorable tax positions are included in the calculation of tax liabilities if it is more likely than
not that our adopted tax position will prevail if challenged by tax authorities. As a result of our REIT status, we are able to claim a dividends-paid deduction on
our tax return to deduct the full amount of common dividends paid to stockholders when computing our annual taxable income, which results in our taxable
income being passed through to our stockholders. A REIT is subject to a 100% tax on the net income from prohibited transactions. A “prohibited transaction” is
the sale or other disposition of property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business. There is a safe harbor provision which, if
met, expressly prevents the Internal Revenue Service from asserting the prohibited transaction test. We have no income tax expense, deferred tax assets or
deferred tax liabilities associated with any such uncertain tax positions for the operations of any entity included in the consolidated results of operations.
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Basic and Diluted Net Loss and Distributions per Common Share
Basic and diluted net loss per common share applicable to common shares is computed by dividing net loss applicable to common shares by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. For year ended December 31, 2012, 40,000 stock options have been excluded from the weighted-average
number of shares outstanding since their effect was anti-dilutive. For each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 65,000 stock options have been
excluded from the weighted-average number of shares outstanding since their effect was anti-dilutive.
Basic and diluted net loss per share is calculated as follows:

Net loss applicable to common shares
Basic and diluted net loss per common share applicable to common shares
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding — basic and diluted

Year Ended
Year Ended
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
December 31,
2012
2011
2010
$
(7,458,000) $
(52,058,000) $
(3,131,000)
$
(0.33) $
(2.26) $
(0.14)
23,028,285
23,031,830
22,921,142

The Company declared cash distributions per common share of $0, $0.04, and $0.45 during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
Reclassification
Assets sold or held for sale and associated liabilities have been reclassified on the consolidated balance sheets and operating results and impairments, if any,
reclassified from continuing to discontinued operations.
New Accounting Pronouncements
On January 1, 2012, we adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2011-04, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair
Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS. ASU 2011-04 requires incremental fair value disclosures in the notes to the financial
statements. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02, Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment which amends FASB Topic 350, Intangibles-Goodwill
and Other to allow, but not require, an entity, when performing its annual or more frequent indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test, to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events and circumstances indicates that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible asset
is impaired. If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, an entity concludes that it is not more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible
asset is impaired, then the entity is not required to take further action. However, if an entity concludes otherwise, then it is required to determine the fair value of
the indefinite-lived intangible asset and perform the quantitative impairment test by comparing the fair value with the carrying amount. ASU 2012-02 is effective
for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of ASU 201202 is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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4. Investments in Real Estate
As of December 31, 2012, our portfolio consists of fourteen properties which were approximately 82.8% leased. The following table provides summary
information regarding our properties.
Property (1)
Industrial:
Shoemaker Industrial Buildings
20100 Western Avenue(3)
Marathon Center
Orlando Small Bay Portfolio:
Carter Commerce Center(3)
Goldenrod Commerce Center
Hanging Moss Commerce Center
Monroe South Commerce Center
Monroe North Commerce Center
1830 Santa Fe
Subtotal Industrial:
Healthcare:
Sheridan Care Center
Fern Hill Care Center
Farmington Square
Friendship Haven Healthcare and
Rehabilitation Center
Pacific Health and Rehabilitation Center
Subtotal Healthcare:

Purchase
Price

Location

Date Purchased

Santa Fe Springs, CA
Torrance, CA
Tampa Bay, FL

June 30, 2006
December 1, 2006
April 2, 2007

Winter Garden, FL
Orlando, FL
Orlando, FL
Sanford, FL

November 15, 2007
November 15, 2007
November 15, 2007
November 15, 2007

Sanford, FL
Santa Ana, CA

April 17, 2008
August 5, 2010

37,128,000
14,275,000
1,315,000
79,218,000

Sheridan, OR
Portland, OR
Medford, OR

August 3, 2012
August 3, 2012
September 14, 2012

4,100,000
4,500,000
8,500,000

2,800,000(2)
3,000,000(2)
5,800,000(2)

Galveston County, TX
Tigard, OR

September 14, 2012
December 24, 2012

15,000,000
8,140,000
40,240,000

10,700,000(2)
6,150,000(2)
28,450,000(2)

Total

$

$

Debt

2,400,000
19,650,000
4,450,000

119,458,000

$

—
8,900,000
—

6,499,000
6,445,000
—
21,844,000

$

50,294,000

(1)The table excludes Sherburne Commons, a variable interest entity (“VIE”) for which we became the primary beneficiary and began consolidating its
financial results as of June 30, 2011. As of October 19, 2011, Sherburne Commons was classified as held for sale (see Notes 10 and 16).
(2)Represents healthcare properties with single tenant leases. These properties were acquired in the third and fourth quarters of 2012 (see Note 5).
(3)In the fourth quarter of 2012, we entered into definitive agreements to sell the 20100 Western Avenue and Carter Commerce Center properties.
Consequently, these properties are classified as held for sale (see note 16).
As of December 31, 2012, adjusted cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization related to our industrial and healthcare investments in real estate and
intangible assets and liabilities, excluding our VIE held for sale, were as follows:

Land
Investments in real estate and related intangible lease
assets (liabilities)
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net investments in real estate and related intangible
lease assets (liabilities)

Acquired
AboveMarket
Leases

Furniture
and
Fixture

Buildings and
Improvements

Acquired
BelowMarket
Leases

In-Place
Lease
Value

$ 16,046,000
—

$

56,761,000 $
(2,262,000)

2,915,000 $ 1,401,000 $ 3,901,000 $
(165,000)
(1,381,000)
(1,239,000)

$ 16,046,000

$

54,499,000

2,750,000
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$

$

20,000

$

2,662,000

$

(620,000)
620,000
—

As of December 31, 2011, adjusted cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization related to investments in real estate and related intangible lease assets and
liabilities were as follows:

Investments in real estate and related intangible lease assets (liabilities)
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net investments in real estate and related intangible lease assets
(liabilities)

Land
$ 11,733,000
—

Acquired
AboveBuildings and
Market
In-Place
Improvements
Lease Value
Leases
$ 34,180,000 $ 1,401,000 $ 1,181,000 $
(850,000)
(1,365,000)
(1,134,000)

$ 11,733,000

$

33,330,000

$

36,000

$

47,000

Acquired
BelowMarket
Leases
(620,000)
576,000

$

(44,000)

Depreciation expense associated with buildings and improvements, including real estate held for sale, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 was $1.7 million, $2.1 million and $2.9 million, respectively.
Net amortization expense associated with the intangible lease assets and liabilities, including those associated with real estate held for sale, for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively. Anticipated amortization for each of the five following years
ended December 31 is as follows:

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 and thereafter

$
$
$
$
$
$

Amortization
of Intangible
Lease Assets
252,000
241,000
239,000
233,000
233,000
1,484,000

The estimated useful lives of intangible lease assets range from one month to fifteen years. As of December 31, 2012, the weighted-average amortization period
for in-place leases, acquired above-market leases and acquired below-market leases were 11.8 years, 2.0 years and 0 years, respectively.
Impairments
In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we conduct a comprehensive review of our real estate assets for impairment. ASC 360 requires
that asset values be analyzed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a property may not be fully recoverable.
Indicators of potential impairment include the following:
•

Change in strategy resulting in a decreased holding period;

•

Decreased occupancy levels;

•

Deterioration of the rental market as evidenced by rent decreases over numerous quarters;

•

Properties adjacent to or located in the same submarket as those with recent impairment issues;

•

Significant decrease in market price; and/or

•

Tenant financial problems.

The intended use of an asset, either held for sale or held and used, can significantly impact the measurement of asset recoverability. If an asset is intended to be
held and used, the impairment analysis is based on a two-step test.
The first test measures estimated expected future cash flows over the holding period, including a residual value (undiscounted and without interest charges),
against the carrying value of the property. If the asset fails that test, the asset carrying value is compared to the estimated fair value with the excess of the asset’s
carrying value over the estimated fair value recognized as an impairment charge to earnings.
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In the second quarter of 2011, we reviewed the impairment indicators as described above. At that time, our board of directors began evaluating strategic
alternatives to maximize shareholder value, and therefore, we believed that our properties could potentially have shorter holding periods than previously planned
in past reporting periods when estimating whether the carrying value of the properties was recoverable. The use of shorter hold periods reduced our future
(undiscounted) cash flows attributable to the properties. Consequently, we were required to adjust certain properties to their estimated fair values resulting in an
impairment charge of $14.9 million, which is classified as impairment of real estate on our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
2011. If our holding period or other assumptions change, additional properties could require additional testing and could result in additional impairment charges
in future periods.
In the third quarter of 2011, we noted an increase in uncollected rent payments at the 1830 Santa Fe property. The corresponding reduction in our undiscounted
cash flow forecasts caused us to fail the first step of our impairment test. Accordingly, we performed a Step 2 discounted cash flow analysis and as a result
recorded an impairment charge of $0.4 million related to this property which is classified as impairment of real estate on our consolidated statement of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2011.
We recorded no impairment charges related to properties held and used in 2012.
The fair value of our properties was derived using an income approach primarily utilizing Level 3 inputs. This approach estimates fair value based on expected
future cash flows and requires us to estimate, among other things, (1) future market rental income amounts, (2) property operating expenses, (3) risk-adjusted rate
of return and capitalization rates, (4) the number of months it is expected to take to re-lease the property, and (5) the number of years the property is expected to
be held for investment. A change in any one or more of these factors could materially impact whether a property is impaired as of any given valuation date. When
available, current market information, such as comparative sales prices, was used to determine capitalization, discount, and rental growth rates. In cases where
market information was not readily available, the inputs were based on our understanding of market conditions and the experience of our management team.
The following table illustrates, by property, the impairment charge recorded to impairment of real estate held and used for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011:
Property

2012

Goldenrod Commerce Center
Hanging Moss Commerce Center
Monroe North Commerce Center
Monroe South Commerce Center
1830 Santa Fe

2011

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

3,403,000
2,544,000
4,530,000
4,366,000
425,000

$

—

$

15,268,000

During 2010, we recorded an impairment charge related to one investment in real estate totaling approximately $1.2 million. The impairment was primarily
driven by reduced estimates of net operating income, due to the impact of declines in the multi-tenant industrial real estate market and credit conditions of certain
tenants, which when combined with increases in the capitalization rates assumptions, resulted in the decreases in values of such properties.
The assessment as to whether our investments in real estate are impaired is highly subjective. The calculations, which are primarily based on discounted cash flow
analyses, involve management’s best estimate of the holding period, market comparable, future occupancy levels, rental rates, capitalization rates, lease-up
periods and capital requirements for each property. A change in any one or more of these factors could materially impact whether a property is impaired as of any
given valuation date.
Real Estate Held for Sale
In the fourth quarter of 2012, we entered into agreements to sell 20100 Western Avenue, which was sold on January 23, 2013, and Carter Commerce Center,
which was sold on January 31, 2013. Consequently, we reclassified these properties to real estate held for sale.
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In the second quarter of 2011, we reclassified the 15172 Goldenwest Circle property (“Goldenwest”), which was sold on June 14, 2011, the Mack Deer Valley,
and Pinnacle Park Business Center properties, which were sold on November 28, 2011, and the 2111 South Industrial Park property, which was sold on
December 22, 2011, to real estate held for sale. In the fourth quarter of 2011, we reclassified Nantucket Acquisition LLC, a VIE for which we are the primary
beneficiary, to real estate held for sale. The financial results for the properties classified as real estate held for sale have been reclassified to discontinued
operations for all periods presented (see Note 16).
When assets are classified as held for sale, they are recorded at the lower of carrying value or the estimated fair value of the asset, net of estimated selling costs.
Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2012, we recorded a $0.9 million impairment loss related to the Carter Commerce Center based on the contractual sales
price. In the first quarter of 2012, we recorded a $1.1 million impairment related to Nantucket Acquisition, LLC, as a result of receiving an offer to purchase the
property. We recorded an impairment charge of $19.1 million for the Goldenwest, Mack Deer Valley, Pinnacle Park Business Center, and 2111 South Industrial
Park properties upon their transfer into real estate held for sale in the second quarter of 2011 (see Note 16). In the third quarter of 2011, we recorded an additional
impairment of $0.2 million for the 2111 South Industrial Park property. In the fourth quarter of 2011, we recorded an additional impairment of $0.9 million for
the Pinnacle Park Business Center property due to a change in facts and circumstances related to the value of the asset subsequent to September 30, 2011 and a
$4.8 million impairment related to Nantucket Acquisition, LLC, due to persistently low occupancy levels at the property.
During 2010, we recorded an impairment charge related to one investment in real estate held for sale totaling approximately $0.8 million.
See Note 16 for discussion of amounts recorded in discontinued operations.
Future Minimum Lease Payments
The future minimum lease payments to be received under existing operating leases for properties owned as of December 31, 2012 are as follows:
Years ending December 31,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 and thereafter

$

$

7,032,000
6,294,000
5,895,000
5,449,000
5,305,000
33,679,000
63,654,000

The schedule does not reflect future rental revenues from the potential renewal or replacement of existing and future leases and excludes property operating
expense reimbursements. Additionally, leases where the tenant can terminate the lease with short-term notice are not included. Industrial space is generally leased
to tenants under lease terms that provide for the tenants to pay increases in operating expenses in excess of specified amounts.
5. Business Combinations
Nantucket Acquisition LLC
Nantucket Acquisition LLC is considered a variable interest entity because the equity owners of Nantucket Acquisition LLC do not have sufficient equity at risk,
and our mortgage loan commitment was determined to be a variable interest. Due to the suspension of interest payments by the borrower, we issued a notice of
default to the borrower on June 30, 2011 and determined that we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE due to our enhanced ability to direct the activities of the
VIE. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is required to consolidate the operations of the VIE. Consequently, we have consolidated the operations of the VIE as of
June 30, 2011 and, accordingly, eliminated the note receivable from related party balance in consolidation (see Note 9 and 10).
As of October 19, 2011, Sherburne Commons, the property owned by Nantucket Acquisition LLC (see Note 9), met the requirements for reclassification to real
estate held for sale. Consequently, the related assets and liabilities of the property are classified as assets of variable interest entity held for sale and liabilities of
variable interest entity held for sale, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheets. Operating results for the property have been reclassified to discontinued
operations on our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011 (see Notes 9, 10 and 16). In the fourth quarter of 2011, we recorded
an impairment of $4.8 million to write down Sherburne Commons to its estimated fair value net of selling costs. We recorded an additional impairment of $1.1
million in the first quarter of 2012 based upon an offer to purchase the property.
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Healthcare Properties
In 2012, we acquired through CHP LLC the five healthcare properties described below. CHREF, an affiliate of the Advisor, owns a 5% interest in CHP LLC. As
CHP LLC’s equity holders have voting rights disproportionate to their economic interests in the entity, CHP LLC is considered to be a VIE. We have controlling
financial interest in CHP LLC because we have the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and we have
the obligation to absorb the VIE’s losses and the right to receive benefits from the VIE. Consequently, we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE,
and therefore have consolidated the operations of the VIE beginning in the third quarter of 2012. Assets of the VIE may only be used to settle obligations of the
VIE and creditors of the VIE have no recourse to the general credit of the Company.
Portland, Oregon Properties (Sheridan and Fernhill)
On August 3, 2012, through CHP LLC we acquired two skilled nursing facilities located in the Portland, Oregon metropolitan area for a purchase price of $8.6
million in cash. 411 SE Sheridan Road (“Sheridan”), located approximately fifty miles southwest of Portland in Sheridan, Oregon, is a 51-bed intermediate care
facility with a current occupancy of approximately 81%. This 13,912 square foot single-story facility was constructed in multiple phases between 1960 and 1970.
5737 NE 37th Avenue (“Fernhill”) located in Portland, Oregon, is a 13,344 square foot, originally constructed to be a 51-bed facility with current occupancy of
approximately 72%. The facility was built in 1960 and has obtained approval to expand to 63 beds. The operator of the Sheridan and Fernhill properties has
served in that capacity since 2005, and has over twenty years of experience operating skilled nursing facilities in the Pacific Northwest. Upon the closing of the
acquisitions, the existing operator is continuing to operate the properties under new long-term, triple-net leases. Including the Sheridan and Fernhill properties, the
operator manages four skilled nursing facilities in Oregon. We acquired our interest in these properties subject to a secured loan with the seller in the aggregate
amount of approximately $5.8 million secured by security interests in Sheridan and Fernhill. On September 14, 2012, we repaid the entire principal balance of the
seller loan with proceeds from a loan from General Electric Capital Corporation which is secured, in part, by the Sheridan and Fernhill properties (see Note 14).
Medford, Oregon
On September 14, 2012, through CHP LLC, we acquired Farmington Square Medford, a memory care facility with 52 units and 71 licensed beds located within
the Medford, Oregon city limits, for a purchase price of $8.5 million in cash. The facility, consisting of four separate wood-framed, single-story buildings totaling
32,557 square feet, was constructed in phases between 1990 and 1997 and currently operates at approximately 90% occupancy. The operator of the Medford
Facility has served in that capacity since 1991, and has over twenty years of experience operating senior-living facilities in the Pacific Northwest. The manager of
the facility is continuing to operate the facility under a new long-term, triple-net lease. The acquisition was funded from a loan from General Electric Capital
Corporation secured by the property.
Galveston, Texas
On September 14, 2012, through CHP LLC, we acquired Friendship Haven Healthcare and Rehabilitation Center, a skilled-nursing facility with 150 licensed beds
located in Galveston County, Texas, for a purchase price of $15.0 million. The facility, a single-story, 53,826 square foot wood-frame building, was constructed
in 1997 and currently operates at 90% occupancy. The manager of the Galveston Facility has served in that capacity since February 2012, and has over twenty
years of experience operating senior-living facilities in Texas and Louisiana. The licensed operator is continuing to operate the Galveston facility under a new
long-term, triple-net lease. Including the Galveston Facility, the manager manages fifteen skilled-nursing facilities in Texas. The acquisition was funded from a
loan from General Electric Capital Corporation secured by the property.
Tigard, Oregon
On December 21, 2012, through CHP LLC, we acquired, through the exercise of an option that was assigned to us by Pacific Gardens Real Estate LLC (“Seller”),
the Pacific Health & Rehabilitation skilled-nursing facility (“Pacific”) located in Tigard, Oregon for $8.1 million in cash. Pacific, located at 14145 SW 105th
Street, Tigard, Oregon has an operational capacity of 78 beds. Pacific will be leased to the current operator pursuant to a long-term triple-net lease.
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The following summary provides the allocation of the acquired assets and liabilities of the Sheridan, Portland, Medford, Galveston and Pacific properties as of the
respective dates of acquisition. We have accounted for the acquisitions as business combinations under U.S. GAAP. Under business combination accounting, the
assets and liabilities of acquired properties are recorded as of the acquisition date, at their respective fair values, and consolidated in our financial statements. The
following sets forth the allocation of the purchase prices of the acquired properties as well as the associated acquisitions costs, which have been expensed as
incurred.
Land
Buildings & improvements
Site improvements
Furniture & fixtures
In-place leases
Certificate of need
Real estate acquisitions
Real estate acquisition costs

Sheridan
160,000
1,374,000
151,000
328,000
290,000
1,797,000
$ 4,100,000
$ 109,000
$

Portland
847,000
1,276,000
46,000
359,000
307,000
1,665,000
$ 4,500,000
$ 109,000
$

Medford
954,000
6,353,000
233,000
434,000
526,000
—
$ 8,500,000
$
298,000
$

Galveston
1,095,000
11,101,000
509,000
1,263,000
1,032,000
—
$ 15,000,000
$
222,000
$

Pacific
$ 1,466,000
1,989,000
266,000
531,000
565,000
3,323,000
$ 8,140,000
$ 209,000

Total
4,521,000
22,093,000
1,205,000
2,915,000
2,720,000
6,786,000
$ 40,240,000
$
947,000
$

The Company recorded revenues and net loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 of approximately $1.3 million and $0.7 million, respectively,
related to the 2012 acquisitions. The following unaudited pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 has been prepared to reflect the
incremental effect of the above properties acquired during 2012 as if all such transactions took place on January 1, 2011. For the year ended December 31, 2012,
acquisition-related costs of $0.9 million were excluded from pro forma net loss. 2011 pro forma net loss was adjusted to include these charges.

Revenues
Net loss from continuing operations
Basic and diluted net loss per common share from continuing operations

$
$
$

Years ended December 31,
2012
2011
7,656,000
$
7,764,000
(2,903,000)
$
(19,878,000)
(0.13)
$
(0.86)

6. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.2 million as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.
7. Concentration of Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk are primarily notes receivable and the note receivable from related party. Refer to
Notes 8 and 9 with regard to credit risk evaluation of notes receivable and the note receivable from related party, respectively. Our cash is generally invested in
investment-grade short-term instruments
.
On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed into law the “Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act” that implements significant changes to
the regulation of the financial services industry, including provisions that made permanent the $250,000 limit for federal deposit insurance and increased the cash
limit of Securities Investor Protection Corporation protection from $100,000 to $250,000, and provided unlimited federal deposit insurance until January 1, 2013,
for non-interest bearing demand transaction accounts at all insured depository institutions. As of December 31, 2012, we had cash accounts in excess of FDICinsured limits. However, we do not believe the risk associated with this excess is significant.
Concentrations of credit risk also arise when a number of tenants or obligors related to one investment are engaged in similar business activities or activities in the
same geographic regions, have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations, including those of the Company, to be
similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. We regularly monitor our portfolio to assess potential concentration risk.
As of December 31, 2012, excluding the Sherburne Commons VIE, we owned three properties in the state of California, six properties in the state of Florida, four
properties in the state of Oregon and one property in the state of Texas. Accordingly, there is a geographic concentration of risk subject to economic conditions in
these states. Additionally, as of December 31, 2012, we owned five healthcare properties leased to three different tenants under long-term triple net leases.
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8. Notes Receivable
In May 2008, we agreed to loan up to $10.0 million at a rate of 10% per year to two real estate operating companies, Servant Investments, LLC (“SI”) and
Servant Healthcare Investments, LLC (“SHI” and collectively with SI, “Servant”). In May 2010, the loan commitments were reduced to $8.75 million. The loans
were scheduled to mature on May 19, 2013. At the time the loans were negotiated, Servant was an advisor to an affiliate of the managing member of our Advisor.
On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the collectability of our notes receivable. Our evaluation of collectability involves judgment, estimates, and a review of the
underlying collateral and borrower’s business models and future cash flows from operations. During the third quarter of 2009, we concluded that the collectability
of the SI note could not be reasonably assured. Therefore, we recorded a reserve of $4.6 million against the note. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the SI note
receivable had a net balance of $0. It is our policy to recognize interest income on the reserved loan on a cash basis. For the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010, interest income related to the SI note receivable was $0, $0, and $0.4 million, respectively.
In the second quarter of 2011, after evaluating the expected effects of changes in the borrower’s business prospects, including the uncertainty surrounding
Servant’s realization of the fees pursuant to a sub-advisory agreement, we concluded that it was probable that the Company would be unable to collect all
amounts due according to the terms of the SHI note and consequently, we recorded a note receivable impairment of $1.7 million against the balance of that note.
In December 2011, the notes receivable were restructured to provide for the settlement of the notes in the amount of $2.5 million, $1.5 million of which was
received from the borrower in December 2011. The remaining $1.0 million is payable pursuant to a promissory note of SHI which provides for interest at a fixed
rate of 5.00% per annum. A principal payment of $0.7 million, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, is due on December 22, 2013 and the remaining balance of
$0.3 million, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, is due on December 22, 2014. The note receivable was recorded at its present value of $0.9 million on our
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011.
The following table reconciles notes receivable from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012:
Balance at January 1
Additions:
Additions to note receivable
Recovery of notes receivable due to settlement agreement
Deductions:
Note receivable payments (1)
Note receivable impairments
Balance at December 31,
1 Includes

$

2012
908,000

$

$

$

2010
2,875,000

(1,650,000)
(1,650,000)
908,000 $

1,125,000
—
—
—
—
4,000,000

—
208,000

—
—
—
908,000

2011
4,000,000

$

a 0.2 million principal repayment made by SHI in the second quarter of 2011.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the SHI note receivable had a balance of $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010, interest income related to the note receivable, which has been paid timely, was $52,000, $0.3 million, and $0.3 million, respectively. We
determined that Servant is not a variable interest entity and there is no requirement to include this entity in our consolidated balance sheets and consolidated
statements of operations.
9. Note Receivable from Related Party
On December 14, 2009, we made a participating first mortgage loan (in two tranches) with a principal amount totaling $8.0 million to Nantucket Acquisition LLC
(“Nantucket”), an affiliate of our Advisor. The loan was made in connection with Nantucket Acquisition’s purchase of a 60-unit senior living community known
as Sherburne Commons located on the island of Nantucket, MA. Nantucket was formed for the sole purpose of acquiring Sherburne Commons and related real
estate, and holds no other assets. The loan matures on January 1, 2015, with no option to extend, and bears interest at a fixed rate of 8.0% for the term of the loan.
Nantucket Acquisition is considered a variable interest entity because the equity owners of Nantucket Acquisition do not have sufficient equity at risk, and our
mortgage loan commitment was determined to be a variable interest.
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Under the terms of the loan, we are entitled to receive additional interest in the form of a 40% participation in the appreciation in value of the property.
Prepayment of the loan is not permitted without our consent and the loan is not assumable.
On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the collectability of our note receivable from related party. Our evaluation of collectability involves judgment, estimates, a
review of the underlying collateral and borrower’s business models and future cash flows from operations. For the years ended December 31, 2011, and 2010, we
did not record any impairment on the note receivable from related party.
Because the property’s occupancy never achieved targeted levels, Nantucket did not have sufficient cash flow and therefore stopped paying interest on the loan in
the first quarter of 2011. On June 30, 2011, the Company issued a notice of default to Nantucket. It was this event that caused management to determine that the
Company had become the primary beneficiary of this VIE and to modify its previous accounting treatment for Nantucket. In accordance with the loan agreement,
upon Nantucket’s default, the Company obtained the power to direct the activities of Sherburne Commons that most significantly impacted Nantucket’s economic
performance, including assuming control of marketing and leasing activity, rental pricing, and the decision to sell or hold Sherburne Commons. As the estimated
fair value of Sherburne Commons at that time was less than the principal balance of the Company’s first lien loan on the real property, therefore eliminating any
equity in the real property held by Nantucket, the Company assumed the obligation to absorb the losses of, and obtained the right to receive any benefits from, the
VIE. Since assuming such control, the Company has funded approximately $1.1 million in working capital to support Nantucket. The Company was not
contractually required to provide such support. These funds were provided to maintain the operations at the property to prepare it for an eventual sale, which
management believes is the only plausible strategy for recovery of the note balance. In management’s judgment, the above fact pattern gave the Company a
controlling financial interest in Nantucket. Consequently, the Company became the primary beneficiary of the VIE and consolidated the financial results of
Nantucket as of June 30, 2011 (see Note 10). In the fourth quarter of 2011, we recorded an impairment charge related to assets of variable interest entity held for
sale of $4.8 million related to the Sherburne Commons property.
As a result of the default described above, we began recognizing interest income on a cash basis commencing in the first quarter of 2011. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, interest income recognized on the note was $0, $55,000, and $0.6 million, respectively.
During 2012 and 2011, the loan balance was increased by $0.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively, to provide funds to meet Sherburne Commons’ operating
shortfalls.
As of October 19, 2011, the Sherburne Commons property met the requirements for reclassification to real estate held for sale. Consequently, the related assets
and liabilities of the property are classified as assets of variable interest entity held for sale and liabilities of variable interest entity held for sale, respectively, on
our consolidated balance sheets. Operating results for the property have been reclassified to discontinued operations on our consolidated statements of operations
for all periods presented.
The following table reconciles note receivable from related party from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012:
2012
Balance at January 1
Additions:
Additions to note receivable from related parties
Deductions:
Deductions:
Repayments of note receivable from related party
Elimination of balance in consolidation of VIE
Balance at December 31,

$

—

$

595,000

$

—
(595,000)
— $

2011
8,000,000

$

548,000
—
(8,548,000)
— $

2010
6,911,000
1,089,000
—
8,000,000

10. Consolidation of Nantucket Variable Interest Entity
GAAP requires the consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE”) in which an enterprise has a controlling financial interest. A controlling financial interest has
both of the following characteristics: (i) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIEs economic performance and (ii) the
obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be
significant to the VIE.
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In compliance with ASC 810, Consolidation, we continuously analyze and reconsider our initial determination of VIE status to determine whether we are the
primary beneficiary by considering, among other things, whether we have the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic
performance. Such activities would include, among other things, determining or limiting the scope or purpose of the VIE, selling or transferring property owned
or controlled by the VIE, or arranging financing for the VIE. We also consider whether we have the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive
benefits from the VIE.
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had a variable interest in a VIE in the form of a note receivable from Nantucket Acquisition in the amount of $9.1 million
(see Note 9).
As a result of our issuing a notice of default with respect to the note, we determined that we were the primary beneficiary of the VIE. Therefore, we consolidated
the operations of the VIE beginning June 30, 2011. Assets of the VIE may only be used to settle obligations of the VIE and creditors of the VIE have no recourse
to the general credit of the Company.
As of October 19, 2011, the Sherburne Commons property was reclassified to real estate held for sale. Consequently, the related assets and liabilities of the
property are classified as assets of variable interest entity held for sale and liabilities of variable interest entity held for sale on our consolidated balance sheet.
Operating results for the property have been reclassified to discontinued operations on our consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented.
The following table illustrates our fair value allocation of the assets and liabilities of Sherburne Commons consolidated in our consolidated balance sheets as of
June 30, 2011, the date of consolidation of the VIE:
Cash and cash equivalents
Buildings and improvements
Site improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Below-market ground lease
In-place leases
Below-market leases
Accounts receivable and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interest payable
Loan payable
Note payable
Total net assets

$

$

236,000
5,658,000
610,000
390,000
3,180,000
90,000
(290,000)
195,000
(289,000)
(57,000)
(128,000)
(1,332,000)
8,263,000

The estimated fair value of the property was derived using an income approach primarily utilizing Level 3 inputs. This approach estimates fair value based on
expected future cash flows and requires us to estimate, among other things (1) future market rental income amounts, (2) property operating expenses, (3) riskadjusted rate of return and capitalization rates, and (4) the number of months it is expected to take to re-lease the property to stabilized levels. A change in any
one or more of these factors could materially impact whether a property is impaired as of any given valuation date. When available, current market information,
such as comparative sales prices, was used to determine capitalization, discount, and rental growth rates. In cases where market information was not readily
available, the inputs were based on our understanding of market conditions and the experience of our management team.
Since the Sherburne Commons property was reclassified to held for sale in the fourth quarter of 2011, the real estate is recorded at the lower of carrying value or
the estimated fair value of the asset, net of estimated selling costs. Since June 30, 2011, leasing activity has been lower than originally anticipated and we have
continued to provide funds to meet Sherburne Commons’ operating shortfalls. As a result, at the time the property was reclassified as real estate held for sale, we
reduced our cash flow forecasts for purposes of determining whether the property was impaired. As a result of expected reduced leasing activity which reduced
our cash flow forecasts for Sherburne Commons, we were required to adjust the property to its estimated fair value, net of estimated selling costs resulting in an
impairment charge of $4.8 million, which is classified in discontinued operations as impairment of real estate sold and asset held for sale on our consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011 (see Notes 9 and 16).
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The following unaudited pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 has been prepared to reflect the incremental
effect on the Company had the operations of Sherburne Commons been consolidated on January 1, 2010.
Revenues
Net loss applicable to common shares
Basic and diluted net loss per common share applicable to common shares

2011
5,487,000
(53,080,000)
(2.30)

$
$
$

$
$
$

2010
7,385,000
(5,419,000)
(0.24)

No adjustments for non-recurring charges were made in the pro-forma information presented above. For Sherburne Commons, we recorded revenues of $1.9
million and $1.1 million and expenses of $2.8 million and $2.7 million in discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
As of December 31, 2012, adjusted cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization related to real estate and related intangible lease assets and liabilities
of the VIE held for sale were as follows:
Buildings and
Improvements
Net investments in real estate and related intangible lease assets (liabilities)
of VIE held for sale

$

688,000

Acquired Above
Market Leases
$

3,172,000

In-Place Lease
Value
$

45,000

Acquired
Below-Market
Leases
$

(145,000)

11. Payables to Related Parties
Payables to related parties consists of asset management fees and expense reimbursement payable.
12. Equity
Common Stock
Our articles of incorporation authorize 290,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value
of $0.001. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had cumulatively issued approximately 20.9 million shares of common stock for a total of $167.1 million of
gross proceeds, exclusive of shares issued under our distribution reinvestment plan. On November 23, 2010, we stopped making and accepting offers to purchase
shares of our stock (see Note 2).
Distributions and Distribution Reinvestment Plan
We adopted a distribution reinvestment plan that allows our stockholders to have their distributions invested in additional shares of our common stock. We have
registered 21,100,000 shares of our common stock for sale pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan. The purchase price per share is 95% of the price paid by
the purchaser for our common stock, but not less than $7.60 per share. As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, approximately 2.3 million shares had
been issued under the distribution reinvestment plan. Effective December 14, 2010, we suspended the distribution reinvestment plan indefinitely. As a result,
distributions were paid entirely in cash during the period between December 14, 2010 and March 31, 2011. Commencing with the April 2011 distributions, the
board elected to pay distributions on a quarterly basis. However, due to cash constraints, the board elected to defer the second quarter 2011 distribution payment
until the Company’s cash position improves. The second quarter distribution of $0.5 million was paid in the fourth quarter of 2011. We cannot provide any
assurance as to if or when we will resume our distribution reinvestment plan.
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The following distributions were declared during 2011 and 2012:

Period
First quarter 2011
Second quarter 2011
Third quarter 2011
Four quarter 2011
First quarter 2012
Second quarter 2012
Third quarter 2012
Fourth quarter 2012
(1)
(2)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Distributions Declared (1)(2)
Cash
Reinvested
Total
454,000 $
— $
454,000
460,000 $
— $
460,000
— $
— $
—
— $
— $
—
— $
— $
—
— $
— $
—
— $
— $
—
— $
— $
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Cash Flows
Provided by
(Used in)
Operating
Activities
481,000
(219,000)
(323,000)
(1,608,000)
(800,000)
(953,000)
(2,400,000)
(2,282,000)

100% of the distributions declared during 2011 represented a return of capital for federal income tax purposes.
In order to meet the requirements for being treated as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, we must pay distributions to our shareholders each taxable
year equal to at least 90% of our net ordinary taxable income. Some of our distributions have been paid from sources other than operating cash flow, such
as offering proceeds.

The declaration of distributions is at the discretion of our board of directors and our board will determine the amount of distributions on a regular basis. The
amount of distributions will depend on our funds from operations, financial condition, capital requirements, annual distribution requirements under the REIT
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other factors our board of directors deems relevant. On November 23, 2010, our board of directors resolved to lower
our distributions to an annualized rate of $0.08 per share (1% based on a share price of $8.00). No distributions have been declared for periods after June 30,
2011. The rate and frequency of distributions is subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may change from time to time based on our operating
results and cash flow.
From our inception in October 2004 through December 31, 2012, we declared aggregate distributions of $32.8 million. Our cumulative net loss and cumulative
net cash provided by operating activities during the same period were $76.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively.
Stock Repurchase Program
On November 23, 2010, our board of directors concluded that we did not have sufficient funds available to us to continue funding share repurchases.
Accordingly, our board of directors suspended repurchases under the program effective December 31, 2010. In January 2011, repurchases due to the death of a
shareholder that were requested in 2010 prior to the suspension of the stock repurchase program were funded. We can make no assurance as to when and on what
terms redemptions will resume. Our board has the authority to resume, suspend again, or terminate the share redemption program at any time upon 30 days
written notice to our stockholders.
We have received requests to redeem 38,296 shares during the year ended December 31, 2012. However, due to the current suspension of the stock repurchase
program we did not redeem any of these requests for 2012.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, we redeemed shares pursuant to our stock repurchase program as follows:

Total
Number of Shares
Redeemed
46,096
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
46,096

Period
January(1)
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

(1)

Average Price
Paid per Share
$
7.99
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares
Available That
May Yet Be
Redeemed Under the
Program
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—

In January 2011, share redemptions due to the death of a shareholder that were requested in 2010, prior to the suspension of the stock repurchase program,
were made under the program.

We received requests to redeem 78,124 shares during the year ended December 31, 2011. However, due to the current suspension of the stock repurchase
program we were not able to fulfill any of these requests
Employee and Director Incentive Stock Plan
We have adopted an Employee and Director Incentive Stock Plan (the “Plan”) which provides for the grant of awards to directors, full-time employees, and other
eligible participants that provide services to us. We have no employees, and we do not intend to grant awards under the Plan to persons who are not directors.
Awards granted under the Plan may consist of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted stock, share appreciation rights, and distribution
equivalent rights. The term of the Plan is ten years. The total number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Plan is equal to 10% of our
outstanding shares of stock at any time.
Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards to employees and directors based on estimated fair values. As of December 31, 2012, we had granted
to our independent, non-employee directors nonqualified stock options to purchase an aggregate of 80,000 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $8.00
per share. Of these shares, 15,000, 20,000, and 5,000 shares lapsed and were canceled on November 8, 2008, April 5, 2012, and July 2, 2012, respectively, due to
the resignations of three of our directors.
Outstanding stock options became immediately exercisable in full on the grant date, will expire ten years after their grant date, and had no intrinsic value as of
December 31, 2012. We did not incur any non-cash compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010. No stock options were
exercised or canceled during the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. We record compensation expense for non-employee stock options
based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. These assumptions include the risk-free
interest rate, the expected life of the options and the expected stock price volatility over the expected life of the options, and the expected distribution yield.
Compensation expense for employee stock options is recognized ratably over the vesting term.
The expected life of the options was based on evaluations of expected future exercise behavior. The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve at the date of grant with maturity dates approximating the expected term of the options at the date of grant. Volatility was based on historical volatility of
the stock prices for a sample of publicly traded companies with risk profiles similar to ours. The valuation model applied in this calculation utilizes highly
subjective assumptions that could potentially change over time, including the expected stock price volatility and the expected life of an option. Therefore, the
estimated fair value of an option does not necessarily represent the value that will ultimately be realized by an independent, non-employee director.
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Our equity compensation plan information as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total
(1)

Number of
Securities to be
Issued Upon
Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Exercise of
Number of Securities
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Remaining Available
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights for Future Issuance
40,000 $

8.00

See footnote(1)

—
40,000 $

—
8.00

—
See footnote(1)

Our Employee and Director Incentive Stock Plan was approved by our security holders and provides that the total number of shares issuable under the plan
is a number of shares equal to ten percent (10%) of our outstanding common stock. The maximum number of shares that may be granted under the plan
with respect to “incentive stock options” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code is 5,000,000. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
there were approximately 23.0 million and 23.0 million shares of our common stock issued and
outstanding, respectively.

Tax Treatment of Distributions
The income tax treatment for the distributions per share to common stockholders reportable for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 is as follows:
Per Common Share
Ordinary income
Return of capital

$
$

2012
—
0.00

—% $
00.0% $

2011
—
0.04

—% $
100.0% $

2010
—
0.45

—%
100.0%

13. Related Party Transactions
Our company has no employees. Our Advisor is primarily responsible for managing our business affairs and carrying out the directives of our board of directors.
We have an Advisory Agreement with the Advisor and a dealer manager agreement with PCC which entitle the Advisor and PCC to specified fees upon the
provision of certain services with regard to the Offering and investment of funds in real estate projects, among other services, as well as reimbursement for
organizational and offering costs incurred by the Advisor and PCC on our behalf and reimbursement of certain costs and expenses incurred by the Advisor in
providing services to us.
Advisory Agreement
Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor will use commercially reasonable efforts to present to us investment opportunities to provide a
continuing and suitable investment program consistent with the investment policies and objectives adopted by our board of directors. The Advisory Agreement
calls for the Advisor to provide for our day-to-day management and to retain property managers and leasing agents, subject to the authority of our board of
directors, and to perform
other duties.
The fees and expense reimbursements payable to the Advisor under the Advisory Agreement are described below. As discussed below, we amended the Advisory
Agreement on July 31, 2012.
Organizational and Offering Costs - Organizational and offering costs of our Offerings have been paid by the Advisor on our behalf and have been reimbursed to
the Advisor from the proceeds of our Offerings. Organizational and offering costs consist of all expenses (other than sales commissions and the dealer manager
fee) to be paid by us in connection with our Offerings, including our legal, accounting, printing, mailing and filing fees, charges of our escrow holder and other
accountable offering expenses, including, but not limited to, (i) amounts to reimburse the Advisor for all marketing-related costs and expenses such as salaries
and direct expenses of employees of the Advisor and its affiliates in connection with registering and marketing our shares; (ii) technology costs associated with
the offering of our shares; (iii) the costs of conducting our training and education meetings; (iv) the costs of attending retail seminars conducted by participating
broker-dealers; and (v) payment or reimbursement of bona fide due diligence expenses. In no event will we have any obligation to reimburse the Advisor for
organizational and offering costs totaling in excess of 3.5% of the gross proceeds from our Primary Offering and Follow-On Offering. At times during our
offering stage, before the maximum amount of gross proceeds has been raised, the amount of organization and offering expenses that we incur, or that our
Advisor and its affiliates incur on our behalf, may exceed 3.5% of the gross offering proceeds then raised.
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As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Advisor and its affiliates had incurred on our behalf organizational and offering costs totaling $5.6 million,
including $0.1 million of organizational costs that were expensed and $5.5 million of offering costs which reduced net proceeds of our Offerings. Of this amount,
$4.4 million reduced the net proceeds of our Primary Offering and $1.1 million reduced the net proceeds of our Follow-On Offering.
On June 10, 2012, our Follow-on Offering was terminated. Our Advisory Agreement provides for reimbursement to the Advisor for organizational and offering
costs in excess of 3.5% of the gross proceeds from our Primary Offering and Follow-On Offering. Under the Advisory Agreement, within 60 days after the end of
the month in which our Follow-on Offering terminated, the Advisor is obligated to reimburse us to the extent that the organization and offering expenses related
to our Follow-on Offering borne by us exceeded 3.5% of the gross proceeds of the Follow-on Offering. As of June 10, 2012, we had reimbursed our Advisor a
total of $1.1 million in organizational and offering costs related to our Follow-on Offering, of which $1.0 million was in excess of the contractual limit.
Consequently, in the second quarter of 2012, we recorded a receivable from the Advisor for $1.0 million reflecting the excess reimbursement. However, as a
result of our evaluation of various factors related to collectability of this receivable, we reserved the full amount of the receivable as of June 30, 2012. On
December 31, 2012, we reduced our reserve by $0.1 million as it became probable that we would collect this amount in early 2013. No assurances can be made
when additional payments, if any, will occur.
Acquisition Fees and Expenses - The Advisory Agreement requires us to pay to the Advisor acquisition fees in an amount equal to 2.0% of the gross proceeds
from our Offerings. We have paid the acquisition fees upon receipt of the gross proceeds from our Primary Offering and Follow-On Offering (excluding gross
proceeds related to sales pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan). However, if the Advisory Agreement is terminated or not renewed, the Advisor must
return acquisition fees not yet allocated to one of our investments. In addition, we are required to reimburse the Advisor for direct costs the Advisor incurs and
amounts the Advisor pays to third parties in connection with the selection and acquisition of a property, whether or not ultimately acquired. In the third quarter of
2012, we amended our Advisory Agreement to change the acquisition fee payable to the Advisor from an amount equal to 2.0% of the gross proceeds raised from
our Offerings to an amount not to exceed 2.0% of the purchase price of an acquired property. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Advisor
earned $0.6 million and $0 of acquisition fees. These fees are included in real estate acquisition costs on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Management Fees and Expenses - Prior to October 1, 2011, the Advisory Agreement required us to pay the Advisor a monthly asset management fee of onetwelfth of 1.0% of the Average Invested Assets (as defined in the Advisory Agreement). For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Advisor
earned $0.8 million, $1.3 million, and $1.5 million, respectively, of asset management fees which were expensed and included in asset management fees and
expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. On August 31, 2011, we amended the Advisory Agreement to provide that, beginning on October 1, 2011,
the asset management fee payable by us to our Advisor shall be reduced to a monthly rate of one-twelfth of 0.75% of our Average Invested Assets, as defined
above.
In addition, we reimburse the Advisor for the direct and indirect costs and expenses incurred by the Advisor in providing asset management services to us,
including personnel and related employment costs related to providing asset management services on our behalf. These fees and expenses are in addition to
management fees that we pay to third party property managers. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Advisor reimbursed $0.2 million,
$0.2 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, of such direct and indirect costs and expenses on our behalf, which are included in asset management fees and
expenses in our consolidated statements of operations.
Operating Expenses - The Advisory Agreement provides for reimbursement of the Advisor’s direct and indirect costs of providing administrative and
management services to us. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, $1.3 million, $0.7 million, and $0.9 million of such costs, respectively, were
reimbursed and are included in general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations.
Pursuant to provisions contained in our charter and in our Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement with our Advisor, our board of directors has the ongoing
responsibility of limiting our total operating expenses for the trailing four consecutive quarters to amounts that do not exceed the greater of 2% of our average
invested assets or 25% of our net income, calculated in the manner set forth in our charter, unless a majority of the directors (including a majority of the
independent directors) has made a finding that, based on unusual and non-recurring factors that they deem sufficient, a higher level of expenses is justified (the
“2%/25% Test”). In the event that a majority of the directors (including a majority of the independent directors) does not determine that such excess expenses are
justified, our Advisor must reimburse to us the amount of the excess expenses paid or incurred (the “Excess Amount”).
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As disclosed at each of the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2011, June 30, 2011, September 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, March 31, 2012, June 30, 2012 and
September 30, 2012, our board of directors conditioned its findings that the Excess Amounts for each quarter was justified upon the Advisor agreeing to carry
over such Excess Amounts and include them in total operating expenses of the subsequent periods for purposes of the 2%/25% Test. However, on September 30,
2012, the board of directors including the independent directors unanimously resolved to permanently waive the Advisor’s reimbursement obligation with respect
to amounts due for excess operating expenses resulting from the six-fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2011, which amount totals $3.2 million. The decision to
waive the Advisor’s reimbursement obligation was based on such expenses were justified as unusual and non-recurring, including those due to unforeseeable
conditions, namely the small asset base resulting from the November 2010 suspension and June 2012 termination of the follow-on offering. This negatively
affected the Company’s growth and extended the Company’s start-up phase. Additionally, the extended national recession adversely impacted the industrial and
residential real estate markets resulting in lower rental rates, occupancy rates and operating results in 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012. In 2011, four of our industrial
properties were sold primarily to pay down and/or restructure terms on current maturities of debt. These dispositions further negatively impacted the Company’s
operating results and reduced the average invested assets measure, which is used in the 2%/25% test.
For the four-fiscal-quarter period ended December 31, 2012, our total operating expenses again exceeded the greater of 2% of our average invested assets and
25% of our net income. We incurred operating expenses of approximately $4.5 million and incurred an Excess Amount of approximately $2.5 million during the
four-fiscal-quarters ended December 31, 2012. Our board of directors, including a majority of our independent directors, has determined that this Excess Amount
is justified because of unusual and non-recurring factors such as our small size (for a public reporting company) and the costs of repositioning of our real estate
investments. Notwithstanding such justification and as a condition to such justification, the Advisor has again agreed that the Excess Amount the four-fiscalquarter period ended December 31, 2012 shall be carried over and included in total operating expenses in subsequent periods for purposes of the 2%/25% Test,
with any waiver dependent on our Advisor’s continued satisfactory progress with respect to executing the strategic repositioning alternative chosen by the
independent directors.
As for the Excess Amount deferred at September 30, 2012, our board of directors conditioned such Excess Amounts were justified upon the Advisor agreeing to
carry over such Excess Amounts and include them in total operating expenses in subsequent periods for purposes of the 2%/25% Test. Consequently we incurred
cumulative operating expenses of approximately $5.6 million and incurred an Excess Amount of approximately $3.5 million for the five-fiscal-quarters ended
December 31, 2012. The board of directors including the independent directors has unanimously resolved to permanently waive the Advisor’s reimbursement
obligation with respect to amounts due for excess resulting from the fifth quarter ended December 31, 2011, which amount totals $1.1 million.
The Advisor has informed us that based on current conditions and the Company’s forecast, it believes that the Company’s projected operating expenses are likely
to exceed the 2%/25% test while the Company and Advisor pursue the repositioning strategy and growth in assets under management. Accordingly, the board of
directors has determined and the Advisor has concurred that any Excess Amounts in future quarters shall be carried over and included in the total operating
expense for such subsequent periods, with any future waiver or adjustments dependent upon the Advisor’s continued satisfactory progress with respect to
accelerating growth and executing the strategic repositioning and cost containment initiatives. The board of directors will continue to monitor the appropriateness
of the expenses and the Advisor’s fees and consider options to reduce the Company’s expense structure.
Property Management and Leasing Fees and Expenses. The Advisory Agreement provides that if we retain our Advisor or an affiliate to manage and lease some
of our properties, we will pay a market-based property management fee or property leasing fee, which may include reimbursement of our Advisor’s or affiliate’s
personnel costs and other costs of managing the properties. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Advisor earned approximately $40,000,
$15,000 and $25,000, respectively, of such property management fees. On July 31, 2012, we executed a Property Management and Leasing Agreement with the
Advisor pursuant to which it will perform property management and leasing services with respect to our healthcare properties. This agreement stipulates that
when the Advisor identifies tenants and negotiates a lease on our behalf for the healthcare properties, we will pay to the Advisor a market based leasing fee. For
the year ended December 31, 2012, the Advisor earned approximately $1.4 million of leasing fees. No leasing fees were earned in 2011 or 2010. These costs are
included in property operating and maintenance expenses in our condensed consolidated statements of operations.
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Disposition Fee - Prior to the second amendment to the Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement executed on November 11, 2011, the Advisory Agreement
provided that if the Advisor or its affiliates provide a substantial amount of the services (as determined by a majority of our directors, including a majority of our
independent directors) in connection with the sale of one or more properties, we will pay the Advisor or such affiliate a disposition fee up to 3% of the sales price
of such property or properties upon closing. This disposition fee may be paid in addition to real estate commissions paid to non-affiliates, provided that the total
real estate commissions (including such disposition fee) paid to all persons by us for each property shall not exceed an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 6% of the
aggregate contract sales price of each property or (ii) the competitive real estate commission for each property. We will pay the disposition fees for a property at
the time the property is sold. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Advisor earned $0, $0.3 million, and $0, respectively, of such
disposition fees. Subsequent to November 11, 2011, the disposition fee was changed from up to 3% of the sales price of properties sold to up to 1% of the sales
price of properties sold if the Advisor or its affiliates provide a substantial amount of the services (as determined by a majority of our directors, including a
majority of our
independent directors).
Subordinated Participation Provisions - The Advisor is entitled to receive a subordinated participation upon the sale of our properties, listing of our common stock
or termination of the Advisor, as follows:
•

After stockholders have received cumulative distributions equal to $8.00 per share (less any returns of capital) plus cumulative, non-compounded annual
returns on net invested capital, the Advisor will be paid a subordinated participation in net sales proceeds ranging from a low of 5% of net sales proceeds
provided investors have earned annualized returns of 6% to a high of 15% of net sales proceeds if investors have earned annualized returns of 10%
or more.

•

Upon termination of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor will receive the subordinated performance fee due upon termination. This fee ranges from a low
of 5% of the amount by which the sum of the appraised value of our assets minus our liabilities on the date the Advisory Agreement is terminated plus total
distributions (other than stock distributions) paid prior to termination of the Advisory Agreement exceeds the amount of invested capital plus annualized
returns of 6%, to a high of 15% of the amount by which the sum of the appraised value of our assets minus our liabilities plus all prior distributions (other
than stock distributions) exceeds the amount of invested capital plus annualized returns of 10% or more.

•

In the event we list our stock for trading, the Advisor will receive a subordinated incentive listing fee instead of a subordinated participation in net sales
proceeds. This fee ranges from a low of 5% of the amount by which the market value of our common stock plus all prior distributions (other than stock
distributions) exceeds the amount of invested capital plus annualized returns of 6%, to a high of 15% of the amount by which the sum of the market value
of our common stock plus all prior distributions (other than stock distributions) exceeds the amount of invested capital plus annualized returns of 10% or
more.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we did not incur any subordinated participation fees.
Dealer Manager Agreement
PCC, as dealer manager, is entitled to receive sales commissions of up to 7% of gross proceeds from sales in our Offerings. PCC is also entitled to receive a
dealer manager fee equal to up to 3% of gross proceeds from sales in the Offerings. The dealer manager is also entitled to receive a reimbursement of bona fide
due diligence expenses up to 0.5% of the gross proceeds from sales in the Offerings. The Advisory Agreement requires the Advisor to reimburse us to the extent
that offering expenses including sales commissions, dealer manager fees and organization and offering expenses (but excluding acquisition fees and acquisition
expenses discussed above) are in excess of 13.5% of gross proceeds from the Offerings when combined with the shares sold under the related distribution
reinvestment plan. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we incurred $0, $0, and $0.1 million, respectively, payable to PCC for dealer
manager fees and sales commissions. Much of this amount was reallocated by PCC to third-party broker dealers. Dealer manager fees and sales commissions paid
to PCC are a cost of capital raised and, as such, are included as a reduction of additional paid in capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
14. Notes Payable
We have total debt obligations of $50.3 million that will mature in February 2014, November 2014 and September 2017. In connection with our notes payable,
we incurred financing costs totaling $1.1 million and $0.9 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. These financing costs have been capitalized
and are being amortized over the life of their respective financing agreements. During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, $0.4 million, $0.8
million, and $0.3 million, respectively, of deferred financing costs were amortized and included in interest expense in our consolidated statements of operations.
HSH Nordbank AG
We amended our credit agreement with HSH Nordbank AG, New York Branch (“HSH Nordbank”) in a series of amendments extending the credit facility
maturity date from September 20, 2010 to December 16, 2011. As a part of these amendments, we made a principal reduction payment and paid extension fees.
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The July 2011 amendment to this credit agreement extended the maturity date from September 30, 2011 to December 16, 2011 and increased the margin spread
over LIBOR from a range of 350 to 375 basis points to a fixed 375 basis points from June 1, 2011 to September 30, 2011 and to 400 basis points from October 1,
2011 to the maturity date. Additionally, this amendment eliminated our requirement to make principal reduction payments of $0.3 million in July, August, and
September 2011, respectively. In connection with this extension and the sale of the Goldenwest property (See Note 14), we made a principal payment of
$7.8 million.
On November 28, 2011, this loan was repaid in its entirety with a portion of the proceeds from the sale of the Mack Deer Valley and Pinnacle Park Business
Center properties. The weighted average interest rate as of December 31, 2010 was 2.11%.
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
On November 13, 2007, we entered into a loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wells Fargo Bank”), successor-by-merger to Wachovia
Bank, N.A., to facilitate the acquisition of properties during our offering period. The terms of the loan agreement provided for a borrowing amount of up to $22.4
million, which was reduced to $15.9 million as of November 30, 2009, at an interest rate of 140 basis points over one-month LIBOR, secured by specified real
estate properties. The loan agreement had a maturity date of November 13, 2010, and provided for prepayment without penalty. Through a series of amendments
executed through June 30, 2011, we extended the maturity date from November 13, 2010 to August 13, 2011.
On August 12, 2011, the loan agreement was amended to extend the maturity to February 13, 2012. In connection with this amendment, the 2111 South Industrial
Park property and Shoemaker Industrial Buildings were added to the loan collateral, and we made a principal payment of $0.5 million. The terms of the amended
loan provide for two one-year extensions, subject to meeting certain loan-to-value and debt service coverage ratios and require monthly principal payments.
Interest on the amended loan increased to 300 basis points over one-month LIBOR with a 150 basis point LIBOR floor.
On December 22, 2011, in connection with the sale of the 2111 South Industrial Park property (see Note 14), we made a principal payment of approximately $0.9
million.
As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we had net borrowings of approximately $6.5 million and $14.4 million under the loan agreement,
respectively. The weighted average interest rate as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was 3.66% and 2.54%, respectively. The loan agreement
contains various reporting covenants, including providing periodic balance sheets, statements of income and expenses of borrower and each guarantor, statements
of income and expenses and changes in financial position of each secured property and cash flow statements of borrower and each guarantor. The monthly
payment on this loan is approximately $50,000. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all financial covenants.
On February 13, 2012, the loan agreement was amended to extend the maturity to February 13, 2014.
The principal payments due on the Wells Fargo Bank mortgage loan as of December 31, 2012 for each of the next five years are as follows:
Principal
Amount

Year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017 & later

$ 999,000
$ 5,500,000
$
—
$
—
$
—

Transamerica Life Insurance Company
In connection with our acquisition of Monroe North Commerce Center, on April 17, 2008, we entered into an assumption and amendment of note, mortgage and
other loan documents (the “Loan Assumption Agreement”) with Transamerica Life Insurance Company (“Transamerica”). Pursuant to the Loan Assumption
Agreement, we assumed the outstanding principal balance of approximately $7.4 million on the Transamerica secured mortgage loan. The loan matures on
November 1, 2014 and bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.89% per annum. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had an outstanding balance of $6.4 million and
$6.7 million, respectively, under this loan agreement. This Loan Assumption Agreement contains various reporting covenants including an annual income
statement, rent roll, operating budget and a narrative summary of leasing prospects for vacant spaces. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all
reporting covenants. The monthly payment on this loan is approximately $50,370. During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, we incurred
$0.4 million, $0.4 million, and $0.4 million of interest expense, respectively, related to this loan agreement.
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The principal payments due on the Monroe North Commerce Center mortgage loan as of December 31, 2012 for each of the next five years are as follows:
Principal
Amount

Year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017 & later

$ 211,000
$ 6,234,000
$
—
$
—
$
—

Seller Loan
On August 1, 2012, upon the acquisition of the Fernhill and Sheridan properties, we entered into a loan agreement with the sellers, Sheridan Care Center LLC,
Sheridan Properties LLC, Fernhill Estates LLC, and Fernhill Properties LLC, for a loan (the “Seller Loan”) in the aggregate amount of approximately $5.8
million secured by security interests in the two properties. The Seller Loan, which bore interest fixed at 5.0%, had a maturity date of on March 15, 2013, at which
time all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts due under the loan agreement would become due. The Seller Loan was interestonly and could be voluntarily prepaid in its entirety prior to the maturity date without penalty. Interest payments on the Seller Loan were due monthly. The
principal balance of the Seller Loan was paid off in full on September 14, 2012 with the proceeds of the GE Healthcare Loan (described below). During the
twelve months ended December 31, 2012, we incurred $23,000 of interest expense related to this Seller Loan.
General Electric Capital Corporation – Healthcare Properties
On September 13, 2012, we entered into a loan agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation (“GE Healthcare Loan”) for a loan in the aggregate amount
of approximately $16.5 million secured by security interests in the Medford Facility and Galveston Facility. Additionally, we used part of the loan proceeds to
repay the entire principal balance of the Seller Loan of $5.8 million. Consequently, the GE Healthcare Loan is secured, in part, by the Portland Properties. On
December 21, 2012, we amended the loan agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation entered into on September 13, 2012 for an additional loan in the
amount of $6.15 million secured by the Pacific property. The loan bears interest at LIBOR, with a floor of 50 basis points, plus a spread of 4.50%, and matures on
September 12, 2017, at which time all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts due under the loan agreement will become due.
The GE Healthcare Loan is interest-only for the first twelve months (known as the “lockout period”) and a combination of principal and interest thereafter. The
loan may be voluntarily prepaid during lockout period provided the borrower pays a penalty equal to the sum of the LIBOR Breakage Amount, as defined in the,
GE Healthcare Loan Agreement and two percent of the outstanding balance of the loan. The GE Healthcare Loan may be prepaid with no penalty after the
expiration of the lockout period. Interest payments on the GE Healthcare Loan are due monthly. After the lockout period, principal and interest payments are due
on monthly based on a 25 year amortization schedule. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all covenants. The monthly payment on this GE
Healthcare Loan is approximately $0.1 million. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, we incurred $361,000 of interest expense related to this
loan agreement. The principal payments due on the loan for each of the five following years ended December 31 are as follows:
F-32

Principal
Amount

Year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017 and thereafter

$
$
$
$
$

122,000
386,000
410,000
432,000
27,100,000

General Electric Capital Corporation – Western Property
On September 7, 2012, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, we entered into a loan agreement (the “Western Loan”) with General Electric Capital Corporation for
a loan in the aggregate amount of approximately $8.9 million, net of certain lender holdbacks, secured by a security interest in the 20100 Western Avenue
property. The Western Loan, which bears interest at LIBOR plus 4.30%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.25%, matures on September 30, 2014, at which time all
outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts due under the loan will become due. The Company has the option to extend the term of
the loan for one additional 12-month period. The Western Loan is interest only through November 1, 2013, at which time it begins amortizing over a 30-year
period. The Western Loan may be voluntarily prepaid in its entirety during the first year of the loan term subject to a prepayment penalty equal to the Spread
Maintenance Amount, as defined in the loan agreement, plus the LIBOR Breakage Amount, as defined in the loan agreement. Subsequent to the first year of the
loan term, the loan may be voluntarily prepaid in its entirety subject to a prepayment penalty equal to the Libor Breakage Amount. We paid certain customary
financing fees from the proceeds of the Western Loan, and an exit fee of $96,200 is payable to the lender upon the earlier of the maturity of the loan or repayment
of the Western Loan in full. In connection with this loan, we entered into an interest swap agreement. The fair value and any change in fair value are considered
immaterial. As of December 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all reporting covenants. The monthly payment on this Western Loan is approximately
$36,000. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, we incurred $134,000 of interest expense related to this loan agreement. On January 23, 2013, we
sold the 20100 Western Avenue property for cash proceeds of $17.6 million and paid off the entire balance of the Western Loan.
15. Commitments and Contingencies
We monitor our properties for the presence of hazardous or toxic substances. While there can be no assurance that a material environmental liability does not
exist, we are not currently aware of any environmental liability with respect to the properties that would have a material effect on our consolidated financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. Further, we are not aware of any environmental liability or any unasserted claim or assessment with respect to an
environmental liability that we believe would require additional disclosure or the recording of a loss contingency.
Our commitments and contingencies include the usual obligations of real estate owners and operators in the normal course of business. In the opinion of
management, these matters are not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We are also
subject to contingent losses related to the notes receivable and note receivable from related party. For further details see Notes 8 and 9. We are not presently
subject to any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, any material litigation threatened against us which if determined unfavorably to us would have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements.
16. Discontinued Operations
Divestitures
In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant & Equipment, we report results of operations from real estate assets that meet the definition of a component of an
entity that have been sold, or meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale, as discontinued operations.
On June 14, 2011, we sold the Goldenwest property to Westminster Redevelopment Agency, a non-related party, for a purchase price of $9.4 million. Goldenwest
is a 102,200 square foot industrial building situated on 5.4 acres of land in Westminster, CA. Approximately $7.8 million in proceeds from the sale were used to
pay down a portion of the HSH Nordbank credit facility. The operations of Goldenwest, including an impairment charge of $2.1 million recorded in the second
quarter of 2011, are presented in discontinued operations on our consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented.
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On November 28, 2011, we sold the Mack Deer Valley and Pinnacle Park Business Center properties to a non-related party for a purchase price of $23.9 million.
The proceeds were used, in part, to pay down the entire balance of the HSH Nordbank credit facility. The operations of these properties, including impairment
charges of $17.0 million in the second quarter of 2011 and $0.8 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2011, are presented in discontinued operations on our
consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented. Total impairment charges in 2011 were $17.8 million.
On December 22, 2011, we sold the 2111 South Industrial Park property for a purchase price of $0.9 million. A loss on sale of $29,000 was recognized in the
fourth quarter of 2011. The proceeds were used to pay down the Wells Fargo loan. The operations of this property, including impairment charges totaling $0.3
million in 2011, are presented in discontinued operations on our consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented.
Real Estate Held for Sale
In the fourth quarter of 2011, our board of directors authorized us to actively market the Sherburne Commons property, a VIE that we began consolidating on
June 30, 2011 (see Note 10). Therefore, the property has been classified as assets of variable interest entity held for sale and liabilities of variable interest entity
held for sale and the results of operations for the variable interest entity held for sale have been presented in discontinued operations on the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented. When the property was reclassified as held for sale, we recorded the property at the lower of its
carrying value or fair value less selling costs in accordance with accounting guidance, resulting in an impairment charge of $4.8 million in 2011.
On December 17, 2012, we became obligated under a purchase and sale agreement to sell our Carter Commerce Center property for a sale price of $1.7 million.
The transaction was completed on January 30, 2013 (See Note 19). As the property met the applicable criteria at December 31, 2012, the property has been
classified as held for sale and the results of operations have been presented in discontinued operations on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
for all periods presented. In 2011, we recorded an impairment charge of $1.5 million related to this property.
On December 31, 2012, we became obligated under a purchase and sale agreement to sell our 20100 Western Avenue property for approximately $17.6 million.
The transaction was completed on January 23, 2013 (See Note 19). As the property met the applicable criteria at December 31, 2012, the property has been
classified as held for sale and the results of operations have been presented in discontinued operations on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
for all periods presented.
The following is a summary of the components of (loss) income from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010:

Rental revenues, tenant reimbursements and other income
Operating expenses, real estate taxes, and interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of real estate
Gain on sales of real estate, net
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

$

$

F-34

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
2010
2,882,000 $
4,746,000 $
5,612,000
(3,350,000)
(3,121,000)
(1,547,000)
(280,000)
(965,000)
(2,037,000)
(2,077,000)
(33,306,000)
(770,000)
—
46,000
—
(2,825,000) $ (32,600,000) $
1,258,000

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we recorded impairment charges of $2.1 million and $33.3 million, respectively, related to real estate held for
sale. These impairment charges, classified in discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations, were recorded for the following properties:
Property
20100 Western Avenue
Carter Commerce Center
Goldenwest
Mack Deer Valley
Pinnacle Park Business Center
2111 South Industrial Park
Nantucket Acquisition LLC

2012

2011
— $ 6,905,000
$ 937,000
1,471,000
—
2,095,000
—
9,673,000
—
8,136,000
—
261,000
1,140,000
4,765,000
$ 2,077,000 $33,306,000

The fair values of the properties impaired in 2011 were derived using an income approach utilizing our internal estimate of market-based leasing projections for
each property and discount and capitalization rates derived from market surveys (see Note 3). Where applicable, adjustments to fair value were made as final
offers were received on properties sold. The fair value of the properties impaired in 2012 were based on offers received for the properties.
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The following table presents balance sheet information for the properties classified as held for sale as of December 31:
2012
Investments in real estate:
Land
Buildings and improvements, net
Intangible lease assets, net
Real estate held for sale, net
Other assets:
Tenant and other receivables, net
Leasing commissions, net
Other assets
Non-real estate assets associated with real estate held for sale
Assets of variable interest entity held for sale:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments in real estate, net
Accounts receivable, inventory and other assets
Total Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interest payable
Tenant security deposits
Intangible lease liabilities, net
Notes payable
Liabilities associated with real estate held for sale
Liabilities of variable interest entity held for sale:
Note payable
Loan payable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Intangible lease liabilities, net
Interest payable
Liabilities of variable interest entity held for sale

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

$

2011

5,104,000
7,194,000
—
12,298,000

$

381,000
291,000
606,000
1,278,000

$

68,000
3,905,000
291,000
4,264,000

$

257,000
—
240,000
—
9,538,000
10,035,000

$

1,332,000
222,000
454,000
145,000
299,000
2,452,000

$

$

$

$

$

$

5,313,000
8,102,000
—
13,415,000
—
24,000
153,000
177,000
95,000
5,045,000
232,000
5,372,000
59,000
7,000
92,000
—
1,750,000
1,908,000
1,332,000
127,000
373,000
145,000
142,000
2,119,000

17. Segment Reporting
ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for reporting financial and descriptive information about an enterprise’s reportable segments. Prior to the
third quarter of 2011, we operated in one reportable segment: industrial. As of September 30, 2011, we operated in two reportable segments: industrial and senior
housing. These operating segments represented the segments for which separate financial information is available and for which operating results are evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our Senior Housing segment consisted solely
of the operations of Sherburne Commons (see Note 10).
In October 2011, we reclassified the Sherburne Commons property as held for sale (see Note 16) and the results of its operations have been reported in
discontinued operations. Therefore, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011, we reported our operations under one reportable segment: industrial. At that
time, our industrial segment consisted of nine multi-tenant industrial properties offering a combination of warehouse and office space adaptable to a broad range
of tenants and uses typically catering to local and regional businesses.
As of December 31, 2012, we operated in two reportable segments: industrial and healthcare. Prior to the third quarter of 2012, we operated only in the industrial
business segment. Our healthcare segment consists of the five senior-housing facilities acquired in the third and fourth quarters of 2012. These properties are
leased to healthcare operating companies under long-term “triple-net” or “absolute-net” leases, which require the tenants to pay all property-related expenses. We
lease our healthcare properties to three different operators, each of which comprise over ten percent of our healthcare segment revenue. Our industrial segment
consists of seven multi-tenant industrial properties offering a combination of warehouse and office space adaptable to a broad range of tenants and uses typically
catering to local and regional businesses. The following table represents our operating results by segment.
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Industrial
Rental revenues
Tenant
reimbursements
and other income

$

Property operating
and maintenance
Net operating
income
$
Interest income
from notes
receivable
General and
administrative
expenses
Asset management
fees and expenses
Real estate
acquisition costs
Depreciation and
amortization
Interest expense
Reserve for advisor
obligation
Impairment of notes
receivable
Impairment of real
estate
Loss from
discontinued
operation
Net loss
Net loss attributable
to noncontrolling
interests
Net loss attributable
to common
stockholders

2,715,000

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2012
Healthcare
Consolidated
$

1,222,000

$

3,937,000

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2011
Healthcare
Consolidated

Industrial
$

2,744,000

$

—

$

2,744,000

Industrial
$

2,684,000

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2010
Healthcare
Consolidated
$

—

$

2,684,000

686,000
3,401,000

65,000
1,287,000

751,000
4,688,000

659,000
3,403,000

—

659,000
3,403,000

613,000
3,297,000

—

613,000
3,297,000

1,111,000

97,000

1,208,000

1,200,000

—

1,200,000

1,256,000

—

1,256,000

1,190,000

3,480,000

—

2,203,000

—

2,041,000

2,290,000

$

$

2,203,000

$

(52,000)

$

$

2,041,000

$

(416,000)

(1,389,000)

3,564,000

2,834,000

2,163,000

971,000

1,489,000

1,654,000

947,000

—

52,000

1,713,000
1,183,000

1,460,000
1,579,000

1,656,000
1,046,000

863,000

—

—

—

1,442,000

—

—

15,268,000

1,250,000

2,825,000
(8,534,000)

32,600,000
(54,053,000)

(1,258,000)
(3,133,000)

1,076,000

1,995,000

(7,458,000)

$

2,000

(52,058,000)

$

(3,131,000)

We evaluate performance of the combined properties in each segment based on net operating income (“NOI”). NOI is a non-GAAP supplemental measure used to
evaluate the operating performance of real estate properties. We define NOI as total rental revenues, tenant reimbursements and other income less property
operating and maintenance expenses. NOI excludes interest income from notes receivable, general and administrative expense, asset management fees and
expenses, real estate acquisition costs, depreciation and amortization, impairments, interest income, interest expense, and income from discontinued operations.
We believe NOI provides investors relevant and useful information because it measures the operating performance of the REIT’s real estate at the property level
on an unleveraged basis. We use NOI to make decisions about resource allocations and to assess and compare property-level performance. We believe that net
income (loss) is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to NOI. NOI should not be viewed as an alternative measure of operating performance to net
income (loss) as defined by GAAP since it does not reflect the aforementioned excluded items. Additionally, NOI as we define it may not be comparable to NOI
as defined by other REITs or companies, as they may use different methodologies for calculating NOI.
The following table reconciles NOI from net loss for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

Net loss
Interest income from notes receivable
General and administrative
Asset management fees and expenses
Real estate acquisition costs
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of notes receivable
Impairment of real estate
Reserve for advisor obligation
Interest income
Interest expense
Loss (income) from discontinued operations
Net operating income

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
2010
(8,534,000) $ (54,053,000) $
(3,133,000)
(52,000)
(416,000)
(1,389,000)
3,564,000
2,834,000
2,163,000
971,000
1,489,000
1,654,000
947,000
—
52,000
1,713,000
1,460,000
1,656,000
—
1,442,000
—
—
15,268,000
1,250,000
863,000
—
—
—
—
(4,000)
1,183,000
1,579,000
1,050,000
2,825,000
32,600,000
(1,258,000)
3,480,000 $
2,203,000 $
2,041,000

The following table reconciles the segment activity to Consolidated Total Assets as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011:
December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

$

$

$

Assets
Investments in real estate, net:
Industrial
Healthcare (Assets held in variable interest entity)
Held for sale - industrial
Total reportable segments
Reconciliation to consolidated assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Notes receivable
Notes receivable from related parties
Non-real estate assets associated with property held for sale
Deferred costs and deposits
Deferred financing costs, net
Receivable from related parties
Tenant and other receivables, net
Restricted cash
Deferred leasing commission
Other assets, net
Assets of variable interest entity held for sale
Total assets
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$

30,665,000
39,800,000
12,298,000
82,763,000

$

999,000
908,000
1,278,000
13,000
690,000
7,000
803,000
325,000
1,529,000
413,000
4,264,000
93,992,000

$

31,731,000
13,415,000
45,146,000

$

17,388,000
908,000
177,000
17,000
91,000
11,000
442,000
230,000
342,000
5,372,000
70,124,000

$

51,720,000
75,190,000
126,910,000

$

2,014,000
4,000,000
8,000,000
591,000
25,000
271,000
1,000
349,000
484,000
(3,648,000)
138,997,000

18. Selected Quarterly Data (unaudited)
Set forth below is certain unaudited quarterly financial information. We believe that all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments,
have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the selected quarterly
information when read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements.

Revenues
Expenses
Operating loss
Interest expense, net
Loss from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Noncontrolling interests’ share in losses
Net loss applicable to common shares
Basic and diluted net loss per common share applicable to common
shares
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted
Distributions declared per common share

Revenues
Expenses
Operating loss
Interest expense, net
Loss from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Noncontrolling interests’ share in losses
Net loss applicable to common shares
Basic and diluted net loss per common share applicable to common
shares
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted
Distributions declared per common share

Quarters Ended
December 31,
September 30,
June 30,
March 31,
2012
2012
2012
2012
$
1,815,000 $
1,194,000 $
849,000 $
882,000
(2,480,000)
(2,458,000)
(2,525,000)
(1,803,000)
(665,000)
(1,264,000)
(1,676,000)
(921,000)
(477,000)
(292,000)
(161,000)
(253,000)
(1,142,000)
(1,556,000)
(1,837,000)
(1,174,000)
(16,000)
(83,000)
(1,508,000)
(1,218,000)
(2,360,000)
(1,572,000)
(1,920,000)
(2,682,000)
290,000
258,000
225,000
303,000
$
(2,070,000) $
(1,314,000) $
(1,695,000) $
(2,379,000)
$
$

(0.09) $
23,028,285
—

$

(0.06) $
23,028,285
—

$

(0.07) $
23,028,285
—

$

(0.10)
23,028,285
—

Quarters Ended
December 31,
September 30,
June 30,
March 31,
2011
2011
2011
2011
$
920,000
$
991,000
$
952,000
$
956,000
(1,415,000)
(2,155,000)(1)
(18,402,000)(2)
(1,721,000)
(495,000)
(1,164,000)
(17,450,000)
(765,000)
(675,000)
(375,000)
(280,000)
(249,000)
(1,170,000)
(1,539,000)
(17,730,000)
(1,014,000)
(5,689,000)(3)
55,000(4)
(27,208,000)(5)
242,000
(6,859,000)
(1,484,000)
(44,938,000)
(772,000)
1,591,000
352,000
52,000
—
$
(5,268,000) $
(1,132,000) $ (44,886,000) $
(772,000)
$
$
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(0.23)
23,028,285
—

$
$

(0.05)
23,028,285
—

$
$

(1.95)
23,028,285
0.02

$
$

(0.03)
23,039,808
0.02

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Included in expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2011 is approximately $0.4 million of real estate impairments.
Included in expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2011 is approximately $14.8 million of real estate impairments and $1.7 million of notes
receivable impairment.
Included in loss from discontinued operations for the three months ended December 31, 2011 is approximately $5.6 million of real estate impairments.
Included in income from discontinued operations for the three months ended September 30, 2011 is approximately $0.2 million of real estate impairments.
Included in loss from discontinued operations for the three months ended June 30, 2011 is approximately $27.5 million of real estate impairment.

19. Subsequent Event
On January 23, 2013, we sold the 20100 Western Avenue property to MMB Management, LLC, a non-related third party, for a sale price of approximately $17.6
million. We used $8.9 million of the proceeds to pay off the GE loan related to the property. The property is located at 20100 Western Avenue, Torrance,
California and is 116,433 square feet industrial building which was acquired in December 2006.
On January 28, 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement for the sale of a portion of our Marathon property for $1.3 million in cash. The transaction is
scheduled to close in May 2013.
On January 30, 2013, we sold our Carter Commerce Center property to Carter Commerce Center, LLC, a non-related third party, for a sale price of approximately
$1.7 million. We used $0.6 million of the proceeds to pay down the Well Fargo loan related to the property. The property, located at 890 Carter Road, Orlando,
Florida, is a 49,125 square feet industrial building acquired in November 2007.
On January 31, 2013, we acquired, through CHP LLC, the Danby House property, an assisted living and memory care facility located in Winston-Salem, North
Carolina for $9.7 million in cash. Danby House is located at 3150 Burke Mill Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, with an operational capacity of 99 beds and
is leased to Danby House, LLC, the current operator of the facility, pursuant to an initial 10 year long-term triple-net lease with a lessee option to renew for two
additional five-year periods. As of the filing of this Annual Report, the Company is working to finalize the purchase accounting treatment related to this
acquisition.
On March 11, 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement for the sale of a portion of one of our Shoemaker Industrial Buildings for $0.5 million in cash.
The transaction is scheduled to close in May 2013.
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CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Description
Year Ended December 31, 2010:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for notes receivable

Balance at
Beginning of
Period
$
$

Year Ended December 31, 2011:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for notes receivable

$
$

Year Ended December 31, 2012:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for notes receivable

$
$

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

491,000
4,626,000
5,117,000

$

411,000
4,626,000
5,037,000

$

232,000
—
232,000

$

$

$

$

10,000
—
10,000

Deductions
$

Balance at
End of
Period

$

(90,000) $
—
(90,000) $

411,000
4,626,000
5,037,000

(15,000) $
1,442,000
1,427,000 $

(164,000) $
(6,068,000)
(6,232,000) $

232,000
—
232,000

(13,000) $
—
(13,000) $

(61,000) $
—
(61,000) $

158,000
—
158,000

CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE III
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
December 31, 2012

Description
Shoemaker Industrial Buildings, Santa Fe
Springs, CA
20100 Western Avenue,
Torrance, CA
Marathon, Tampa Bay, FL
Orlando Small Bay Portfolio, Orlando, FL
Monroe North Commerce Center Sanford,
FL
1830 S. Santa Fe, Santa Ana, CA
Sheridan, OR
Fernhill, OR
Tigard, OR
Medford, OR
Friendswood, Galveston, TX
Totals

(1)
(a)

Encumbrance

$

Initial Cost
Building
Land
& Improv.

Impairment

Land

Gross Amount Invested
Building
and Improv.

Total

Accumulated
Depreciation

Date
of
Construct

Date
Acquired

(1)

952,000

1,521,000

43,000

1,250,000

440,000

648,000

1,088,000

51,000

2001

06/30/06

34 years

—
—
(1)

7,775,000
979,000
6,612,000

11,265,000
3,562,000
30,957,000

261,000
87,000
239,000

6,905,000
2,360,000
12,721,000

4,745,000
446,000
4,053,000

6,209,000
1,559,000
16,966,000

10,954,000
2,005,000
21,019,000

267,000
168,000
1,003,000

2001
1989-1994
2002-2005

12/01/06
04/02/07
11/15/07

39 years
36 years
39 years

1,974,000
825,000
160,000
847,000
1,466,000
954,000
1,095,000
$ 23,639,000

12,675,000
435,000
1,853,000
1,681,000
2,786,000
7,020,000
12,873,000
$ 86,628,000

314,000
33,000
—
—
—
—
—
977,000

4,530,000
425,000
—
—
—
—
—
$ 28,191,000

1,303,000
537,000
160,000
847,000
1,466,000
954,000
1,095,000
$ 16,046,000

7,793,000
288,000
1,853,000
1,681,000
2,786,000
7,020,000
12,873,000
59,676,000

9,096,000
825,000
2,013,000
2,528,000
4,252,000
7,974,000
13,968,000
$ 75,722,000

532,000
36,000
42,000
43,000
7,000
89,000
189,000
2,427,000

2002-2005
2010

04/17/08
08/05/10
08/03/12
08/03/12
12/24/12
09/13/12
09/13/12

39 years
39 years
39 years
39 years
39 years
39 years
39 years

6,445,000
—
—
—
—
—
—
6,445,000

$

$

$

The loan agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association is secured by these properties. As of December 31, 2012, the balance related to this loan
agreement was $6.5 million.
The changes in total real estate for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows.

Balance at December 31, 2009
2010 Acquisitions
2010 Impairment of real estate
2010 Additions
Balance at December 31, 2010
2011 Sale of properties
2011 Impairment of real estate
2011 Additions
Balance at December 31, 2011
2012 Sale of properties
2012 Impairment of real estate
2012 Additions
Balance at December 31, 2012
(b)

Costs
Capitalized
Subsequent
to
Acquisition

Life on
which
Depreciation
in
Latest
Income
Statement
is
Computed

Accumulated
Depreciation
Cost
$133,117,000 $ (6,842,000)
1,260,000
—
(2,383,000)
363,000
220,000
(2,936,000)
$132,214,000 $ (9,415,000)
(33,141,000)
722,000
(53,732,000)
9,923,000
572,000
(2,080,000)
$ 45,913,000 $
(850,000)
(1,057,000)
120,000
30,866,000
(1,697,000)
$ 75,722,000 $ (2,427,000)

For federal income tax purposes, the aggregate cost of our fourteen properties is approximately $119.7 million.

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
CORNERSTONE CORE PROPERTIES REIT, INC.
Date: March 29, 2013

By:

/s/ Kent Eikanas
Kent Eikanas
President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in
the capacities indicated on March 29, 2013.
Name
/s/ Kent Eikanas
Kent Eikanas
/s/ Timothy C. Collins
Timothy C. Collins

Title
President
(Principal Executive Officer)
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Paul Danchik
Paul Danchik

Director

/s/ Daniel L. Johnson
Daniel L. Johnson

Director

EXHIBIT INDEX
Ex.

Description

3.1

Amendment and Restatement of Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed on March 24, 2006).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (No. 333-121238) filed on December 23, 2005 (“Post-Effective Amendment No. 1”)).

4.1

Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the prospectus included on Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-155640) filed on April 16, 2010 (“Post-Effective Amendment No. 2”)).

4.2

Statement regarding restrictions on transferability of shares of common stock (to appear on stock certificate or to be sent upon request and
without charge to stockholders issued shares without certificates) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (No. 333-121238) filed on December 14, 2004).

4.3

Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the prospectus dated April 16, 2010
included on Post-Effective Amendment No. 2).

10.1

Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement, dated September 20, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. 1).

10.2

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement dated as of August 31, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2011).

10.3

Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement dated as of November 11, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2011).

10.4

Agreement of Limited Partnership of Cornerstone Operating Partnership, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Pre-Effective
Amendment No. 4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-121238) filed on August 30, 2005).

10.5

Form of Employee and Director Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 2 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-121238) filed on May 25, 2005).

10.6

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated April 28, 2006, by and between Cornerstone Operating Partnership, L.P. and Mack Deer Valley Phase II,
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 18, 2006).

10.7

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated April 6, 2006, as amended as of May 23, 2006, by and between Cornerstone Operating Partnership, L.P.,
Squamar Limited Partnership and IPM, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Kent Eikanas, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; and
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 29, 2013

/s/ Kent Eikanas
Kent Eikanas
President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Timothy C. Collins, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; and
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 29, 2013

/s/ Timothy C. Collins
Timothy C. Collins
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Kent Eikanas and Timothy C. Collins, do each hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that to the best of his or her knowledge, the Annual Report of Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc. on Form 10-K for the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2011 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such
Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of Cornerstone Core Properties REIT, Inc.
Date: March 29, 2013

Date: March 29, 2013

/s/ Kent Eikanas
Kent Eikanas
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Timothy C. Collins
Timothy C. Collins
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

